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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
T ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-34511

FORTINET, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 77-0560389
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
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1090 Kifer Road
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(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(408) 235-7700
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) ofe Act:

Common Stock, $0.001 Par Value The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
NASDAQ Global Select Market
(Title of each class) (Name of exchange on which registered)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢tie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405cd#turities Act.  YedX]

No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. YesO No




Table of Contents

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastié@s. Yes[X] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lidisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pumsto Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8229.405 of tiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YBS No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilerrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (g&at®229.405 of this chapter) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, toltest of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitpy®xy or information statements incorporated
by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or ampendment to this Form 10-KO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlexge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O

O (Do not check if smaller reporting
Non-accelerated filer company) Smaller reporting company 0O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsiel company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes O No

The aggregate market value of voting stock helddny-affiliates of the registrant, as of June 3@, 20the last business day of the
registrant’'s most recently completed second quantes $2,977,981,761 (based on the closing pricstfares of the registrant's common stock
as reported by The NASDAQ Global Select Marketther last business day prior to that date). Sharesromon stock held by each executive
officers, director, and holder of 5% or more of the#standing common stock have been excluded trstieh persons may be deemed to be
affiliates. This determination of affiliate statissnot necessarily a conclusive determination fbeopurposes.

As of February 17, 2012 , there were 156,363,0@reshof the registrant’'s common stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrargt’definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2012n8ial Meeting of Stockholders are incorporateddigrence int
Part IIl of this Annual Report on Form 10-K whenglicated. Such Proxy Statement will be filed whk tJ.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days after the end of thedigear to which this report relates.
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Part |
ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We provide network security solutions that are glesd to address the fundamental problems of aeasargly bandwidth-intensive
network environment and a more sophisticated in&tion technology (“IT”) threat landscape. Throughr products and subscription services,
we provide broad, integrated and high performamogeption against dynamic security threats whiteifying the IT security infrastructure
for enterprises, service providers and governmemtadies worldwide. Our flagship Unified Threat Megyement ("UTM") solution consists of
our FortiGate physical and virtual appliance prddubat provide a broad array of security and nétimg functions, including firewall, VPN,
application control, antivirus, intrusion prevemjdVeb filtering, vulnerability management, antispavireless controller, and WAN
acceleration. Our FortiGate appliances, from theiGate-40 for small businesses and branch officebe FortiGate-5000 series for large
enterprises and service providers, are based oproprietary technology platform. This platform limdes our FortiASICs, which are
specifically designed for accelerated processingeefirity and networking functions, and our Forti@ferating system, which provides the
foundation for all of our security functions. OusrBGuard security subscription services providd-enstomers with access to dynamic upd
to our application control, antivirus, intrusioregention, Web filtering and antispam functionabgsed on intelligence gathered by our
dedicated FortiGuard Labs team. By combining midtgroprietary security and networking functionshaour purpose-built FortiASIC and
FortiOS, our FortiGate UTM solution delivers brgatection against dynamic security threats welgucing the operational burden and costs
associated with managing multiple point products.

We complement our FortiGate product line with tleetfManager product family, which enables end-costs to manage the system
configuration and security functions of multiplerff@ate devices from a centralized console, as agethe FortiAnalyzer product family, whi
enables collection, analysis and archiving of congand log data generated by our products. Wedadfso other product lines that provide
additional protection, such as: (i) FortiAP, secwireless access points, (ii) FortiWeb, securityWeb-based applications, (iii) FortiMalil,
multi-featured, high performance messaging secujity FortiDB, centrally managed database-speaéicurity, (v) FortiClient, endpoint
security for desktops, laptops and mobile devicebthat is primarily used in conjunction with owrkGate appliances, (vi) FortiScan,
endpoint vulnerability assessment and remediaion,FortiSwitch, Ethernet switches, (viii) FortiBlge, bypass appliances to help ensure
network availability, (ix) FortiAuthenticator, sedlle secure authentication for enterprise netwd@rs;ortiBalancer, optimizing the availabil
and performance of mobile, cloud, and enterprig@iegtions, (xi) FortiCache, reducing the cost nflampact of cached internet content, and
(xii) FortiDNS, providing secure DNS caching.

Additionally, we offer virtual appliances for th@fGate, FortiManager, FortiAnalyzer, FortiWeb rifdail, and FortiScan product
lines. These virtual appliances help secure netwdristructures with the same functionality asttiaglitional physical appliances in their
respective product lines. They can be used in cmtijon with traditional Fortinet appliances (suchRortiGate, FortiManager, and
FortiAnalyzer) to help ensure the visibility, maeagent, and protection of physical and virtual emwinents.

As of December 31, 2011 , we had shipped over 880appliances via more than 10,000 channel partnerore than 125,000 end-
customers worldwide, including a majority of thel2@Fortune Global 100.

We were incorporated in Delaware in November 2@. principal executive office is located at 109ifeK Road, Sunnyvale,
California 94086 and our telephone number at thedtion is (408) 235-7700.

Technology and Architecture

Our proprietary FortiASIC hardware architecturertk®S operating system and associated securitynatwlorking functions combine
to form a platform that integrates security feasuaad enables our products to perform sophisticsgedrity processing for networks with high
throughput requirements.

FortiASIC

Our FortiASIC family of Application-Specific Integted Circuits, or ASICs, is comprised of threesioé processors: FortiASIC
content processor, or CP, the FortiASIC networlcpssor, or NP, and the FortiASIC system-on-a-anifsOC. These custom ASICs are
designed to enhance the sophisticated securityepsitg capabilities implemented in software by kraéing the computation-intensive tasks
such as firewall policy enforcement or IPS anonuiection. This architecture provides the flexipibf implementing accelerated processing
of new threat detection without requiring a new 83¢lease. The FortiASIC
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CP is currently included in most of our entry-lesed all of our mid-range and high-end FortiGatgliapces. The FortiASIC NP is currently
included in some of our mid-range and high-endiEate appliances, delivering further acceleratezfall and VPN performance. The
FortiASIC SOC is currently included in our entry#é FortiGate-20 and -40 product families.

FortiOS

Our FortiOS operating system provides the foundafibo the operation of all FortiGate applianceeyrirthe core kernel functions to
the security processing feature sets. FortiOS desvimultiple layers of security including a hardekernel layer providing protection for the
FortiGate system, a network security layer provgdsecurity for end-customers’ network infrastruesjrand application content protection
providing security for end-customers’ workstati@ma applications. FortiOS directs the operationgro€essors and ASICs as well as
providing system management functions such as cord#itae and graphical user interfaces. We make availapdates to the FortiOS throu
our FortiCare support services. FortiOS also ersasdivanced, integrated routing and switching, atigvend-customers to deploy FortiGate
devices within a wide variety of networks, as vealproviding a direct replacement solution optimniégacy switching and routing equipment.
The FortiOS implements a suite of commonly usedimgyrotocols as well as address translation teldgies, allowing the FortiGate
appliance to integrate and operate in a wide wadgéhetwork environments. Additional features im# Virtual Domain, or VDOM,
capabilities and traffic queuing and shaping, engtddministrators to set the appropriate confijors and policies that meet their
infrastructure needs. FortiOS also provides cajtisilfor logging of traffic for forensic analyspairposes which are particularly important for
regulatory compliance initiatives like PCI DSS. #06’s packet classification, queue disciplinedjgyoenforcement, congestion management,
and other traffic optimization functionality aresigned to help control network traffic in orderdptimize performance.

Our FortiOS incorporates the following eight coeewrity and networking technologies:

. Firewall . Our firewall technology delivers high performamegwork and application firewalling, including thbility to
enforce policies based on application behaviora@mrdent. Our technology identifies traffic patteimdependent of port or
protocol used, and links them to the use of speajfiplications, enabling visibility and control owapplication behavior
(explained in more detail below). By coupling apgtion intelligence with firewall technology, therfiGate platform is able
to deliver real-time security with integrated apption content level inspection, thereby simplifygecurity deployments.

. Virtual Private Network Our advanced VPN technology provides secure camgations between multiple networks and
hosts, through both secure socket layer, or SSiLJRsec VPN technologies, leveraging our custonti&8tC to provide
hardware acceleration for high-performance comnatitins and data privacy.

. Application Control Our application control technology allows our endtomers to define granular network-based
application policies in over 1,800 applicationg\ding additional visibility and control over ajgation access, user
behavior within applications, and application carnte

. Antivirus. Our antivirus technology provides protection agamalware, including viruses, spyware and tra
. Intrusion Prevention Syste. Our IPS technology provides protection againstezt and emerging network level thre
. Web Filtering. Our Web filtering automation technology worksconcert with our research team to collect, anaymd

categorize websites to provide réiate protection through website ratings and catiegtion. Our Web filtering technology
a pro-active defense feature that identifies knéaeations of malware and blocks access to thesiimad sources.

. Antispam. We employ a variety of antispam techniques tectednd block spam. These techniques include &thastrvice
performing algorithmic validations of messages agigknown spam messages, sophisticated reputaivits designed to
evaluate and track valid email sources and degiimstintelligent image scanning to evaluate theditg of images and
dynamic heuristic rules to allow messages to béuated based on content within each message.

. WAN Acceleration Our storage-enabled and storage-ready FortiGgutkaaces provide the ability to accelerate network
traffic across the wide area network by implementircombination of application content caching pratocol optimization
techniques.




Table of Contents

In addition to the eight core security and netwogkiunctions mentioned above, we also incorpordtitianal technologies within
FortiGate appliances that differentiate our UTMusioin, including:

. Data Leakage Prevention (DLFOur DLP technology provides the ability to defimdess based on corporate policies, and
consequently detect and help prevent confidentitd fom being distributed outside of the corporatvork.

. Traffic optimizationOur traffic optimization technology combines qualif service techniques with traffic shaping toyide
better service to selected network traffic basedustomer policies without causing interruptionstioer traffic.

. SSL inspectiorDur SSL inspection technology provides the abtlitylecrypt SSL application content for processipghe
FortiOS. The ability to inspect encrypted SSL cabtnables our customers to ensure protection fnatwvare that would be
otherwise hidden from traditional security prodyetsd enforce the full complement of security aatiwvorking features
available within FortiOS.

. Vulnerability ManagementOur vulnerability management technology enalilesRortiGate platform to perform network
scans to discover systems on a network, identityarabilities and recommend steps for remediafléve FortiGate devices
can store the results of the scans locally, or seadesults from multiple FortiGate devices tceeateal FortiAnalyzer for
aggregation and analysis.

. Wireless Controller Our wireless controller technology provides théity to deploy FortiAP wireless access pointsteate
a secure wireless network. FortiAP access poimselall wireless traffic to FortiGate or FortiWiplatforms, enabling end-
customers to use a single security platform to rgaral wired and wireless network traffic.

Products

Our core product offerings consist of our FortiGATEM product family, along with our FortiManagemteal management and
FortiAnalyzer central logging and reporting prodiashilies, both of which are typically purchasedcctomplement a large FortiGate
deployment.

FortiGate

Our flagship FortiGate physical and virtual appties offer a broad set of security and networkingfions, including firewall, VPN,
application control, antivirus, intrusion prevemtjdVeb filtering, antispam and WAN accelerationl. RdrtiGate models are based on our
proprietary operating system, FortiOS, and subistiyntll FortiGate physical appliances include puoprietary FortiASICs to accelerate
content and network security features implementiinvFortiOS. FortiGate platforms can be centratignaged through both embedded Web-
based and command line interfaces, as well asghréortiManager which provides a central managerasttitecture for thousands of
FortiGate physical and virtual appliances.

By combining multiple network security functionsanr purposesuilt security platform, the FortiGate providesthiguality protectior
capabilities and deployment flexibility while redog the operational burden and costs associatédmaéinaging multiple point products.
Through FortiGuard security subscription serviaes, products enable end-customers to add securitstibnality as required by their evolving
business needs and the changing threat landscgpeirBhasing FortiGuard security subscription sersj end-customers obtain coverage and
access to regular updates for application cordirttivirus, IPS, Web filtering and antispam functdar their FortiGate appliances. With over
30 models in the FortiGate product line, FortiGatdesigned to address security requirements fatlgmymid sized businesses, remote offir
large enterprises, and service providers.

Each FortiGate model runs our FortiOS operatingesysand substantially all FortiGate physical agpties include our FortiASIC C
The significant differences between each modettagerformance and scalability targets each misdidsigned to meet, while the security
features and associated services offered are corttmmunghout all models.

The FortiGate-20 through -100 series models ariggded for perimeter protection for small- to midesl businesses, remote offices of
large distributed organizations and as customenises equipment for service providers. Optionakless LAN, or WLAN, integration is
available for the FortiGate-20, -40, -60 and -8Qdels, marketed as FortiWiFi, delivering additionatwork access and security for wireless
environments.
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The FortiGate-200 through -800 series models asgded for perimeter deployment in mid-sized tgéaenterprise networks. These
products offer increased capacity and scalabiksighed to provide high network performance whééwering the same broad security suitt
all FortiGate models. Additionally, the FortiGatéBand -620 models provide hardware modularitpvehg end-customers the flexibility to
customize solutions to their requirements.

The FortiGate-1000 through -5000 series modelseeligh performance and scalable network sectuitgtionality for perimeter,
data center and core deployment in large enterprideservice provider networks. Additionally, moéthese products provide hardware
modularity, allowing end-customers the flexibility customize solutions to their requirements. Spnoglucts within the FortiGate-3000 and -
5000 series leverage Advanced Mezzanine Card, o€ ARtustry standards for hardware modularizat@support the advanced networking
requirements of large enterprises and service geosj including high-speed networking, WAN connétitj and network attached storage
connectivity. The FortiGat8950B platform also leverages our proprietary RettMezzanine Card, or FMC, that provides hardwaodularity
to give endeustomers the ability to add additional firewalb#or intrusion prevention performance, or increligenumber of interfaces, as tt
network security needs evolve. The FortiGate-5@3s is also compatible with the Advanced Telecomications Computing Architecture,
or ATCA, standard, resulting in a flexible hardwatatform for system modularity. This modularizatigives end-customers the ability to
deploy an initial FortiGate configuration with rodmgrow as their network security needs evolvee ifitlusion of network load balancing and
advanced switching functionality provides additibfkexibility in how end-customers utilize the FortiGate modules within FoetiGate chassi
In addition, our FortiGate-5000 series ATCA bladaa be utilized in other third-party vendors’ inttystandard ATCA chassis, allowing
FortiGate platforms to be deployed into a much widage of network solutions. Our FortiGate-5000eseappliances offer modular, chassis-
based architecture based on the ATCA and AMC imgussandards. We brand a subset of our FortiGa@® 3did -5000 series products as
FortiCarrier to reflect products specifically tatigg a subset of service providers. These prodagisincremental security, networking and
management functionality often utilized in serviwevider deployments.

FortiGate System Virtualization (VDOM)

In addition to providing network and content legeturity, our FortiOS operating system also offssgem virtualization
capabilities—the ability to “divide& security appliance into multiple, separately mioned and managed instances. This capabilityriseatly
deployed in substantially all of our FortiGate pwots as our virtual domain, or VDOM, feature, whadeninistrators have the ability to
segment a single FortiGate appliance platform intdtiple FortiGate instances. Network security sgstvirtualization, using our VDOM
feature, provides isolation between each virtuatesy, giving administrators flexibility in configation and traffic management capabilities for
each virtual instance.

Fortinet Management and Analysis Products
Our FortiManager and FortiAnalyzer physical anduat products are typically sold in conjunctiontwi large FortiGate deployment.
FortiManager

Our FortiManager family of products provides a cahianagement solution for our FortiGate produoduding the wide variety of
network and security features offered within FoBi@ne FortiManager product is capable of effeftimeanaging thousands of FortiGate
units, and also provides central management fai@l@nt software. FortiManager facilitates the odioation of policy-based provisioning,
device configuration and operating system revisimmagement, as well as network security monitaaimg) device control.

FortiAnalyzer

Our FortiAnalyzer family provides network loggiranalyzing, and reporting products that securelyeggte content and log data
from our FortiGate devices and other Fortinet potsglas well as third-party devices to enable nétagging, analysis and reporting.
Additional functions such as vulnerability assessts@nd traffic analysis provide additional valoe dustomers seeking to control and monitor
their network infrastructure and security policiagfull range of content and log data, includingftic, event, virus, attack, Web content, and
email data may be archived, filtered and minectfampliance or historical analysis purposes. OutiRnalyzer product family comes with a
suite of standard reports as well as the abilityustomize reports.

We also offer other physical and virtual applianaed software that protect our end-customers freoaisty threats to other critical
areas in the enterprise, such as messaging, Weld-bagplications and databases, and employees’ demspar mobile devices as discussed
above in the business overview.
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Services
FortiGuard Security Subscription Services

Security requirements are dynamic due to the catigtehanging nature of threats. Our FortiGuard4 global threat research team,
comprised of over 125 professionals, uses autonmatembsses to identify emerging threats, colldutsat samples, and replicates, reviews and
characterizes attacks. Based on this researchewadap updates for virus signatures, attack dédimst, scanning engines, and other security
solution components to distribute to end-custortta@ugh our FortiGuard global distribution netwo@ur FortiGuard security subscription
services are designed to allow us to quickly delhew threat detection capabilities to end-custemeridwide as new threats evolve. End-
customers purchase FortiGuard security subscriggowvices in advance, typically for a one-year tdomobtain coverage and access to regular
updates for application control, antivirus, intarsprevention, Web filtering, and antispam funcsidor our FortiGate products; antivirus, Web
filtering and antispam functions for our FortiCliesoftware; antivirus and antispam functions for BartiMail products; vulnerability
management for our FortiGate, FortiAnalyzer andiBoan products, database functions for our FortépBliance, and web functions for our
Fortiweb appliances. We provide FortiGuard servisggfiours a day, seven days a week.

FortiCare Technical Support Services

Our FortiCare services are our technical suppovices for the software, firmware and hardwareun products. In addition to our
standard support service offering, we offer a ptamservice that offers faster response times aditated support oriented towards major
accounts.

For our standard technical support offering for products, channel partners often provide firselesupport to the end-customer,
especially for small and mid-sized end-customenrd, e typically provide second and third level sappo our end-customers. We also
provide knowledge management tools and customg&helg portals to help augment our support capidslin an efficient and scalable
manner. We provide technical support to partnedseant-customers 24 hours a day, seven days a Werlgh regional technical support
managers located worldwide.

Training Services

We offer training services to our end-customersarahnel partners through our training departmedtauthorized training partners.
We have also implemented a training certificatiomgpam to ensure an understanding of our produrdssarvices. As of December 31,
2011 , more than 20,000 individuals have partigigah our training programs.

Professional Services

We offer professional services to end-customersgnily for large implementations where expert técahresources are required. Our
professional services consultants help in the desigleployments of our products and work closellyhvendcustomer engineers, managers
other project team members to implement our pradactording to design, utilizing network analysigl$, attack simulation software and
scripts.

Customers

We sell our security solutions through channelmpar to end-customers of various sizes—from smalinesses to large enterprises
and service providers—and across a variety of imhssincluding telecommunications, governmentaficial services, retail, education,
technology, healthcare and manufacturing. An ergtecner deployment may involve one of our appliarme$ousands, depending on our end-
customers’ size and security requirements. As afebeer 31, 2011 , we had shipped over 850,000apys via more than 10,000 channel
partners to more than 125,000 end-customers wadkglvimcluding a majority of the 2011 Fortune Glob@0. For additional information
regarding our sales by customer location, see Mot® our Consolidated Financial Statements in Pdiem 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

During fiscal 2009, one channel partner, Alterrafiechnology, Inc., a subsidiary of Arrow Electsjilnc., accounted for
approximately 12% of total revenue. During fisc@ll@ and 2011, no single customer accounted for tiaire 10% of total revenue.
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Sales and Marketing

We primarily sell our products and services dinetil distributors that sell to resellers and sex\pcoviders, that, in turn, sell to our
end-customers. In certain cases, we sell direotyovernment focused resellers, very large sepiogiders and major systems integrator
partners who have large purchasing power and urigsi®mer deployment demands. As of December 31, 20ur distribution channel
program had more than 10,000 channel partners wintéd We work with many of the worlg'leading technology distributors, including Arr
Electronics, Inc., Ingram Micro Inc. and Tech D@@rporation.

We support our channel partners with a team of egpeed channel account managers, sales profetsamd sales engineers who
provide business planning, joint marketing strafemd pre-sales and operational sales supporttidddily, our sales team often helps drive
and support large enterprise and service proviglesgshrough a direct touch model. Our sales psafaals and engineers typically work
alongside our channel partners and directly engatheend-customers to address their unique secaritydeployment requirements. Our sales
cycle for an initial end-customer purchase typicedinges from three to six months but can be loegpecially for large enterprises, service
providers and government customers. To supporbmadly dispersed global channel and end-customass,lwe have sales offices in over 30
countries around the world.

Our marketing strategy is focused on building a@nld and driving end-customer demand for our sgcsalutions. We execute this
strategy by leveraging a combination of internaftketing professionals and a network of regional glatbal channel partners. Our internal
marketing organization is responsible for brandprgduct marketing, channel marketing and salepatiprograms. We focus our resources
on programs, tools and activities that can be Eyed by partners worldwide to extend our market#agh, such as sales tools and collateral,
product awards and technical certifications, tragniregional seminars and conferences, webinaryamals other demand-generation
activities.

Manufacturing and Suppliers

We outsource the manufacturing of our security iappk products to a variety of contract manufactuaad original design
manufacturers. Our current manufacturing partnaskide Flextronics International Ltd., Micro Statdrnational, Ltd., Creation Technologies,
Inc. and a number of Taiwan-based manufacturerss¥idenit purchase orders to our contract manufactuhat describe the type and
guantities of our products to be manufactureddélevery date and other delivery terms. Once oodpcts are manufactured, they are sent to
either our headquarters in Sunnyvale, Californiadpamur logistics partner in Taoyuan City, Taiwarhere accessory packaging and quality-
control testing are performed. We believe that@utsing our manufacturing and a substantial portibaur logistics enables us to conserve
capital, better adjust manufacturing volumes totohanges in demand and more quickly deliver prtgjwehile allowing us to focus resourc
on our core competencies. Our proprietary FortiASMhich are the key to the performance of ouriappes, is fabricated by contract
manufacturers in foundries operated by UMC and TSM&aday (using UMC'’s foundry), K-Micro (using T&¥ foundry) and Renesas
(using UMC's foundry) manufacture our ASICs on &cpase order basis. Accordingly, they are not albéid to continue to fulfill our supply
requirements, and the prices we are charged fdiatirecation of our ASICs could be increased onrshotice.

The components included in our products are sourosd various suppliers by us or more frequentlyoly contract manufacturers.
Some of the components important to our businaskjding specific types of central processing ufiiten Intel, AMD, RMI/NetLogic and
VIA and network chips from Broadcom, Marvell anddi and hard drives from Western Digital Technadsgare available from a limited or
sole source of supply.

We have no long-term contracts related to the neaotufing of our ASICs or other components that gngee any capacity or pricing
terms.

For information regarding the geographical disbomset of our longived assets, see Note 15 to our Consolidated EiabStatement
in Part I, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form-KO

Research and Developme

We focus our research and development efforts waldping new products and systems, and adding eetuffes to existing products
and systems. Our development strategy is to idefa#tures, products and systems for both soft@acehardware that are, or are expected to
be, needed by our end-customers. Our successigndegs developing, manufacturing and selling nevehanced products will depend on a
variety of factors, including the identification wfarket demand for new products, product selectiorgly implementation of product design
and development, product performance, effectiveufeanturing and assembly processes and sales athe tingr

As of December 31, 2011, our research and devedaporganization had headcount of 497 people predtly in
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Canada, the United States and China. Our reseattHevelopment expense was $63.6 million in fig€dl1, $49.8 million in fiscal 2010 and
$42.2 million in fiscal 2009.

Intellectual Property

We rely primarily on patent, trademark, copyrightldrade secrets laws, confidentiality proceduresantractual provisions to
protect our technology. As of December 31, 201% had 76 issued U.S. patents, 12 issued Chinesetpal issued Japanese patent, 96 paten
applications pending for examination in the Uniftdtes and 20 patent applications pending for exation in China. We also license softw
from third parties for inclusion in our productsciuding open source software and other softwaadlable on commercially reasonable terms.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgglunauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspgatur products or obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary. We gelteenter into confidentiality agreements with employees, consultants, vendors and
customers, and generally limit access to and Higion of our proprietary information. However, w@nnot assure you that the steps taken by
us will prevent misappropriation of our technologiyaddition, the laws of some foreign countriesndd protect our proprietary rights to as
great an extent as the laws of the United Statesreany foreign countries do not enforce these swdiligently as government agencies and
private parties in the United States.

Our industry is characterized by the existence lafge number of patents and frequent claims aladegt litigation regarding patent
and other intellectual property rights. In partanylleading companies in the networking industryehextensive patent portfolios. From time-to-
time, third parties, including certain of thesedieg companies, have asserted and may assert padpgtight, trademark and other intellectual
property rights against us, our channel partnemuoend-customers. Successful claims of infringarbg a third party could prevent us from
distributing certain products or performing certa@rvices or require us to pay substantial damggelsiding treble damages if we are found to
have willfully infringed patents or copyrights) yaties or other fees. Even if third parties mafgpt license to their technology, the terms of
any offered license may not be acceptable andathed to obtain a license or the costs associatddany license could cause our business,
operating results or financial condition to be miatly and adversely affected. We typically indefgrour end-customers, distributors and
certain resellers against claims that our prodimétsge the intellectual property of third parties

Competition

The markets for our products are extremely comipetdnd are characterized by rapid technologicahgle. The principal competitive
factors in our markets include the following:

. product performance, features, effectiveneserapterability and reliability;
. technological expertise;

. price of products and services and total costaiership;

. brand recognition;

. customer service and support;

. sales and distribution capabilities;

. compliance with industry standards and certifaas;

. size and financial stability of operations; and

. breadth of product line.

Our competitors include networking companies sigeiaco Systems, Inc., Juniper Networks, Inc.,sealrity vendors such as
Check Point Software Technologies Ltd., McAfee lfacquired by Intel Corporation), and SonicWALL¢lfacquired by Thoma Bravo), Palo
Alto Networks, and other point solution securitynders.

We believe we compete favorably based on our pistiperformance, reliability and breadth, our apito add and integrate new
networking and security features and our technokdg@xpertise. Several competitors are signifigalatiger, have greater financial, technical,
marketing, distribution, customer support and otlespurces, are more established than we are, and
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have significantly better brand recognition. Sorhthese larger competitors have substantially beoadoduct offerings and leverage their
relationships based on other products or incorpdtatctionality into existing products in a mantigat discourages users from purchasing our
products. Based in part on these competitive presswe may lower prices or attempt to add increaideatures and functionality.

Conditions in our markets could change rapidly sigaificantly as a result of technological advaneais or continuing market
consolidation. The development and market acceptahalternative technologies could decrease theade for our products or render them
obsolete. Our competitors may introduce producstdhe less costly, provide superior performancacbieve greater market acceptance than
our products. In addition, our larger competitoitem have broader product lines and market foagsiraa better position to withstand any
significant reduction in capital spending by endtomers in these markets, and will therefore nadsusceptible to downturns in a particular
market. The above competitive pressures are lifcetontinue to impact our business. We may nottbe @ compete successfully in the futt
and competition may harm our business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011 , our total headcount wa83lpeople including payrolled contractors. We #8d in research and
development, 593 in sales and marketing, 352 wices and support, 29 in manufacturing operatiand, 112 in a general and administrative
capacity. As of December 31, 2011 , our headcowast 387 people in the United States, 555 in Car&flay France, 192 in China and 360 in
other countries.

None of our U.S. employees are represented byaa lakion with respect to his or her employment wigh however, our employees
France, Spain and Italy are represented by collett@rgaining agreements. We have not experientgdvark stoppages, and we consider our
relations with our employees to be good.

Available Information

Our web site is located at www.fortinet.com, and iovestor relations web site is located at htipzéstor.fortinet.com. The
information posted on our website is not incorpedanto this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our AnnRalport on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8#Kamendments to reports filed or furnished purstaBections 13(a) and 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, a@iaale free of charge on our investor relationd wige as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file such material with,farnish it to, the SEC. You may also access atiwfpublic filings through the SEC’s website
at www.sec.gov. Further, a copy of this Annual Répa Form 10-K is located at the SEC’s Public Refiee Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operatibthe Public Reference Room can be obtainedabing the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain eventsantecipate in or host with members of the invessttocommunity on our investor
relations web site. Additionally, we provide natdtions of news or announcements regarding ounéiahperformance, including SEC filings,
investor events, press and earnings releasesrtasf pair investor relations web site. The contearftthese web sites are not intended to be
incorporated by reference into this report or iy ather report or document we file.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. You should carefully consider the follogwisks and all other
information contained in this 10-K, including owrtsolidated financial statements and the relate@sdbefore investing in our common stock.
The risks and uncertainties described below aretim@only ones we face. Additional risks and uradeties that we are unaware of, or that we
currently believe are not material, also may becamgortant factors that affect us. If any of thédwing risks materialize, our business,
financial condition and results of operations cobkl materially harmed. In that case, the tradingerof our common stock could decline, i
you may lose some or all of your investm
Risks Related to Our Business

Our quarterly operating results are likely to vasignificantly and be unpredictable.

Our operating results have historically varied frpamiod to period, and we expect that they willttaure to do so as a result of a
number of factors, many of which are outside of @mtrol and may be difficult to predict, including

. the level of demand for our products and serv
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the timing of channel partner and etwstomer order

the timing of shipments, which may depend on yrfaitors such as inventory levels and logistics, ability to ship new
products on schedule and accurately forecast iowenéquirements, and potential delays in the maetufing process;

inventory imbalances, such as those related topreducts and the end of life of existing prodt

the mix of products sold, the mix of revenuen®stn products and services and the degree to whictucts and services are
bundled and sold together for a package price;

the budgeting cycles and purchasing practicesiothannel partners and eaastomers
seasonal buying patterns of our endtomers

the timing of revenue recognition for our sal@hjch may be affected by both the mix of sale®by “sell-in” versus our
“sell-through” channel partners, and by the exterwhich we bring on new distributors;

the accuracy and timing of point of sale repatby our sell-through distributors, which impagsts ability to recognize
revenue;

the level of perceived threats to network securitiyich may fluctuate from period to peri
changes in endustomer, distributor or reseller requirements arkat need:
changes in the growth rate of the network secarity TM markets

the timing and success of new product and selivitoductions by us or our competitors or anyeotthange in the
competitive landscape of our industry, includingsalidation among our competitors or end-customers;

deferral of orders from end-customers in anétign of new products or product enhancements arsezliby us or our
competitors;

increases or decreases in our expenses causadchyafions in foreign currency exchange rates, sigraficant portion of o
expenses are incurred and paid in currencies dtherthe U.S. dollar;

decisions by potential end-customers to purchaseork security solutions from larger, more elshiled security vendors or
from their primary network equipment vendors;

price competitior
changes in customer renewal rates for our sen
changes in the length of services contracts

insolvency or credit difficulties confronting oaustomers, affecting their ability to purchaseay for our products and
services;

disruptions in our channel or termination of odatienship with important channel partne
insolvency or credit difficulties confronting ouek suppliers, which could disrupt our supply ctk
general economic conditions, both domestically iarmur foreign markets; ai

future accounting pronouncements or changes imotwunting policie

Any one of the factors above or the cumulativeaftd some of the factors referred to above mayltés significant
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fluctuations in our quarterly financial and oth@eecating results, including fluctuations in our kegtrics. This variability and unpredictability
could result in our failing to meet our internaleogting plan or the expectations of securitiesystslor investors for any period. If we fail to
meet or exceed such expectations for these or #uey ceasons, the market price of our shares dallldubstantially and we could face costly
lawsuits, including securities class action sditsaaddition, a significant percentage of our opamexpenses are fixed in nature and based on
forecasted revenue trends. Accordingly, in the eeérevenue shortfalls, we are generally unablmitigate the negative impact on margins in
the short term.

Our billings and revenue growth may slow or may ragntinue.

We may not be able to sustain profitability in figtyperiods if we fail to increase billings, reveroradeferred revenue, do not
appropriately manage our cost structure, or eneswmanticipated liabilities. Billings and revergrewth may slow or decline for a number of
reasons, including a slow down in demand for oodpcts or services, an increase in competitiorgcaighse in the growth of our overall
market, softness in demand in certain geograpbragwe fail for any reason to continue to capitalon growth opportunities. Any failure by
us to maintain profitability and continue our billis and revenue growth could cause the price of@mmon stock to materially decline.

Reliance on a concentration of shipments at the esfdhe quarter could cause our revenue to fall bel expected level

As a result of customer-buying patterns and thereffof our sales force and channel partners td oreexceed quarterly quotas, we
have historically received a substantial portioeach quarter's sales orders and generated arstigdgpartion of each quarter's revenue during
the last two weeks of the quarter. If expected mereeat the end of any quarter is delayed for aagame, including the failure of anticipated
purchase orders to materialize, or our logistiasnaas' inability to ship products prior to quaresrd to fulfill purchase orders received near the
end of the quarter, our failure to manage inventormneet demand, our inability to release new petglan schedule, any failure of our systems
related to order review and processing, or anyyddlashipments based on trade compliance requiresneur revenue for that quarter could
fall below our expectations or those of securifinalysts and investors, resulting in a declinetingtock price.

We rely significantly on revenue from subscripti@nd support services which may decline, and becansaecognize revenue from
subscriptions and support services over the ternthaf relevant service period, downturns or upturimssales are not immediately reflected
full in our operating results.

Our services revenue has historically accountea fignificant percentage of our total revenuee$af new or renewal subscription
and services contracts may decline and fluctuaterasult of a number of factors, including endtooeers' level of satisfaction with our
products and services, the prices of our produadssarvices, the prices of products and servidesesf by our competitors or reductions in our
customers' spending levels. If our sales of nevenewal subscription and services contracts dedinerevenue and revenue growth may
decline and our business will suffer. In additias@ recognize subscription and service revenue rhootler the term of the relevant service
period, which is typically one year but has beetoag as five years. As a result, much of the rexeeme report each quarter is the recognition
of deferred revenue from subscription and servicedracts entered into during previous quartersiséquently, a decline in new or renewed
subscription or service contracts in any one quavik not be fully reflected in revenue in thatayter but will negatively affect our revenue in
future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of sigoéint downturns in new or renewed sales of our sigtgms or services is not reflected in ful
our results of operations until future periods. Guipscription and service revenue also makesficdlif for us to rapidly increase our revenue
through additional service sales in any periodeaenue from new and renewal service contracts baistcognized over the applicable ser
period. Furthermore increases in the average tésaruices contracts would result in revenue fovises contracts being recognized over
longer periods of time.

Managing inventory of our products and product compents is complex. Insufficient inventory may resunh lost sales opportunities ¢
delayed revenue, while excess inventory may harmgness margins.

Our channel partners may increase orders duririggseof product shortages, cancel orders if theientory is too high, return
product or take advantage of price protectionr{if)aor delay orders in anticipation of new produdthey also may adjust their orders in
response to the supply of our products and theymtscf our competitors that are available to theem in response to seasonal fluctuations in
end-customer demand. Furthermore, if the time reguo manufacture certain products or ship pradindreases for any reason, this could
result in inventory shortfalls. Management of awrentory is further complicated by the significanimber of different products and models
that we sell.

In addition, for those channel partners that haglets of return, inventory held by such channetmens affects our results of
operations. Our inventory management systems dattdesupply chain visibility tools may be inadetgutn enable us to effectively manage
inventory. Inventory management remains an ardaanfs as we balance the need to maintain
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inventory levels that are sufficient to ensure cetitye lead times against the risk of inventongolescence because of rapidly changing
technology and customer requirements. If we ultelyatletermine that we have excess inventory, we Inaag to reduce our prices and write-
down inventory, which in turn could result in lowgnoss margins. Alternatively, insufficient inventdevels may lead to shortages that rest
delayed revenue or loss of sales opportunitiegetteer as potential end-customers turn to compstpooducts that are readily available. For
example, we experienced inventory shortages itthting quarter of 2011, based largely on more denfandertain products than we had
forecast. If we are unable to effectively manageiowentory and that of our distribution partneyar results of operations could be adversely
affected.

We rely on third-party channel partners to generagabstantially all of our revenue. If our partner&il to perform, our ability to sell our
products and services will be limited, and if welf optimize our channel partner model going foakd, our operating results will b
harmed.

Substantially all of our revenue is generated tghosales by our channel partners, which includiibligors and resellers. We depend
upon our channel partners to generate sales omjitiegiand manage the sales process. To the exdechannel partners are unsuccessful in
selling our products, or we are unable to enter amtangements with, and retain, a sufficient nunatbdigh quality channel partners in each of
the regions in which we sell products, and keemthaotivated to sell our products, our ability tdl seir products and operating results will be
harmed. The termination of our relationship witly aignificant channel partner may adversely impagtsales and operating results.

We provide sales channel partners with specifigmms to assist them in selling our products, beite can be no assurance that these
programs will be effective. In addition, our chahpartners may be unsuccessful in marketing, sehlind supporting our products and servi
Our channel partners generally do not have minimppunchase requirements. They may also market, selsapport products and services that
are competitive with ours, and may devote moreuass to the marketing, sales and support of stmtiugts. They may have incentives to
promote our competitors' products to the detrinodrur own. They may cease selling our productsgaither. We cannot assure you that we
will retain these channel partners or that we béllable to secure additional or replacement partidre loss of one or more of our significant
channel partners or the failure to obtain and shiypimber of large orders each quarter through tw@rd harm our operating results. In
addition, any new sales channel partner will regjextensive training and may take several montimsase to achieve productivity. Our char
partner sales structure could subject us to lawspdtential liability and reputational harm iff fexample, any of our channel partners
misrepresent the functionality of our products envices to end-customers or our channel partnetatei laws or our corporate policies. If we
fail to optimize our channel partner model or faiimanage existing sales channels, our businekbevileriously harmed.

If we are not successful in continuing to executarcstrategy to increase our sales to larger «customers, our results of operations may
suffer.

An important part of our growth strategy is to imase sales of our products to large enterprisescegroviders and governmental
entities. Sales to enterprises, service providedsgmvernmental entities involve risks that may b@present (or that are present to a lesser
extent) with sales to small-to-mid-sized entitiEsese risks include:

. increased competition from larger competitors, saElCisco Systems, Inc., Check Point Software Taolies Ltd., McAfee
Inc. (acquired by Intel Corporation), Juniper Netks) Inc., that traditionally target enterprisesxvéce providers and
governmental entities and that may already havelase commitments from those end-customers;

. increased purchasing power and leverage heldrlyg endeustomers in negotiating contractual arrangem

. more stringent requirements in our support sereontracts, including stricter support respoimeed, and increased penalties
for any failure to meet support requirements; and

. longer sales cycles and the associated riskstiizdtantial time and resources may be spent oteatrl end-customer that
elects not to purchase our products and services.

Large enterprises, service providers and goverrahentities often undertake a significant evaluafioocess that results in a lengthy
sales cycle, in some cases over 12 months. Althewgghave a channel sales model, our sales repatisesttypically engage in direct
interaction with our distributors and resellere@mnection with sales to larger end-customers. odke lengthy nature, the size and scope, anc
stringent requirements of these evaluations, wie&jly provide evaluation products to these cust@emé@/e may spend substantial time, effort
and money in our sales efforts without being
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successful in producing any sales. If we are uresgfal in converting these evaluations into salesmay experience an increased inventol
used products and potentially increased write-dff@addition, product purchases by enterpriseviceproviders and governmental entities are
frequently subject to budget constraints, multggprovals, and unplanned administrative, processugother delays. Finally, enterprise,
service providers and governmental entities typidave longer implementation cycles, require ggeptoduct functionality and scalability ¢

a broader range of services, including design sesyidemand that vendors take on a larger shaigkef sometimes require acceptance
provisions that can lead to a delay in revenuegeition, and expect greater payment flexibilityrfraeendors. All these factors can add further
risk to business conducted with these customessaléfs expected from a large end-customer fortécpkar quarter are not realized in that
quarter or at all, our business, operating resuitsfinancial condition could be materially and acbely affected.

The average sales prices of our products may deseeavhich may reduce our gross profits and adveyseipact our financial results and
the trading price of our common stock.

The average sales prices for our products mayraefdir a variety of reasons, including competifiviging pressures, discounts we
offer, a change in our mix of products, anticipatas the introduction of new products or promotibpraograms. Competition continues to
increase in the market segments in which we ppetei and we expect competition to further incréaske future, thereby leading to increa
pricing pressures. Larger competitors with moreedie product offerings may reduce the price of petalthat compete with ours in order to
promote the sale of other products or may bundienttvith other products. Additionally, although wrcp our products and services worldw
in U.S. dollars, currency fluctuations in certaoduntries and regions may negatively impact acttiabp that partners and customers are wil
to pay in those countries and regions. Furthermmeeanticipate that the average sales prices aygs grrofits for our products will decrease
over product life cycles. We cannot assure youwreatvill be successful in developing and introdgcimew offerings with enhanced
functionality on a timely basis, or that our protlafferings, if introduced, will enable us to maiimt our prices and gross profits at levels that
will allow us to maintain profitability.

Defects or vulnerabilities in our products or secds, the failure of our products or services to peat a virus or security breach, or misuse
our products could harm our reputation and diverésources.

Because our products and services are complexhidny contained and may contain defects or eraitsare not detected until after
their commercial release and deployment by ouroenets. Defects or vulnerabilities may impede ockloetwork traffic or cause our produ
or services to be vulnerable to electronic breakeincause them to fail to help secure networksaBge the techniques used by computer
hackers to access or sabotage networks changesfribgjand generally are not recognized until lawtthgainst a target, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques. In addition, defecesmrs in our FortiGuard subscription updatesur FortiGate appliances could result in a
failure of our FortiGuard services to effectivelydate end-customers' FortiGate appliances andihézave customers vulnerable to attacks.
Furthermore, our solutions may also fail to deteqrevent viruses, worms or similar threats dua tmmber of reasons such as the evolving
nature of such threats and the continual emergeficew threats that we may fail to add to our Fautird databases in time to protect our end-
customers' networks. Our FortiGuard or FortiCara danters and networks may also experience temfitures and downtime, and may fail
to distribute appropriate updates, or fail to nthetincreased requirements of a growing customse.b@ny such technical failure, downtime
failures in general may temporarily or permaneettpose our end-customers' networks, leaving theiworks unprotected against the latest
security threats.

An actual or perceived security breach or infecttbthe network of one of our end-customers, relgasdof whether the breach is
attributable to the failure of our products or seeg to prevent the security breach, could adveisi#tct the market's perception of our security
products. We may not be able to correct any secflaivs or vulnerabilities promptly, or at all. Oproducts may also be misused by end-
customers or third parties who obtain access t@oadtucts. For example, our products could be tsegnsor private access to certain
information on the Internet. Such use of our praslficr censorship could result in negative preserage and negatively affect our reputation,
even if we take reasonable measures to preveritrggrpper shipment of our products or if our produate provided by an unauthorized third-
party. Any defects, errors or vulnerabilities irr guoducts, or misuse of our products, could result

. expenditure of significant financial and proddewvelopment resources in efforts to analyze, corediminate or work-around
errors or defects or to address and eliminate vabikties;

. loss of existing or potential eralistomers or channel partni
. delayed or lost revent
. delay or failure to attain market accepta
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. negative publicity, which will harm our reputaticamc
. litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigatiotigat may be costly and harm our reputa

Our business and operations have experienced ragiowth, and if we do not appropriately manage amdre growth, or are unable to
improve our systems and processes, our operatirsglts will be negatively affected.

We have a high volume business that has growntbedast several years. We rely heavily on inforaratechnology systems to help
manage critical functions such as order processawgnue recognition, financial forecasts, inveyptnd supply chain management and trade
compliance reviews. However, we have been slovdtpiand implement certain automated functiong, likectronic Data Interchange, which
could have a negative impact on our business. ¥ample, a large part of our order processing raiethe manual processing of emails
internally and from our customers. Combined with tact that we may receive a majority of our orderhe last few weeks of any given
guarter, a significant interruption in our emaihgee or other systems could result in delayed ofdléiliment and decreased revenue for that
quarter. To manage any future growth effectivelg,must continue to improve and expand our inforomatéchnology and financial
infrastructure, operating and administrative systemd controls, and continue to manage headcoapitatand processes in an efficient
manner. We may not be able to successfully implénngorovements to these systems and processetiniely or efficient manner. In
addition, our systems and processes may not prevetdtect all errors, omissions or fraud. Ouniiglto improve our systems and processe
their failure to operate in the intended mannery nesult in our inability to manage the growth of @usiness and to accurately forecast our
revenue, expenses and earnings, or to preventrcersaes. Our productivity and the quality of puoducts and services may be adversely
affected if we do not integrate and train our nempkoyees quickly and effectively. Any future growtlould add complexity to our
organization and require effective coordinatiorotlghout our organization. Failure to manage anyréugrowth effectively could result in
increased costs and harm our results of operations.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our crital accounting policies are based on assumptionattthange or prove to be incorrect, o
operating results could fall below expectationss#curities analysts and investors, resulting in @ctine in our stock price.

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguisees management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amoeptsted in the consolidated financial statementssaoxtompanying notes. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on varidisr@assumptions that we believe to be reasonalgleruihe circumstances, as provided in
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of FinanCiahdition and Results of Operations” in this For@aKl, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying \@bfeassets and liabilities that are not readilyaapnt from other sources. Our operating
results may be adversely affected if our assumptadrange or if actual circumstances differ fromsthim our assumptions, which could cause
our operating results to fall below the expectatiohsecurities analysts and investors, resulting decline in our stock price. Significant
assumptions and estimates used in preparing osotidated financial statements include those rdlsggevenue recognition, stock-based
compensation, valuation of inventory, warranty iliibs, and accounting for income taxes.

We offer retroactive price protection to certain ofir major distributors, and if we fail to balancaeir inventory with end-customer demand
for our products, our allowance for price protectionay be inadequate, which could adversely affeat esults of operations

We provide certain of our major distributors withige protection rights for inventories of our pretiiheld by them. If we reduce the
list price of our products, certain distributorsewe refunds or credits from us that reduce tieepsf such products held in their inventory
based upon the new list price. Future credits faepprotection will depend on the percentage afpice reductions for the products in
inventory and our ability to manage the levels wf major distributors' inventories. If future pripeotection adjustments are higher than
expected, our future results of operations coulthbeerially and adversely affected.

If we are unable to hire, retain and motivate quiiid personnel, our business will suffe

Our future success depends, in part, on our abdiyontinue to attract and retain highly skilleetgpnnel. The loss of the services of
any of our key personnel, the inability to attractetain qualified personnel, or delays in hirreguired personnel, particularly in engineering
and sales, may seriously harm our business, finhoondition and results of operations. From timérne, we have experienced turnover in
our management-level personnel. None of our keyi@yeps has an employment agreement for a speeific, tand any of our employees may
terminate their employment at any time. Our abil@continue to attract and retain highly skillestgpnnel will be critical to our future succe
Competition for highly skilled

13




Table of Contents

personnel is frequently intense, especially inltitations where we have a substantial presenceeed for highly-skilled personnel: the San
Francisco Bay Area, Vancouver, Canada and Beifitgna. A large portion of our employee base is wutimlly vested in significant stock
option grants, and the ability to exercise thosgoopg and sell their stock may result in a largemtnormal turnover rate. We may not be
successful in attracting, assimilating or retainiuglified personnel to fulfill our current or futuneeds. Also, to the extent we hire personnel
from competitors, we may be subject to allegatitvas they have been improperly solicited or divdigeoprietary or other confidential
information.

We are dependent on the continued services andqrerfince of our senior management, the loss of afiysnom could adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition

Our future performance depends on the continuedcgsrand continuing contributions of our seniomagement to execute on our
business plan, and to identify and pursue new dppities and product innovations. The loss of serwiof senior management, particularly
Ken Xie, our Co-founder, President and Chief ExiereuDfficer, Michael Xie, our Co-founder, Vice Pigsnt of Engineering and Chief
Technical Officer, and Ken Goldman, our Vice Presidand Chief Financial Officer, could significantlelay or prevent the achievement of
our development and strategic objectives. In aoldjtkey personnel may be distracted by activitim®lated to our business. The loss of the
services, or distraction, of our senior managerfa@many reason could adversely affect our busirf@sancial condition and results of
operations.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced informatitathnology spending may adversely impact our busis

Our business depends on the overall demand fomation technology and on the economic health ofcowrent and prospective
customers. In addition, the purchase of our praliscoften discretionary and may involve a sigaifitcommitment of capital and other
resources. Weak global economic conditions, weak@&mic conditions in certain geographies, or a céda in information technology
spending regardless of macro-economic conditiomgldcadversely impact our business, financial cooliand results of operations in a
number of ways, including longer sales cycles, lopreces for our products and services, higheruaefates among our distributors, reduced
unit sales and lower or no growth.

Because we depend on several t-party manufacturers to build our products, we asesceptible to manufacturing delays that could
prevent us from shipping customer orders on timieat all, and may result in the loss of sales analstomers.

We outsource the manufacturing of our security iappke products to a variety of contract manufantupartners and original design
manufacturing partners.

Our reliance on our third-party manufacturers redgusur control over the manufacturing process, grgaus to risks, including
reduced control over quality assurance, produdscasd product supply and timing. Any manufactudigguption by our third-party
manufacturers could impair our ability to fulfiltders. If we are unable to manage our relationshigisthese third-party manufacturers
effectively, or if these third-party manufacturesperience delays, increased manufacturing leaéstiisruptions, capacity constraints or
quality control problems in their manufacturing cteons, or fail to meet our future requirementstfimely delivery, our ability to ship
products to our customers could be impaired andasiness would be seriously harmed.

These manufacturers fulfill our supply requiremeamighe basis of individual purchase orders. Weehavlong-term contracts or
arrangements with certain of our thipdsty manufacturers that guarantee capacity, théraation of particular payment terms or the ezten
of credit limits. Accordingly, they are not obligatto continue to fulfill our supply requiremerasd the prices we are charged for
manufacturing services could be increased on stutite. If we are required to change third-partynofacturers, our ability to meet our
scheduled product deliveries to our customers wbalddversely affected, which could cause thedbsales and existing or potential
customers, delayed revenue or an increase in @t edich could adversely affect our gross margng. individual product lines are gener:
manufactured by only one manufacturing partner. production interruptions for any reason, such nataral disaster, epidemic, capacity
shortages, or quality problems, at one of our maetufing partners would severely affect sales ofpsaduct lines manufactured by that
manufacturing partner.

Our proprietary FortiASIC, which is the key to therformance of our appliances, is fabricated bytremh manufacturers in foundries
operated by UMC and Taiwan Semiconductor Manufamgu€orporation, or TSMC. Faraday (using UMC's foy), K-Micro (using TSMC's
foundry) and Renesas (using UMC's foundry) manufaovur ASICs on a purchase order basis, and thbasdries do not guarantee any
capacity and could reject orders from Faraday, Kfblor Renesas or try to increase pricing. Accalyinthe foundries are not obligated to
continue to fulfill our supply requirements, ancedo the long lead time that a new foundry woulgliree, we could suffer temporary or long
term inventory shortages of our FortiASIC as wslirecreased costs. Our suppliers may also prierdiziers by other companies that order
higher
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volumes of products. If any of these suppliers mialtg delays its supply of ASICs or specific pradunodels to us, or requires us to find an
alternate supplier and we are not able to do sa timely and reasonable basis, or if these foundnaterially increase their prices for
fabrication of our ASICs or specific product modelar business would be harmed.

In addition, our reliance on third-party manufaetsrand foundries limits our control over enviromtad regulatory requirements such
as the hazardous substance content of our prodndttherefore our ability to ensure compliance whthn EU RoHS and other similar laws.

Because some of the key components in our prodeoisie from limited sources of supply, we are susitBptto supply shortages, long le:
times for components, and supply changes, each lictv could disrupt or delay our scheduled produatliveries to our customers, result in
inventory shortage, and may result in the loss afess and customers.

We and our contract manufacturers currently purelsaseral key parts and components used in thefarnte of our products from
limited sources of supply. We are therefore suliigthe risk of shortages and long lead times énstipply of these components and the risk
that component suppliers discontinue or modify congmts used in our products. We have in the pamreenced, and are currently
experiencing, shortages and long lead times fdaitecomponents. Certain of our limited source congmts for particular appliances and
suppliers of those components include: specifiesypf central processing units from Intel CorparatiAdvanced Micro Devices, Inc.,
RMI/Netlogic Corporation and VIA Technologies, Innetwork chips from Broadcom Corporation, Marviedchnology Group Ltd. and Intel,
and hard drives from Western Digital Technologias, The introduction by component suppliers of nassions of their products, particularly
if not anticipated by us or our contract manufagetsir could require us to expend significant resesito incorporate these new components into
our products. In addition, if these suppliers wierdiscontinue production of a necessary part arganent, we would be required to expend
significant resources and time in locating andgraéing replacement parts or components from anetedor. Qualifying additional suppliers
for limited source parts or components can be thoesuming and expensive.

Our manufacturing partners have experienced load fienes for the purchase of components incorpdtiate our products. Lead
times for components may be adversely impacteagbtpfs outside of our control, such as naturalstiésa and other factors. For example, lead
times for some components are currently being elediby the impact of flooding in Thailand on certauppliers. Our reliance on a limited
number of suppliers involves several additionddgjsncluding:

. a potential inability to obtain an adequate sugglyequired parts or components when requ
. financial or other difficulties faced by our supgph

. infringement or misappropriation of our intelledtpeaoperty

. price increase

. failure of a component to meet environmental oeptiegulatory requiremen

. failure to meet delivery obligations in a timelysFaon; an

. failure in component qualit

The occurrence of any of these would be disrugtives and could seriously harm our business. Atgriinption or delay in the supg
of any of these parts or components, or the irtglii obtain these parts or components from altersaurces at acceptable prices and within a
reasonable amount of time, would harm our abibtyneet our scheduled product deliveries to ouritligiors, resellers and erdistomers. Th
could harm our relationships with our channel pardrand end-customers and could cause delayspmsht of our products and adversely
affect our results of operations.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchangées, which could negatively affect our financiabndition and results of operations.

A majority of our operating expenses is incurretsme the United States. These expenses are deait@aiim foreign currencies and
are subject to fluctuations due to changes in §oreurrency exchange rates, particularly changéseifcuro and Canadian dollar. For example,
during the second and third quarters of 2011, weswepacted by the weakening of the dollar agaimstCanadian dollar and the Euro, which
caused our operating expenses to increase. Althaegiave been hedging currency exposures relaingrtain balance sheet accounts
and have periodically entered into cash flow hedg&ging to certain operating expenses incurradide of the United States, if we stop
hedging against any of these risks or if
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our attempts to hedge against these currency esgmsare not successful, our financial condition msailts of operations could be adversely
affected. In addition, our sales contracts are g@rilndenominated in U.S. dollars and thereforessatially all of our revenue is not subject to
foreign currency risk. However, a strengtheninghef U.S. dollar could increase the real cost ofgroducts to our customers outside of the
United States, which could adversely affect ouafficial condition and results of operations.

We generate a majority of revenue from sales tardisitors, resellers and end-customers outside fd United States, and we are therefore
subject to a number of risks associated with intational sales and operation:

We market and sell our products throughout the advarld have established sales offices in many péatte world. Therefore, we are
subject to risks associated with having worldwigerations. We are also subject to a number of tighisally associated with international
sales and operations, including:

. economic or political instability in foreign marise

. greater difficulty in enforcing contracts, accourgseivable collection and longer collection pesi

. changes in regulatory requireme

. difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefgn operation:

. the uncertainty of protection for intellectual pesfy rights in some countrie

. costs of compliance with foreign policies, laawsd regulations and the risks and costs of non-tamge with such policies,

laws and regulations;

. costs of complying with U.S. laws and regulatidor foreign operations, including the Foreign 1@pt Practices Act, import
and export control laws, tariffs, trade barriersg @conomic sanctions;

. other regulatory or contractual limitations am @ability to sell our products in certain foreigrarkets, and the risks and costs
of non-compliance;

. heightened risks of unfair or corrupt business izas in certain geographies and of improper ardtdent sales arrangeme
that may impact financial results and result inaesments of financial statements and irregularitiefinancial statements;

. the potential for political unrest, terrorism, tibies or war
. management communication and integration problesglting from cultural differences and geograpligpérsion; an
. multiple and possibly overlapping tax structu

Product and service sales may be subject to fogggernmental regulations, which vary substantifxtyn country to country.
Further, we may be unable to keep up-to-date witdnges in government requirements as they chaagetime to time. Failure to comply
with these regulations could result in adverseat$féo our business. In many foreign countries @dmmon for others to engage in business
practices that are prohibited by our internal pecand procedures or U.S. regulations applicabiest Although we implemented policies and
procedures designed to ensure compliance with theseand policies, there can be no assurancethaftour employees, contractors, channel
partners and agents will comply with these laws paiities. Violations of laws or key control poks by our employees, contractors, channel
partners or agents could result in delays in reggraognition, financial reporting misstatemeritggs, penalties, or the prohibition of the
importation or exportation of our products and g&y and could have a material adverse effect obwsiness and results of operations.

We are subject to governmental export and imporhtols that could subject us to liability or impaiur ability to compete in international
markets.

Because we incorporate encryption technology intoppoducts, certain of our products are subjett.®. export controls and may be
exported outside the U.S. only with the requiredaeklicense or through an export license excepfion
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we were to fail to comply with U.S. export licengjriJ.S. Customs regulations, U.S. economic sarstionl other laws, we could be subject to
substantial civil and criminal penalties, includiiiiges for the company and incarceration for resjila employees and managers, and the
possible loss of export or import privileges. Idaidn, if our channel partners fail to obtain appriate import, export or re-export licenses or
permits, we may also be adversely affected thraaghtational harm and penalties. Obtaining the sy export license for a particular sale
may be time-consuming and may result in the detdgss of sales opportunities.

Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and econaaitctions prohibit the shipment of certain prodtets.S. embargoed or
sanctioned countries, governments and persons. theegh we take precautions to prevent our proffoot being shipped to U.S. sanctions
targets, our products could be shipped to thoggtaiby our channel partners, despite such precautAny such shipment could have negative
consequences including government investigatiodspamalties and reputational harm. In additioniotes countries regulate the import of
certain encryption technology, including importpéting/licensing requirements, and have enacted ldnat could limit our ability to distribu
our products or could limit our customers' abitiyimplement our products in those countries. Charig our products or changes in export
import regulations may create delays in the intobidun of our products in international markets,ven& our customers with international
operations from deploying our products globallyinrsome cases, prevent the export or import ofppoducts to certain countries,
governments or persons altogether. Any changeporexr import regulations, economic sanctionsetated legislation, shift in the
enforcement or scope of existing regulations, @ange in the countries, governments, persons ontdadies targeted by such regulations,
could result in decreased use of our products by our decreased ability to export or sell ousdarcts to, existing or potential customers with
international operations. Any decreased use opoaducts or limitation on our ability to export gell our products would likely adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations.

If we fail to comply with environmental requiremesitour business, financial condition, operating ndss and reputation could be adverse
affected.

We are subject to various environmental laws agdlegions including laws governing the hazardouseni@ content of our products
and laws relating to the recycling of electricati@ectronic equipment. The laws and regulationshich we are subject include the European
Union, or EU, RoHS and the EU Waste Electrical Biettronic Equipment (WEEE) Directive as well as implementing legislation of the
EU member states. Similar laws and regulations b&es passed or are pending in China, South Kbieayay and Japan and may be enacted
in other regions, including in the United Statex] ave are, or may in the future be, subject togHaws and regulations.

The EU RoHS and the similar laws of other jurisdics ban the use of certain hazardous materials @sitead, mercury and cadmium
in the manufacture of electrical equipment, inchgdour products. We have incurred costs to comjilly these laws, including research and
development costs, costs associated with assuregupply of compliant components and costs aggalcigith writing off noncompliant
inventory. We expect to incur more of these casthé future. With respect to the EU RoHS, we amdoompetitors rely on an exemption for
lead in network infrastructure equipment. It is gibke this exemption will be revoked in the neaufa. If this exemption is revoked, if there
other changes to these laws (or their interpretqatio if new similar laws are passed in other gidions, we may be required to reengineer our
products to use components compatible with theggladons. This reengineering and component suitistit could result in additional costs to
us or disrupt our operations or logistics.

The EU has also adopted the WEEE Directive, whitjuires electronic goods producers to be respan&iblthe collection, recycling
and treatment of such products. Although currently EU International channel partners are respéméil the requirements of this directive
the importer of record in most of the European ¢aes in which we sell our products, changes ieriptetation of the regulations may cause us
to incur costs or have additional regulatory reguients in the future to meet in order to comphhwiiis directive, or with any similar laws
adopted in other jurisdictions.

Our failure to comply with these and future envirental rules and regulations could result in redwsades of our products, increased
costs, substantial product inventory write-offgutational damage, penalties and other sanctions.

A portion of our revenue is generated by sales twgrnmental entities, which are subject to a numhérchallenges and risks

Sales to U.S. and foreign federal, state and lgoatrnmental agency end-customers have accountedpfrtion of our revenue in
past periods, and we may in the future increasesgalgovernmental entities. Sales to governmentities are subject to a number of risks.
Selling to governmental entities can be highly cetitjve, expensive and time consuming, often reqgisignificant upfront time and expense
without any assurance that we will win a sale. Goreent demand and payment
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for our products and services may be negativelyaictgd by numerous factors and requirements ungselling to government agencies, such
as public sector budgetary cycles and funding aightions and requirements unique to governmenteigs, with funding or purchasing
reductions or delays adversely affecting publicaedemand for our products. To date we have haidd traction in sales to U.S. federal
government agencies, and any future sales to gmetal entities is uncertain. All of our sales tvgrnmental entities have been made
indirectly through our distribution channel. Goverental entities may have contractual or other leigats to terminate contracts with our
distributors and resellers for convenience or du default, and any such termination may advelisghact our future results of operations.
example, if the distributor receives a significpottion of its revenue from sales to such governalamtity, the financial health of the
distributor could be substantially harmed, whichildmegatively affect our future sales to suchriistor. Governments routinely investigate
and audit government contractors' administrativegsses, and any unfavorable audit could resthieirgovernment refusing to continue
buying our products and services, a reductionwémae or fines or civil or criminal liability if #haudit uncovers improper or illegal activities.
Any such penalties could adversely impact our tesafloperations in a material way. Finally, pusdsby the U.S. government may require
certain products to be manufactured in the UnitiadeS and other high cost manufacturing locatiand,we may not manufacture all products
in locations that meet the requirements of the gdsernment.

False detection of viruses or security breachedalse identification of spam or spyware could adsely affect our business.

Our antivirus and our intrusion prevention servigesy falsely detect viruses or other threats thatat actually exist. This risk is
heightened by the inclusion of a “heuristiésature in our products, which attempts to identifyses and other threats not based on any ki
signatures but based on characteristics or anosnalg may indicate that a particular item is @atrWhen our end-customers enable the
heuristics feature in our products, the risk oédy identifying viruses and other threats siguifity increases. These false positives, while
typical in the industry, may impair the perceivetiability of our products and may therefore adegrsmpact market acceptance of our
products. Also, our antispam and antispyware sesvinay falsely identify emails or programs as unteéuspam or potentially unwanted
programs, or alternatively fail to properly idegtifnwanted emails or programs, particularly as spamails or spyware are often designed to
circumvent antispam or spyware products. Partiesselemails or programs are blocked by our produetg seek redress against us for
labeling them as spammers or spyware, or for iated with their business. In addition, false idféceition of emails or programs as unwanted
spam or potentially unwanted programs may redueatloption of our products. If our system restiiictgortant files or applications based on
falsely identifying them as malware or some otltemithat should be restricted, this could advera#fiyct end-customers' systems and cause
material system failures. Any such false identifiwa of important files or applications could reisinl negative publicity, loss of end-customers
and sales, increased costs to remedy any problehcastly litigation.

If our internal network system is compromised bynsputer hackers, public perception of our productsdservices will be harme

We will not succeed unless the marketplace is demntfi that we provide effective network securitytpotion. Because we provide
network security products, we may be a more attratarget for attacks by computer hackers. AltHoug have not experienced significant
damages from unauthorized access by a third-pé&dyminternal network, if an actual or perceiveddch of network security occurs in our
internal systems it could adversely affect the raagerception of our products and services. Intaddisuch a security breach could impair
ability to operate our business, including ourigptb provide subscription and support servicesuoend-customers. If this happens, our
revenue could decline and our business could suffer

Our ability to sell our products is dependent oretiquality of our technical support services, andrdailure to offer high quality technical
support services would have a material adverseafta our sales and results of operatior

Once our products are deployed within our end-ensts' networks, our end-customers depend on obnitead support services, as
well as the support of our channel partners, tolvesany issues relating to our products. If wewr channel partners do not effectively assist
our customers in deploying our products, succedgtiping our customers quickly resolve post-deplegtrissues, and provide effective
ongoing support, our ability to sell additional guets and services to existing customers woulddveraely affected and our reputation with
potential customers could be damaged. Many enserpservice provider and governmental entity emstomers require higher levels of sup
than smaller end-customers. If we fail to meetrdguirements of the larger esdstomers, it may be more difficult to execute anstrategy t
increase our penetration with larger end-customers.

As a result, our failure to maintain high qualitypport services would have a material adverse efieour business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Changes in our provision for income taxes or advermsutcomes resulting from examination of our incorte returns could adversely affect
our results.

Our provision for income taxes is subject to vditgtand could be adversely affected by severaidia; many of which are outside of
our control, including:

. earnings being lower than anticipated in coestthat have lower tax rates and higher than aatied in countries that have
higher tax rates;

. changes in the valuation of our deferred tax asssddiabilities

. expiration of, or lapses in the research and devetnt tax credit law

. transfer pricing adjustments including the efffefcacquisitions on our intercompany researcha@sglopment and legal
structure;

. an increase in non-deductible expenses for taggses, including certain stock-based compensatipense, write-offs of

acquired in-process research and development napairiment of goodwill;
. tax costs related to intercompany realignmi

. tax assessments resulting from income tax aodigy related tax interest or penalties thatasignificantly affect our
income tax provision for the period in which thétleenent takes place;

. a change in our decision to indefinitely reinvestfgn earning:
. changes in accounting principles
. changes in tax laws and regulations includingsfide changes in the United States to the taxafi@arnings of our foreign

subsidiaries, and the deductibility of expenseasbaitiable to foreign income, or the foreign taxditeules, or changes to the
United States income tax rate, which would necatgsd revaluation of our deferred tax assets afilities.

Significant judgment is required to determine tbeoagnition and measurement attribute prescribéet@ounting Standards
Codification ("ASC") 740-10. In addition, ASC 74@ &pplies to all income tax positions, including ffotential recovery of previously paid
taxes, which if settled unfavorably could adverseipact our provision for income taxes or additiopeid-in capital. Further, as a result of
certain of our ongoing employment and capital ilwent actions and commitments, our income in aextauntries is subject to reduced tax
rates and in some cases is wholly exempt fromQ@ax.failure to meet these commitments could adWeisgact our provision for income
taxes. In addition, we are subject to the contirsuexamination of our income tax returns by therlrdbeRevenue Service and other tax
authorities. We regularly assess the likelihoodaferse outcomes resulting from these examinat@mdstermine the adequacy of our
provision for income taxes. There can be no assertimat the outcomes from these continuous examirgawill not have an adverse effect on
our results of operations.

Although we released our entire valuation allowainciéscal 2009, we may in the future be require@stablish a new valuation
allowance. We will continue to assess the neea faaluation allowance on the deferred tax assetvjuating both positive and negative
evidence that may exist.

Forecasting our estimated annual effective tax ragecomplex and subject to uncertainty, and therayrbe material differences between c
forecasted and actual tax rate

Forecasts of our income tax position and effedierate are complex and subject to uncertaintabse our income tax position for
each year combines the effects of a mix of prei#med and losses incurred by us in various tasdigtions with a broad range of income tax
rates, as well as changes in the valuation of tcedeilax assets and liabilities, the impact of wuasiaccounting rules and changes to these rules
and tax laws, the results of examinations by varieix authorities, and the impact of any acquisjtlmisiness combination or other
reorganization or financing transaction. To forécas global tax rate, we estimate our pa®-profits and losses by jurisdiction and foreaast
tax expense by jurisdiction. If the mix of profaad losses, our ability to use tax credits, oratiife tax rates by jurisdiction is different than
those estimated, our actual tax rate
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could be materially different than forecasted, vahtould have a material impact on our results airmss, financial condition and results of
operations.

As a multinational corporation, we conduct our besk in many countries and are subject to taxatiomany jurisdictions. The
taxation of our business is subject to the appboadf multiple and sometimes conflicting tax lasrsd regulations as well as multinational tax
conventions. Our effective tax rate is highly degemt upon the geographic distribution of our woiltvearnings or losses, the tax regulations
and tax holidays in each geographic region, thdahibity of tax credits and carryforwards, and tfectiveness of our tax planning strategies.
The application of tax laws and regulations is eabjo legal and factual interpretation, judgmerd encertainty. Tax laws themselves are
subject to change as a result of changes in figaady, changes in legislation, and the evolutibmegulations and court rulings. Consequently,
taxing authorities may impose tax assessmentdgmnjents against us that could materially impacttaxitiability and/or our effective income
tax rate.

In addition, we may be subject to examination afiaaome tax returns by the Internal Revenue Seraitd other tax authorities. If 1
authorities challenge the relative mix of U.S. amdrnational income, our future effective incorag tates could be adversely affected. While
we regularly assess the likelihood of adverse on&from such examinations and the adequacy gfrawision for income taxes, there can
no assurance that such provision is sufficientthatla determination by a tax authority will novean adverse effect on our business, fina
condition and results of operations.

Our inability to acquire and integrate other busisses, products or technologies could seriously haran competitive position.

In order to remain competitive, we may seek to &egadditional businesses, products, or technotogiel intellectual property, such
as patents. If we identify an appropriate acquisitandidate, we may not be successful in negogidtie terms of the acquisition, financing
acquisition, or effectively integrating the acquifeusiness, product, technology or intellectuapprty into our existing business and
operations. We may have difficulty incorporatingjaiced technologies, intellectual property or praduvith our existing product lines and
maintaining uniform standards, controls, procedargs policies. Our due diligence may fail to idgnéill of the problems, liabilities or other
shortcomings or challenges of an acquired busimpesduct or technology, including issues with itgefual property, product quality or prod
architecture, regulatory compliance practices, meeerecognition or other accounting practices gplegee or customer issues. In addition, any
acquisitions we are able to complete may not bestive to earnings and may not result in any syieergr other benefits we had expected to
achieve, which could result in write-offs that adbble substantial. Further, completing a potentigligsition and integrating acquired
businesses, products, technologies or intellegxagerty will significantly divert management tiraad resources.

Our business is subject to the risks of warrantgichs, product returns, product liability and prodtidefects.

Our products are very complex and, despite tegtiigg to their release, have contained and mayaionindetected defects or errors,
especially when first introduced or when new versiare released. For example, one of our high-ewdbpt models experienced a defect in
limited deployments. Product errors have affeckexdperformance of our products and could delaydwelopment or release of new products
or new versions of products, adversely affect eputation and our end-customers' willingness tofregucts from us, and adversely affect
market acceptance or perception of our productg.saech errors or delays in releasing new productew versions of products or allegations
of unsatisfactory performance could cause us t® tlegenue or market share, increase our servits, @agise us to incur substantial costs in
redesigning the products, cause us to lose sigifiendeustomers, subject us to liability for damages dindrt our resources from other tas
any one of which could materially and adverselgetfiour business, results of operations and figdeoindition. Our products must
successfully interoperate with products from otherdors. As a result, when problems occur in a adtwit may be difficult to identify the
sources of these problems. The occurrence of haedarad software errors, whether or not caused bpmducts, could delay or reduce mal
acceptance of our products, and have an adverset eff our business and financial performance aaychecessary revisions may cause us to
incur significant expenses. The occurrence of arch problems could harm our business, financiatlitimm and results of operations.

Although we have limitation of liability provisioria our standard terms and conditions of sale, thay not fully or effectively prote
us from claims as a result of federal, state ocalltaws or ordinances or unfavorable judicial decis in the United States or other countries.
The sale and support of our products also entaitigk of product liability claims. We maintain irgince to protect against certain claims
associated with the use of our products, but csuremce coverage may not adequately cover any ass@rted against us. In addition, even
claims that ultimately are unsuccessful could rtesubur expenditure of funds in litigation and eimanagement's time and other resources.
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Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, power outages, floods and other catastropkivents, and to interruption by manms
problems such as civil unrest and terrorisi

A significant natural disaster, such as an eartkegufire, a flood, or significant power outage abhhve a material adverse impact on
our business, operating results and financial damdiOur corporate headquarters are located ilsdreFrancisco Bay Area, a region known
for seismic activity. In addition, natural disasteould affect our manufacturing vendors or logsproviders' ability to perform services such
as obtaining product components and manufactuniadyets on a timely basis and assisting with shiggsen a timely basis. In the event our
or our service providers' information technologgtsyns or manufacturing or logistics abilities airelbred by any of the events discussed
above, shipments could be delayed, resulting irsimgsfinancial targets, such as revenue and shiptaggets, for a particular quarter. In
addition, regional instability, acts of terrorismdaother geo-political unrest could cause disrugtim our business or the business of our
manufacturers, logistics providers, partners, a-emstomers or the economy as a whole. Given quicdy concentration of sales at each
quarter end, any disruption in the business ofrsaimufacturers, logistics providers, partners oremgtomers that impacts sales at the end of
our quarter could have a significant adverse impaatur quarterly results. All of the aforementidnisks may be augmented if the disaster
recovery plans for us and our suppliers prove tmadequate. To the extent that any of the abosaltein delays or cancellations of customer
orders, or the delay in the manufacture, deployroeshipment of our products, our business, finar@ndition and results of operations
would be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Industry

The network security market is rapidly evolving atite complex technology incorporated in our prodaanakes them difficult to develop. If
we do not accurately predict, prepare for and resdgpromptly to technological and market developm&and changing enctustomer need
our competitive position and prospects will be hath

The network security market is expected to contitauevolve rapidly. Moreover, many of our end-cuséos operate in markets
characterized by rapidly changing technologiestauginess plans, which require them to add numeretygork access points and adapt
increasingly complex enterprise networks, incorfingga variety of hardware, software applicatiomerating systems and networking
protocols. In addition, computer hackers and otldrs try to attack networks employ increasinglytisficated techniques to gain access to
and attack systems and networks. The technologuiiproducts is especially complex because it needffectively identify and respond to
new and increasingly sophisticated methods of lattahile minimizing the impact on network perforncan Additionally, some of our new
products and enhancements may require us to demelefhardware architectures and ASICs that invobraplex, expensive and time
consuming research and development processes.ugjththe market expects rapid introduction of nemadpcts or product enhancements to
respond to new threats, the development of thesgupts is difficult and the timetable for commelcelease and availability is uncertain and
there can be long time periods between releaseaaildbility of new products. We have in the pastl may in the future experience
unanticipated delays in the availability of newdluwots and services and fail to meet previously anoed timetables for such availability. If
do not quickly respond to the rapidly changing dgdrous needs of our end-customers by developitigraleasing and making available on a
timely basis new products and services or enhancentieat can respond adequately to new securigatir our competitive position and
business prospects will be harmed.

Our URL database for our Web filtering service mésjl to keep pace with the rapid growth of URLs amaghy not categorize websites in
accordance with our end-customers' expectations.

The success of our Web filtering service dependtherbreadth and accuracy of our URL databaseoAgh our URL database
currently catalogs millions of unique URLS, it caims only a portion of the URLSs for all of the wibs that are available on the Internet. In
addition, the total number of URLs and softwarel@pgions is growing rapidly, and we expect thipidagrowth to continue in the future.
Accordingly, we must identify and categorize comtfem our security risk categories at an extrenralyid rate. Our database and technologies
may not be able to keep pace with the growth imtmaber of websites, especially the growing amadicbntent utilizing foreign languages
and the increasing sophistication of malicious caae the delivery mechanisms associated with smvpnishing and other hazards associated
with the Internet. Further, the ongoing evolutidrite Internet and computing environments will regqus to continually improve the
functionality, features and reliability of our Wéhering function. Any failure of our databaseskieep pace with the rapid growth and
technological change of the Internet will impaie tmarket acceptance of our products, which inwilrharm our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

In addition, our Web filtering service may not hesessful in accurately categorizing Internet gopliaation content to meet our end-
customers' expectations. We rely upon a combinati@utomated filtering technology and human reviewategorize websites and software
applications in our proprietary databases. Our@rstemers may not agree with our determinationspgadicular URLs should be included or
not included in specific categories of our datababeaddition, it is
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possible that our filtering processes may placeenaltthat is objectionable or that presents amsigciisk in categories that are generally
unrestricted by our users' Internet and computegsscpolicies, which could result in such mater@tlbeing blocked from the network.
Conversely, we may miscategorize websites suchattwss is denied to websites containing informatiat is important or valuable to our
customers. Any miscategorization could result istomer dissatisfaction and harm our reputation. failyre to effectively categorize and
filter websites according to our end-customers' @mghnel partners' expectations will impair thengfoof our business.

If our new products and product enhancements do achieve sufficient market acceptance, our resuwfoperations and competitiv
position will suffer.

We spend substantial amounts of time and monegsearch and develop new products and enhancedngrsi our existing products
to incorporate additional features, improved funmdlity or other enhancements in order to meetastomers' rapidly evolving demands for
network security in our highly competitive industéy/hen we develop a new product or an enhancedbowen an existing product, we typica
incur expenses and expend resources upfront toefgmomote and sell the new offering. Thereforeewwe develop and introduce new or
enhanced products, they must achieve high levaisasket acceptance in order to justify the amotiiuo investment in developing and
bringing them to market.

Our new products or product enhancements coulddaittain sufficient market acceptance for marasoms, including:
. delays in releasing our new products or enhanceserthe marke

. failure to accurately predict market demand in geohproduct functionality and to supply produdtattmeet this demand ir
timely fashion;

. failure of our sales force and partners to focusealting new product

. inability to interoperate effectively with thetworks or applications of our prospective engtomers
. inability to protect against new types of attacksezhniques used by hack«

. defects, errors or failure

. negative publicity about their performance or effemess

. introduction or anticipated introduction of competiproducts by our competita

. poor business conditions for our etustomers, causing them to delay IT purchi

. easing of regulatory requirements around secuaity

. reluctance of customers to purchase products incatipg open source softwe

If our new products or enhancements do not aclaeleguate acceptance in the market, our competitisgion will be impaired, our
revenue will be diminished and the effect on oweraging results may be particularly acute becaf@isigeosignificant research, development,
marketing, sales and other expenses we incurredrinection with the new product or enhancement.

Unless we continue to develop better market awassnef our company and our products, our revenue nmay continue to grow.

We are a relatively new entrant in the network sgécmarket, and we believe that we have not yaldished sufficient market
awareness of our participation in that market. Magwareness of our capabilities and productssisresml to our continued growth and our
success in all of our markets, particularly for lduge enterprise, service provider and governmemtities markets. If our marketing programs
are not successful in creating market awarenessrofompany and products, our business, finanoiadlition and results of operations will be
adversely affected, and we will not be able to eshisustained growth.

Demand for Unified Threat Management products mag limited by market perception that UTM productsesinferior to
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network security solutions from multiple vendors.

Sales of most of our products depend on increasethdd for UTM products. If the UTM market failsgoow as we anticipate, our
business will be seriously harmed. Target custommeng view UTM “all-in-one” solutions as inferior &ecurity solutions from multiple
vendors because of, among other things, their pgorethat UTM products provide security functidnsm only a single vendor and do not
allow users to choose “best-of-breed” defenses fromng the wide range of dedicated security apiidica available. Target customers might
also perceive that, by combining multiple secufitiyctions into a single platform, UTM solutions ate a “single point of failure” in their
networks, which means that an error, vulnerabdityailure of the UTM product may place the entietwork at risk. In addition, the market
perception that UTM solutions may be suitable dolysmall and medium sized businesses because ATks the performance capabilities
functionality of other solutions may harm our satetarge enterprise, service provider, and govemtal entity end-customers. If the foregoing
concerns and perceptions become prevalent, e¥ker# is no factual basis for these concerns arakptons, or if other issues arise with the
UTM market in general, demand for UTM products colé severely limited, which would limit our growdind harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Further a sssful and publicized targeted attack against wnother well known UTM vendor exposin
“single point of failure” could significantly incesse these concerns and perceptions and may harbusiness and results of operations.

We face intense competition in our market, espelgiditom larger, better-known companies, and we magk sufficient financial or other
resources to maintain or improve our competitivesition.

The market for network security products is intéypsempetitive, and we expect competition to intgnm the future. Our competito
include networking companies such as Cisco Systhros,Juniper Networks, Inc., and security vendiursh as Check Point Software
Technologies Ltd., McAfee, Inc. (acquired by InBarporation), and SonicWALL, Inc. (acquired by TheoBravo), Palo Alto Networks, and
other point solution security vendors.

Many of our existing and potential competitors grgobstantial competitive advantages such as:

. greater name recognition and longer operating tiest

. larger sales and marketing budgets and resol

. broader distribution and established relatiopshvith distribution partners and endstomers
. access to larger customer ba

. greater customer support resour

. greater resources to make acquisiti

. lower labor and development costs;

. substantially greater financial, technical and ptiesource:

In addition, some of our larger competitors havessantially broader product offerings and levertggr relationships based on other
products or incorporate functionality into existipghducts in a manner that discourages users froohpsing our products. These larger
competitors often have broader product lines andketdocus and are in a better position to withdtany significant reduction in capital
spending by end-customers in these markets. Therdftese competitors will not be as susceptibotenturns in a particular market. Also,
many of our smaller competitors that specializprioviding protection from a single type of netwascurity threat are often able to deliver
these specialized network security products tartheket more quickly than we can. Some of our smabenpetitors are using third-party chips
designed to accelerate performance. Conditionsiimarkets could change rapidly and significanflyaaesult of technological advancements
or continuing market consolidation. Our current gotential competitors may also establish coopegatlationships among themselves or
with third parties that may further enhance thesaurces. In addition, current or potential conmipetimay be acquired by third parties with
greater available resources, such as Juniper'ssittau of NetScreen Technologies, Inc., Intel'g@sition of McAfee and Check Point's
acquisition of Nokia's security appliance businéssa result of such acquisitions, our currentateptial competitors might be able to adapt
more quickly to new technologies and customer nedelgote greater resources to the promotion orgfdleeir products and services, initiate
withstand substantial price competition, take atlvgm of acquisition or other opportunities moredilgeor develop and expand their product
and service offerings more quickly than we do.ddition, our competitors may bundle products arndises
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competitive with ours with other products and segsi Customers may accept these bundled produtiseavices rather than separately
purchasing our products and services. Due to burgedtraints or economic downturns, organizationy be more willing to incrementally a
solutions to their existing network security intrasture from competitors than to replace it witlr golutions. These competitive pressures in
our market or our failure to compete effectivelyymasult in price reductions, fewer customer ordesduced revenue and gross margins and
loss of market share.

If functionality similar to that offered by our prducts is incorporated into existing network infrasicture products, organizations me
decide against adding our appliances to their netlwovhich would have an adverse effect on our busés.

Large, well-established providers of networkingipquent such as Cisco Systems, Inc. and Juniper dikswinc. offer, and may
continue to introduce, network security featured ttompete with our products, either in stand-akewurity products or as additional features
in their network infrastructure products. The irsétn of, or the announcement of an intent to ineJddnctionality perceived to be similar to
that offered by our security solutions in networkproducts that are already generally accepte@esssary components of network
architecture may have an adverse effect on ouityatnl market and sell our products. Furthermoxereif the functionality offered by network
infrastructure providers is more limited than otwducts, a significant number of customers mayteteaccept such limited functionality in
lieu of adding appliances from an additional venslaeh as us. Many organizations have invested autietpersonnel and financial resources
to design and operate their networks and have lestali deep relationships with other providersetivorking products, which may make th
reluctant to add new components to their netwgsksticularly from other vendors such as us. In tildli an organization's existing vendors or
new vendors with a broad product offering may ble &b offer concessions that we are not able tambéecause we currently offer only
network security products and have fewer resoutwas many of our competitors. If organizationsratactant to add additional network
infrastructure from new vendors or otherwise de¢a@ork with their existing vendors, our busindgsancial condition and results of
operations will be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Our proprietary rights may be difficult to enforcayhich could enable others to copy or use aspeétsw products without compensating u

We rely primarily on patent, trademark, copyrightldrade secrets laws, confidentiality procedures@ntractual provisions to
protect our technology. Valid patents may not issam our pending applications, and the claims avalty allowed on any patents may not be
sufficiently broad to protect our technology or gwots. Any issued patents may be challenged, ida@d or circumvented, and any rights
granted under these patents may not actually pecaitbquate defensive protection or competitive @dges to us. Patent applications in the
United States are typically not published untilegtst 18 months after filing, or, in some casesanall, and publications of discoveries in
industry-related literature lag behind actual diszges. We cannot be certain that we were thetfirstake the inventions claimed in our
pending patent applications or that we were ttst fo file for patent protection. Additionally, tipeocess of obtaining patent protection is
expensive and time-consuming, and we may not keetatprosecute all necessary or desirable patglitafions at a reasonable cost or in a
timely manner. In addition, recent changes to et laws in the United States may bring into tjoeghe validity of certain software pater
As a result, we may not be able to obtain adequatient protection or effectively enforce our isspatents.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tglunauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspeaiur products or obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary. We galteenter into confidentiality or license agreensewith our employees, consultants, ven
and customers, and generally limit access to astdllition of our proprietary information. Howevere cannot assure you that the steps taken
by us will prevent misappropriation of our techrgptoPolicing unauthorized use of our technologpmducts is difficult. In addition, the laws
of some foreign countries do not protect our pretairy rights to as great an extent as the lawseofJnited States, and many foreign countries
do not enforce these laws as diligently as goventragencies and private parties in the United St&eom time-to-time, legal action by us
may be necessary to enforce our patents and aitedlectual property rights, to protect our tradersts, to determine the validity and scope of
the proprietary rights of others or to defend aglagtaims of infringement or invalidity. Such liigon could result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources and could negatively affectbusiness, operating results and financial ¢cendilf we are unable to protect our
proprietary rights (including aspects of our softsvand products protected other than by patentsjgive may find ourselves at a competitive
disadvantage to others who need not incur the iadditexpense, time and effort required to crelageinnovative products that have enabled us
to be successful to date.

Our products contain third-party open source softieacomponents, and failure to comply with the termmfsthe underlying open source
software licenses could restrict our ability to kelr products.
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Our products contain software modules licensedstbyuthird-party authors under “open source” li@nsncluding the GNU Public
License (GPL), the GNU Lesser Public License (LGRh& BSD License, the Apache License and otheosn Eime-to-time, there have been
claims against companies that distribute or us@ gpearce software in their products and serviceseréing that open source software infringes
the claimants' intellectual property rights. We Iddoe subject to suits by parties claiming infringent of intellectual property rights in what'
believe to be licensed open source software. Udalstribution of open source software may entegbger risks than use of third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors géyelo not provide warranties or other contracpaitections regarding infringement
claims or the quality of the code. Some open solizeases contain requirements that we make aveikdurce code for modifications or
derivative works we create based upon the typgehaource software we use. If we combine our petgry software with open source
software in a certain manner, we could, under tedpen source licenses, be required to releassatinee code of our proprietary software to
the public. This would allow our competitors to ate similar products with lower development effamtl time and ultimately could result in a
loss of product sales for us.

Although we monitor our use of open source softwaravoid subjecting our products to conditionsdeenot intend, the terms of
many open source licenses have not been interplogtebhited States courts, and there is a riskitiege licenses could be construed in a way
that could impose unanticipated conditions or retidns on our ability to commercialize our prodsidn this event, we could be required to
seek licenses from third parties to continue offgidur products, to make generally available, iwrse code form, our proprietary code, to re-
engineer our products, or to discontinue the shtipproducts if re-engineering could not be acptished on a timely basis, any of which
could adversely affect our business, operatinglt®and financial condition.

Claims by others that we infringe their proprietatgchnology or other litigation matters could harour business.

Patent and other intellectual property disputescaremon in the network security industry. Thirdtjg have asserted and may in the
future assert claims of infringement of intelledtpeoperty rights against us. They may also asserh claims against our end-customers or
channel partners whom we typically indemnify agaataims that our products infringe the intelledtpeoperty rights of third parties. As the
number of products and competitors in our marketdases and overlaps occur, infringement claimsinagase. Any claim of infringement
by a third-party, even those without merit, couddise us to incur substantial costs defending aighieslaim and could distract our
management from our business. In addition, futitigation may involve patent holding companies thres adverse patent owners who have no
relevant product revenue and against whom our aatengs may therefore provide little or no deteresocprotection.

Although third parties may offer a license to thtechnology, the terms of any offered license matytre acceptable, and the failure to
obtain a license or the costs associated with iaepde could cause our business, financial comdéid results of operations to be materially
and adversely affected. In addition, some licemsag be non-exclusive, and therefore our competitaag have access to the same technology
licensed to us.

Alternatively, we may be required to develop nofritging technology, which could require significaime, effort and expense and
may ultimately not be successful. Furthermore,aassful claimant could secure a judgment or we aggge to a settlement that prevents us
from distributing certain products or performingteén services or that requires us to pay substbdéimages (including treble damages if we
are found to have willfully infringed such claimanpatents or copyrights), royalties or other fées; of these events could seriously harm our
business, financial condition and results of openat

We have been involved in patent disputes in thg pas currently involved in several patent disputend likely will be involved in
additional disputes in the future. In May 2004, Adéviicro Incorporated filed a complaint againstlleging that we infringed a Trend Micro
patent related to antivirus software. The Inteoral Trade Commission, or ITC, subsequently ingdwan investigation which resulted in an
exclusion order and a cease and desist order fitiogilns from selling a broad array of our produotshe United States. In January 2006, we
settled the lawsuit with Trend Micro, and subsedlyethe ITC terminated its action and rescindeddhders. Pursuant to the settlement and
license agreement, we initially paid Trend Micré$Lmillion. The settlement and license agreemenitiges for additional quarterly royalty
payments. We had a subsequent dispute with TreacoMégarding the royalty payments and in Decer2béd., we entered into a settlement
agreement with Trend Micro resolving the disputed@ne-time payment of $9.0 million. The settleiragreement includes a fully-paid
license to the patents subject to the prior pdiesmse agreement, with no continuing obligatiopay royalties for those patents.

As discussed in "Item 3-Legal Proceedings,” fraometito time we are subject to lawsuits claiming piitefringement, and there are
lawsuits claiming patent infringement currently gierg. We are also subject to other litigation in
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addition to patent infringement claims. If we aresuccessful in defending any such claims, our dipgyaesults and financial condition and
results may be materially and adversely affected example, we may be required to pay substargisladjes and could be prevented from
selling certain of our products. In addition to taesuits described in "Legal Proceedings," sevetfagér non-practicing patent holding
companies have sent us letters proposing thatogade certain of their patents, and given thisthadgroliferation of lawsuits in our industry
and other similar industries by both non-practicémgities and operating entities, we expect thatwilldbe sued for patent infringement in the
future, regardless of the merits of any such latgsiihe cost to defend such lawsuits and any advessllt in such lawsuits could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operatemmd financial condition.

We rely on the availability of third-party licenses

Many of our products include software or other lietdual property licensed from third parties. layrbe necessary in the future to
renew licenses relating to various aspects of thesducts or to seek new licenses for existingew products. There can be no assurance that
the necessary licenses would be available on aalglepterms, if at all. The inability to obtain cért licenses or other rights or to obtain such
licenses or rights on favorable terms, or the rieexhgage in litigation regarding these matters|cceesult in delays in product releases until
equivalent technology can be identified, licensedeveloped, if at all, and integrated into ourdarats and may have a material adverse effect
on our business, operating results, and financiadlition. Moreover, the inclusion in our productsoftware or other intellectual property
licensed from third parties on a nonexclusive basidd limit our ability to differentiate our prodts from those of our competitors.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

As a public company, we are subject to compliangiéiatives that will require substantial time fromour management and result i
significantly increased costs that may adverselfeaf our operating results and financial conditiol

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank \8attet Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2@%Qyell as other rules
implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Maiikepose various requirements on public companmesyding requiring changes in
corporate governance practices. These and propospdrate governance laws and regulations undesideration may further increase our
compliance costs. If compliance with these variegsl and regulatory requirements diverts our mansnt's attention from other business
concerns, it could have a material adverse effeduw business, financial condition and resultspdrations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires,
among other things, that we assess the effectigesfesur internal control over financial reportiagnually and disclosure controls and
procedures quarterly. We completed our evaluatfayuointernal controls over financial reporting ftscal 2011 as required by Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Although our assess, testing and evaluation resulted in our caioluthat as of December 31, 2011, our
internal controls over financial reporting wereeetive, we cannot predict the outcome of our tgstin2012 or future periods. If our internal
controls or disclosure controls are ineffectivduture periods, our business and reputation coelddrmed. We may incur additional expenses
and commitment of management's time in connectibm firrther evaluations, both of which could maddlyi increase our operating expenses
and accordingly reduce our operating results.

Changes in financial accounting standards may causgverse unexpected fluctuations and affect our ogjed results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices anging interpretations of existing accounting proancements, such as changes to
standards related to revenue recognition adoptetefFinancial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB3t went effective January 1, 2011,
increased use of fair value measure, the recepbpea change to revenue recognition, lease acogyfitiancial instrument accounting
standards, and the potential requirement that tédgistrants prepare financial statements in acomelavith International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), could have a significant effectour reported financial results or the way wedtet our business. Effective January 1,
2011, we started reporting revenue recognition dhasethe new revenue standards issued by the FAS8®. do not ensure that our systems
and processes for revenue recognition are align#idtiae new standards, we could encounter diffieslgenerating quarterly and annual
financial statements in a timely manner, which wicive an adverse effect on our business and dity &b meet our reporting obligations.

If securities or industry analysts stop publishirgsearch or publish inaccurate or unfavorable reseh about our business, our stock pris
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will dep@mgart on the research and reports that secaigtiendustry analysts publish
about us or our business. If we do not maintairgade research coverage or if one or more of théysts who covers us downgrades our s
or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable researchtatur business, our stock price would
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likely decline. If one or more of these analystasas coverage of our company or fails to publipbnts on us regularly, demand for our stock
could decrease, which could cause our stock pridgrading volume to decline.

The trading price of our common stock is likely b volatile.

The market price of our common stock is subjeatitte fluctuations in response to, among other thinige risk factors described in
this periodic report, and other factors such asonsror fluctuations in the valuation of companiescgived by investors to be comparable tc

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencee pnd volume fluctuations that have affected amdicue to affect the market
prices of equity securities of many companies. €Hkgtuations often have been unrelated or diggtagnate to the operating performance of
those companies. These broad market and industrjufitions, as well as general economic, polit@atl market conditions, such as recess
interest rate changes or international currenaostdiations, may negatively affect the market pritewr common stock.

In the past, many companies that have experiencladility in the market price of their stock havedm subject to securities class
action litigation. We may be the target of thiseygf litigation in the future. Securities litigati@against us could result in substantial costs and
divert our management's attention from other busirm®ncerns, which could seriously harm our busines

Our failure to raise additional capital or generathe significant capital necessary to expand ourepations and invest in new products col
reduce our ability to compete and could harm ourdiness.

We expect that our existing cash and cash equitsaleifl be sufficient to meet our anticipated cagieds for at least the next 12
months. After that, we may need to raise additidmadls, and we may not be able to obtain additidedk or equity financing on favorable
terms, if at all. If we raise additional equity dimcing, our stockholders may experience significilation of their ownership interests and the
per-share value of our common stock could dechiuethermore, if we engage in debt financing, thieléis of debt would have priority over
the holders of common stock and we may be requr@gtcept terms that restrict our ability to inedditional indebtedness. We may also be
required to take other actions that would othenbisén the interests of the stockholders and fosct maintain specified liquidity or other
ratios, any of which could harm our business, dirggaesults and financial condition. If we needliéidnal capital and cannot raise it on
acceptable terms, we may not be able to, among ttimgs:

. develop or enhance our products and sen

. continue to expand our sales and marketing andurels@nd development organizatic
. acquire complementary technologies, products ocinksses

. expand operations, in the United States or inteonally;

. hire, train and retain employees

. respond to competitive pressures or unanticipatdkivwg capital requiremen

Our failure to do any of these things could serpbsrm our business, financial condition and ressaf operations.

Concentration of ownership among our existing exdiue officers, directors and their affiliates may@vent new investors from influencing
significant corporate decision:

As of February 17, 2012 , our executive officeiisgctors and their affiliates beneficially owned the aggregate, approximately
17.2% of our outstanding common stock. As a reghiise stockholders are able to exercise a signifievel of control over all matters
requiring stockholder approval, including the dleetof directors, amendment of our certificaterafdrporation and approval of significant
corporate transactions. This control could havesffect of delaying or preventing a change of carmf our company or changes in
management and will make the approval of certaindactions difficult or impossible without the sapf these stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificaté incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisionk@elaware law, could impair a
takeover attempt.
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Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delagviaw contain provisions that could have the eféeéeendering more difficult,
delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed umdeks by our board of directors. Our corporate goaece documents include provisions:

. creating a classified board of directors whoseniners serve staggered thyear terms

. authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, whimbuld be issued by the board without stockholgg@raval and may contain
voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights stipeto our common stock;

. limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and office
. limiting the ability of our stockholders to call@dbring business before special meeti
. requiring advance notice of stockholder prope$ail business to be conducted at meetings oftogkisolders and for

nominations of candidates for election to our bazrdirectors;
. controlling the procedures for the conduct and dahieg of board and stockholder meetings;

. providing the board of directors with the exgreswer to postpone previously scheduled annualingseand to cancel
previously scheduled special meetings.

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectawipions of Delaware law, including Section 203teé Delaware General
Corporation law, which prevents some stockholdetdihg more than 15.0% of our outstanding commonlsfrom engaging in certain
business combinations without approval of the haladé a substantial majority of all of our outstamgdcommon stock.

Any provision of our certificate of incorporatiom bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect ofgiglg or deterring a change in

control could limit the opportunity for our stocKders to receive a premium for their shares ofammmon stock, and could also affect the
price that some investors are willing to pay for common stock.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2.  Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located at 1090 Rifed, Sunnyvale, California in an office consigtof
approximately 107,000 square feet. The lease ferdffice expires in September 2013.

In addition to our headquarters, we lease appraeipd 4,000 square feet of data center space aot@dleof approximately 72,000
square feet of office space in several buildingBunnaby, Canada under various leases that exptregen March 2012 and July 2015;
approximately 16,000 square feet of office spad®tiawa, Canada under a lease that expires in BgbP015; approximately 19,000 square
feet of office space in Sophia, France under eeléaast expires in December 2013; and approxim&@e)§00 square feet of office space
in Beijing, China under a lease that expires in 4812012. We also lease sales and support officAsistralia, Austria, Belgium, Egypt,
Germany, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Israel, ltdgpan, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, the Netherlahidgsy Zealand, Philippines, Poland,
Russia, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Spain, Swedenz&udnd, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey, United Arab Eates, and the United Kingdom. We
believe that our existing properties are in gooddition and are sufficient and suitable for theawact of our business.
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

In August 2009, Trend Micro filed a complaint agstins in the Superior Court of the State of Cafifaffor Santa Clara County
alleging breach of contract and seeking a declgrggalgment that we are obligated to make certayalty payments to Trend Micro pursuant
to a settlement and license agreement enterednid@anuary 2006. In December 2011, we enteredasettlement agreement with Trend Mi
resolving the dispute for a one-time payment tan@rilicro of $9.0 million. The settlement agreemiactudes a fully paid license to the
patents subject to the prior patent license agraemi¢gh no continuing obligation to pay royalties those patents.

In August 2009, Enhanced Security Research, LLCSesualrity Research Holdings LLC (collectively “EJR4 non-practicing entity,
filed a complaint against us in the United Statéstriat Court for the District of Delaware allegimgfringement by us and other defendants of
two patents. The plaintiffs are claiming unspediftamages and requesting an injunction againstltbged infringement. In June 2010, the
Court granted our motion to stay pending the outeofireexamination proceedings on both assertezhisatThe U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office ("PTO") rejected all of the claims of thetgats in the suit and ESR has appealed this restlie Board of Patent Appeals and
Interferences (“BPAI"). We have determined thatphthis time, there is not a reasonable possjtitiat a loss may be incurred.

In April 2010, an individual, a former stockhold#rFortinet, filed a class action lawsuit againstclaiming unspecified damages in
the California Superior Court for the County of LAsgeles alleging violation of various Californimorations Code sections and related tort
claims alleging misrepresentation and breach afciiry duty regarding the 2009 repurchase by Fetrtifi shares of its stock while we were a
privately-held company. The plaintiff is claiminggpecified damages. In September 2010, the Coamtegt our motion to transfer the case to
the California Superior Court for Santa Clara Cguantd the plaintiff has filed an amended complairthe Superior Court to add individual
defendants, among other amendments. Currentlyatbe is in the early stages, and we have deterrtiag¢das of this time, there is not a
reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred.

In July 2010, Network Protection Sciences, LLC (R a non-practicing entity, filed a complainttire United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas alleging paterfitingement by us and other defendants. NPS isahgi unspecified damages, including treble
damages for willful infringement and requests garintion against such alleged infringement. In Delber 2011, the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas ordereddase to be transferred to the Northern DistricCalifornia.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

Part Il
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the symbol “FTNT.” The followingile sets forth, for the

time periods indicated, the high and low closinigsgrice of our common stock, adjusted to refleettwo-for-one split effective June 1, 2011,
as reported on The NASDAQ Global Select Market.

2011 2010
High ($) Low ($) High ($) Low ($)
Fourth Quarter 25.7¢ 16.5: 16.7: 12.0¢
Third Quarter 28.1% 16.2¢ 12.61 8.0C
Second Quarter 27.2¢ 18.9¢ 9.3z 7.5C
First Quarter 22.0¢ 16.5¢ 10.0¢ 7.8%

Holders of Recorc

As of February 17, 2012 , there were 105 holdergodrd of our common stock. A substantially greatember of holders of our
common stock are “street name” or beneficial hadehose shares are held by banks, brokers and othe
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financial institutions.
Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ocapital stock. We intend to retain all availahiads and any future earnings to
support the operation of and to finance the graavith development of our business. We do not antieipaying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination tola@eccash dividends will be made at the discretibour board of directors and will depend
our financial condition, operating results, capiuirements, general business conditions and &hwors that our board of directors may
deem relevant.

Stock Performance Grap

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filéal’ purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exghakct of 1934, as amended
(the "Exchange Act"), or incorporated by refereim® any filing of Fortinet under the SecuritiestAd€ 1933, as amended, or the Exchange
Act, except as shall be expressly set forth byifipeeference in such filing

The following graph shows a comparison from Novendl& 2009 through December 31, 2011 , of the cativd total return for our
common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and tASNAQ Computer Index. Such returns are based dordal results and are not
intended to suggest future performance. Data fer NASDAQ Composite Index and The NASDAQ Computelebnassume reinvestment of
dividends. We have never declared or paid cashieldds on our capital stock nor do we anticipaténgpsiny such cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Fortinet, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index ad
The NASDAQ Computer Index

5350

5300

$250

$200

$150

$50

11/09 12/09 03/10 06/10 09/10 12/10 03/11 06/11 09/11 12/11

—_—Fortinet ——NASDAQ Composite —#--NASDAQ Computer

11/09 12/09 03/10 06/10 09/10 12/10 03/11 06/11 09/11 12/11
Fortinet, Inc. $ 10C $ 10€ $ 106 $ 99 $ 15C $ 19t $ 26€ $ 32&¢ $ 20z $ 267
NASDAQ Composite ~ $ 10C $ 10€ $ 112 $ 98 $ 11C $ 124 $ 13C $ 12¢ $ 118 $ 121
NASDAQ Computer $10C $ 107 $11C $ 98 $ 111 $ 127 $ 131 $ 12¢ $ 11 $ 127

* $100 invested on 11/18/09 in stock or index, unidhg reinvestment of dividends.
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Sales of Unregistered Securitit

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer andikdted Purchasers

None.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

You should read the following selected consoliddtistorical financial data below in conjunction vihe section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” and the cddat#d financial statements, related
notes and other financial information included @isere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The sieddinancial data in this section is not
intended to replace the financial statements andadified in its entirety by the consolidated firéal statements and related notes thereto
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

We made the decision in the first quarter of 2@D6hange our financial reporting periods from adigo calendar basis. This change
was implemented in the third quarter of 2009 upomgletion of required system changes. Accordingtynmencing in the third quarter of
fiscal 2009, we began operating and reporting firelimesults on a calendar quarter and year b@sisthird quarter of fiscal 2009 ended on
September 30, 2009, and our fiscal year 2009 eadddecember 31, 2009. This transition had the efitmcreasing the number of days in
twelve months ended December 31, 2009 by four d&ysr to the third quarter of fiscal 2009, oureiriin fiscal quarters ended on the Sunday
closest to March 31, June 30 and September 30cbf ezar.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue:
Product
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total revenue
Cost of revenue:
Product”
Services’
Ratable and other revenue
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Product
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and developméht
Sales and marketirfg
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest income
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

Fiscal Year®
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
($ amounts in 000's, except per share amounts)
197,40¢ 135,14( 98,68¢ 94,58’ 70,13:
220,26¢ 172,04¢ 139,17 105,29: 74,15
15,90( 17,51( 14,257 11,91: 11,08t
433,57t 324,69¢ 252,11! 211,79: 155, 36¢
73,20: 51,94 42,16¢ 41,39 35,94¢
35,48¢ 26,967 22,26" 19,44 15,94
4,911 6,29 5,54¢ 4,63¢ 4,763
113,59¢ 85,20¢ 69,97¢ 65,47 56,65:
124,20° 83,19¢ 56,52( 53,19( 34,18
184,78. 145,07¢ 116,90° 85,85 58,21
10,98¢ 11,21°¢ 8,71: 7,27¢ 6,32(
319,97¢ 239,49( 182,14( 146,31¢ 98,71«
63,577 49,80: 42,19 37,03t 27,58¢
145,53: 111,96¢ 96,29 87,71 72,15¢
21,96¢ 22,38( 18,32( 16,64( 20,54«
231,07 184,14¢ 156,80t¢ 141,39: 120,29:
88,90 55,34! 25,33¢ 4,927 (21,577
3,52¢ 1,81¢ 1,981 2,61« 3,501
(359 (815) 19¢ 1,71(C (1,99))
92,07: 56,34: 27,51 9,251 (20,06))
29,58 15,09¢ (32,66¢) 1,88¢ 1,781
62,49: 41,248 60,17¢ 7,36 (21,847
0.41 0.2¢ 97 0.1¢ (0.5%)
0.3¢ 0.2¢ ¢ 0.14 (0.57)
152,58: 140,72¢ 52,66¢ 40,03 38,55:
163,78: 156,40t 130,43 53,28« 38,55:

Q) Our fiscal years ended on December 31, 20D&gember 31, 2010, December 31, 2009 , Dece@®)e2008 and December 30, 2007
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2) Includes stoclkased compensation expense as foll
Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
($ amounts in 000's)
Cost of product revenue 18z 101 10z 67 552
Cost of services revenue 1,79( 92¢ 65¢ 40C 41¢
Research and development 4,691 2,33¢ 1,96: 1,04¢ 1,452
Sales and marketing 9,32¢ 3,81( 3,02( 2,512 3,92¢
General and administrative 3,02¢ 2,13¢ 1,71¢ 1,271 2,98:
Total stock-based compensation 19,011 9,31¢ 7,46] 5,29¢ 9,33

As of Fiscal Year End

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

($ amounts in 000's)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 538,68t 387,46( 260,31 124,19( 90,16:
Working capital 256,70t 201,77¢ 161,65:. 38,19: 12,86:
Total assets 734,74 545,42; 387,21: 199,10! 145,19.
Convertible preferred stock — — — 94,36¢ 94,36¢
Common stock including treasury stock and

additional paid-in capital 314,18 249,00( 201,34( 20,85¢ 13,43¢
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 358,35¢ 232,45¢ 142,45:; (5,229 (18,92
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis dfinancial Condition and Results of Operations

In addition to historical information, this AnnuBRleport on Form 10-K contains forward-looking stagens within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and @e@1E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.d kegements include, among other things,
statements concerning our expectations regarding:

. variability in sales in certain product categoriffem year to year and between quarte

. continued sales into large enterprisi

. mix of billings between products and servic

. the significance of stock compensation as an exg

. the proportion of our revenue that consists of product and service revenues and future trends kespect to service

revenue as we renew existing services contractseapdnd our customer base;

. the impact of our product innovation strate:
. trends in revenue, costs of revenue, and grossimge
. trends in our operating expenses, including pergboosts, research and development expense, sadesarketing expense

and general and administrative expense;

. our effective tax rate

. our ability to generate taxable income and reatize tax benefits associated with our deferred sets;
. the impact of seasonality on our business;

. the sufficiency of our existing cash and investsemtneet our cash needs for at least the nextdrHms;

as well as other statements regarding our futurerafions, financial condition and prospects andibass strategies. These forward-
looking statements are subject to certain risks ancertainties that could cause our actual restdtsliffer materially from those reflected in
the forward-looking statements. Factors that catddse or contribute to such differences includée aoe not limited to, those discussed in this
Annual Report on Form -K and, in particular, the risks discussed under leading “Risk Factorsin Iltem 1A of this Annual Report on Fo
10-K and those discussed in other documents wevifitethe Securities and Exchange Commission. VWertaike no obligation to revise or
publicly release the results of any revision tosthéorwarclooking statements. Given these risks and uncergirreaders are cautioned not
place undue reliance on such forw-looking statements.

Business Overvie\

We provide network security solutions, which endiread, integrated and high performance protecgainst dynamic security
threats while simplifying the IT security infrastture for enterprises, service providers and gawemtal entities worldwide. As of
December 31, 2011 , we had shipped over 850,00aapps via more than 10,000 channel partners te ith@an 125,000 end-customers
worldwide, including a majority of the 2011 FortuGébal 100.

Our core UTM product line of FortiGate physical andual appliances ships with a set of securitg artworking capabilities,
including firewall, VPN, application control, antius, intrusion prevention, Web filtering, antispamd WAN acceleration functionality. We
derive a substantial majority of product sales fimm FortiGate appliances, which range from thdiGatte-20, designed for small businesses,
to the FortiGate-5000 series for large enterprisdgacommunications carriers, and service providets UTM solution also includes our
FortiGuard security subscription services, whict-enstomers can subscribe to in order to obtaiesecto dynamic updates to the application
control, antivirus, intrusion prevention, Web fiitgg, vulnerability management and antispam fumtliay included in our appliances. End-
customers can also choose to purchase FortiCérritet support services for our products. End-ausis also often use FortiManager and
FortiAnalyzer products in conjunction with a Foréiteé deployment to provide centralized managemeatysis and reporting capabilities. We
complement our core FortiGate product line witheotappliances and software that offer additionatqmtion from security threats to other
critical areas of the enterprise, such as messadiety application firewalls, databases, employee
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computers and mobile devices. Sales of these congpitary products have grown in recent quarterispafih these products still represent less
than 10.0% of our total revenue. During fiscal 20%% expanded and enhanced our FortiGate UTM aniAFosecure wireless access proc
lines, as well as introduced software-based virapgliances for many of our FortiGate and FortiMgergoroduct lines, which help secure the
end-customer's cloud-based network infrastructwittethe same functionality as the traditional phgsappliance in their respective product
lines.

Fiscal 2011 was our second full year as a publicgamny, following our initial public offering in Ne@mber 2009. We believe the
greater visibility and brand recognition derivedr being a public company, combined with succeseliing to the enterprise and service
provider customers and new product introductioesyexd as contributors to the growth in our busimesing fiscal 2011. Sales of FortiGate
products have generally been balanced across vy {FortiGate-20 to -100 series), mid-range {{8ate-200 to -800 series) and high-end
(FortiGate-1000 to -5000 series) models with eaddyct category representing approximately onadtbfrFortiGate sales, with some degree
of variability from year to year and between quiart®uring fiscal 2011 we executed well againstsitaitegy to grow the high-end segment of
our business, consisting of sales to large entsg&priservice providers and telecommunications coiepalhe percentage of our FortiGate
related billings from the high-end category incezhto 36.9% in fiscal 2011 from 34.3% in fiscal QQWwhile the entry-level category
decreased from 35.0% to 32.1%, and the mid-ranggoey remained relatively flat over the same pkrithis shift towards the high-end
category positively impacted results in fiscal 2011

We also believe continued product innovation heengthened our technology advantage as evidenc#tklsarlier introduction of
several noteworthy new FortiGate appliance modsts s the FG-60C, FG-3040B, FG-3950B and FG-500Li8ing fiscal 2011 we also
made a significant investment in our sales forcexjmand our global presence both geographicallyedisas by industry segment. We believe
these factors have allowed us to penetrate ingetagnterprise and service provider accounts aereed by the increase in the number of
deals involving sales greater than $100,000.

Billings (a non-GAAP financial measure that we defas total revenue plus the change in deferrezhee) were $475.8 million in
fiscal 2011, an increase of 26.7% compared tolfd@20 . Total revenue was $433.6 million for fis2@11 , an increase of 33.5% compared to
fiscal 2010 . Revenue for fiscal 2011 includes agjmately $20.0 million, or 4.6%, positive impaetated to the adoption of the new revenue
recognition rules, as described in our "Summargighificant Accounting Policies included in - Foota 1 of our Consolidated Financial
Statements."” The increase in revenue resulting fsramadoption of the new revenue recognition rwas attributable to both using "best
estimated sale price" in our allocation of arrangethtonsideration when we did not have vendor-§ipemtjective evidence ("VSOE"), and
being able to recognize upon shipment certain prodvenue, which would have been deferred undeptavious revenue recognition rules.
Product revenue was $197.4 million , an increas#6af% compared to fiscal 2010 , and a greaterepéage of total revenue (45.5% in fiscal
2011, compared to 41.6% in fiscal 2010 ). Intrdducof new products, including some non-FortiGateducts, was one factor in the growth
of our product revenue. Services revenue in fi26all was $220.3 million , an increase of 28.0% camag to fiscal 2010 . Services revenue is
important to our future revenue and profitabilis/iaprovides a source of recurring revenue foregresenting 50.8% and 53.0% of total
revenue for fiscal 2011 and 2010 , respectivelyaBla and other revenue in fiscal 2011 was $15IBomi, a decrease of 9.2% compared to
fiscal 2010 , primarily due to the decline in rdealevenue amortization due to the new revenuegration rules.

We are a global, geographically diversified bussn@gth 60.2% of our total revenue generated oatti@ United States, Canada and
Other Americas ("Americas") regions in fiscal 200Lr operating results were driven by strong penfiice across all geographies. For fiscal
2011 , Americas generated $172.5 million , or 39,8%our total revenue, representing an incred89@% from fiscal 2010 . Europe, Middle
East and Africa ("EMEA") generated $152.4 millioor,35.1% , of our total revenue during fiscal 2Q01&presenting an increase of 25.8%n
fiscal 2010 . Asia Pacific and Japan ("APAC") gerted $108.7 million , or 25.1% , of our total reverduring fiscal 2011, representing an
increase of 37.4% from fiscal 2010.

In fiscal 2011 , our total operating expenses vi&1.1 million, an increase of 25.5% compareddodi 2010. The 33.5% increase in
revenues compared to the 25.5% increase in opgrexipenses in fiscal 2011 (as discussed under IRefOperations” below) demonstrates
the leverage that we achieved from the efficientiesur business operations during the past yeaspide the negative impact of foreign
currency fluctuations experienced during fiscal ZQdperating expenses as a percentage of revesueaded to 53.4% from 56.7% during
fiscal 2010. We are also experiencing improvemamgsoductivity and efficiencies in our overall ldeaunt as our annualized fiscal 2011
revenue per employee, defined as annual revenidediby average headcount, reached $297,000, op$&%54,000 for fiscal 2010 .
Headcount increased from 1,336 at the end of fid8a0 to 1,583 at the end of fiscal 2011, as ouem hiring increased during fiscal 2011 ,
particularly in sales and marketing and researchdmvelopment.

Our Business Model
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Our sales strategy is based on a distribution matiereby we primarily sell our products and servideectly to distributors who sell
to resellers and service providers, who, in tuetl,te our end-customers. In certain cases, weddgttly to government-focused resellers, large
service providers and major systems integrators, dve significant purchasing power and uniqueccust deployment requirements.
Typically, FortiGuard security subscription sendg@nd FortiCare technical support services arehased along with our physical and virtual
appliances. We invoice at the time of our saldliertotal price of the products and subscriptioth sunpport services, and the invoice generally
becomes payable within 30 to 90 days. We generatlggnize product revenue up-front based on tleatiéd revenue value and defer revenue
for the sale of new and renewal subscription aqgbstt services contracts. We recognize the relsgedces revenue over the service period,
which is typically one year from the date the endtomer registers for these services (the datelochvthe services can first be used by the
customer), although it can be as long as five y&akes of new and renewal services increase derrdd revenue balance, which contributes
significantly to our positive cash flow from opecats.

Key Metrics

We monitor the key financial metrics set forth el help us evaluate growth trends, establish btgjgneasure the effectiveness of
our sales and marketing efforts, and assess opeaatfficiencies. Our total deferred revenue insezl by $42.2 million from $252.6 million at
December 31, 2010 to $294.8 million at Decembe2811 . Revenue recognized plus the change inréefeevenue from the beginning to the
end of the period is a useful metric that managéndemtifies as billings. Billings for services dei deferred revenue, which is an important
indicator of the health and visibility of our buess, and has historically represented a majorithefevenue that we recognize in a typical
quarter. We also ended fiscal 2011 with $538.7iomilin cash, cash equivalents and investments ane had positive cash flow from
operations every fiscal year since 2005. We disoesssnue, gross margin, and the components of tipgriacome and margin below under
“Components of Operating Results,” and we discusscash, cash equivalents, and investments undguidity and Capital Resources.”
Deferred revenue and cash provided by operatirigiées are discussed immediately below the follogviable.

Fiscal Year or as of Fiscal Year End

2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)
Revenue 433,57t 324,69¢ 252,11!
Gross margin 73.&% 73.&% 72.2%
Operating incomé& 88,90 55,34 25,33¢
Operating margin 20.5% 17.(% 10.(%
Total deferred revenue 294,83: 252,63: 201,93(
Increase in total deferred revenue 42,20: 50,70! 30,31
Cash, cash equivalents and investments 538,68 387,46( 260,31
Cash provided by operating activities 132,84 103,38 61,97:
Free cash flow 135,21¢ 99,607 57,38:
(1) Includes:
Stock-based compensation expense: 19,01t 9,31t 7,461
Non-cash asset acquisition related write-offs: — — 2,381
Patent settlement income 1,911 — —

(2) See below for definition of free cash flow.

Deferred revenuelur deferred revenue consists of amounts that baga invoiced but that have not yet been recograsegvenue.
The majority of our deferred revenue balance céssithe unamortized portion of services revemamfsubscription and support service
contracts. We monitor our deferred revenue baléecause it represents a significant portion of maeeo be recognized in future periods. The
following table reflects the calculation of billiags discussed above.
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)
Billings:
Revenue 433,57¢ 324,69¢ 252,11!
Increase in deferred revenue 42,20: 50,70: 30,31
Total billings (Non-GAAP) 475,77t 375,39 282,42¢

Cash provided by operating activitidd/e monitor cash provided by operating activitiesaseasure of our overall business
performance. Our cash provided by operating ai&wit driven in large part by advance paymentdéh new and renewal contracts for
subscription and support services. Monitoring gaslvided by operating activities enables us toyaeabur financial performance without the
non-cash effects of certain items such as depiecjamortization and stock-based compensationresgse thereby allowing us to better
understand and manage the cash needs of our baigitee cash flow, an alternative non-GAAP finalhtiaasure of liquidity, is defined as net
cash provided by operating activities less cagixplenditures.

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)

Cash Flow:
Net cash provided by operating activities 132,84 103,38: 61,97:

Less purchases of property and equipment (3,629 (3,776 (4,589
Free cash flow (Non-GAAP) 129,21t 99,60 57,38:
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (166,82¢) (283,710 13,75}
Net cash provided by financing activities 39,79: 34,01¢ 78,04¢

Other Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statempresented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we comsiddain financial measures
that are not prepared in accordance with GAAP uidiclg non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP operatingpime and non-GAAP operating
margin, non-GAAP operating expenses, hon-GAAP madrine and non-GAAP free cash flow. These non-GAARntial measures are not
based on any standardized methodology prescrib&iAAP and are not necessarily comparable to simileasures presented by other
companies.

We use these non-GAAP financial measures intermalynalyzing our financial results and believeythee useful to investors, as a
supplement to GAAP measures, in evaluating our imggoperational performance and enhancing an dvemderstanding of our past financial
performance, as they help illustrate underlyingdsein our business that could otherwise be mabjete effect of the expenses that we
exclude in these non-GAAP financial measures. leantiore, we use many of these measures to esthbligiets and operational goals for
managing our business and evaluating our performaie also believe that the use of these non-GA#dh€ial measures provides an
additional tool for investors to use in comparing cecurring core business operating results owdtipte periods with other companies in our
industry, many of which present similar non-GAARdfincial measures to investors.

These norcAAP financial measures should not be considerdsoilation from, or as a substitute for, finandérdbrmation prepared i
accordance with GAAP. There are a number of linutet related to the use of these non-GAAP finanuiehsures versus the nearest GAAP
equivalent of these financial measures. First,amem-GAAP financial measures exclude certain réogicharges including, but not limited to,
stock-based compensation expense, asset acquigtaiad write-offs, and patent settlements. Stoaged compensation has been, and will
continue to be for the foreseeable future, a siganit recurring expense in our business and isngoitant part of our employees' overall
compensation. Second, the expenses that we exclwde calculation of these non-GAAP financial me&as may differ from the expenses, if
any, that our peer companies may exclude whenréqayrt their results of operations. We compengatéhiese limitations by providing the
nearest GAAP equivalents of these non-GAAP findmasures and describing these GAAP equivalerasiirResults of Operations below.
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Non-GAAP gross margin is gross profit as reportedor consolidated statements of operations, ekalutthe impact of stock-based
compensation expense, which is a non-cash chage@®AAP income from operations is operating incoagereported on our consolidated
statements of operations, excluding the impactarfisbased compensation expense, asset acquisstated write-offs, and the income we
received from a patent settlement. Non-GAAP opegathargin is non-GAAP operating income divided byanue. The following table
reconciles GAAP gross profit, operating income, apdrating margin to non-GAAP gross profit, non-GAAperating income, and nG3AAP
operating margin for fiscal 2011 , 2010 and 2009 .

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
% of % of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue
($ amounts in 000's)

Total revenue 433,57¢ 324,69¢ 252,11!

GAAP gross profit and margin 319,97¢ 73.¢ 239,49( 73.8 182,14( 72.2
Stock-based compensation expense 1,97: 0.t 1,03(C 0.3 76C 0.3
Non-cash asset acquisition related write-offs — — — — 2,381 0.9

Non-GAAP gross profit and margin 321,95: 74.: 240,52( 74.1 185,28° 73.4

GAAP operating income and margin 88,90« 20.t 55,34 17.0 25,33« 10.0

Stock-based compensation expense:
Cost of revenue 1,97: 04 1,03(C 0.3 76C 0.3
Research and development 4,691 1.1 2,33¢ 0.9 1,96: 0.8
Sales and marketing 9,32¢ 2.2 3,81( 1.2 3,02( 1.2
General and administrative 3,02¢ 0.€ 2,13¢ 0.4 1,71¢ 0.7
Total stock-based compensation 19,01t 4.3 9,31¢ 2.8 7,461 3.0
Non-cash asset acquisition related write-offs — — — — 2,38 0.9
Patent settlements (1,91)) (0.9 — — — —
Non-GAAP operating income and margin 106,00¢ 24.4 64,65¢ 19.8 35,18: 13.9
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Non-GAAP operating expenses exclude the impactoaksbased compensation expense and the impalsé @fatent settlements. The
following table reconciles GAAP operating expenteson-GAAP operating expenses for fiscal 20111,and 2009 .

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
% of % of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue

($ amounts in 000's)
Operating Expenses:
Research and development expenses:

GAAP research and development expens 63,577 14.7 49,80: 15.2 42,19¢ 16.7

Stock-based compensation (4,69]) (1.1 (2,339 (0.9) (1,969 (0.9

Non-GAAP research and development

expenses 58,88¢ 13.¢ 47.46: 14.£ 40,23: 15.¢
Sales and marketing expenses:

GAAP sales and marketing expenses 145,53: 33.€ 111,96¢ 34.t 96,29: 38.2

Stock-based compensation (9,325 (2.2 (3,810 (1.2) (3,020 (1.2

Non-GAAP sales and marketing expense 136,20° 31.4 108,15t 33.c 93,27: 37.C
General and administrative expenses:

GAAP general and administrative expens 21,96" 5.1 22,38( 6.S 18,32( 7.3

Stock-based compensation (3,026 (0.€) (2,13¢) (0.9 (1,71¢) (0.7)

Patent settlements 1,911 0.4 — — — —

Non-GAAP general and administrative

expenses 20,85( 4.6 20,24 6.t 16,60z 6.€
Total operating expenses:

GAAP operating expenses 231,07 53.4 184,14¢ 56.7 156,80¢ 62.2

Stock-based compensation (17,049 (3.9 (8,285 (2.5) (6,702 (2.7)

Patent settlements 1,911 0.4 — — — —

Non-GAAP operating expenses 215,94: 49.¢ 175,86« 54.2 150,10! 59.t

Non-GAAP net income is net income, as reportediinamnsolidated statements of operations, exclutdingmpact of stock-based
compensation expense, asset acquisition related-offis, and patent settlements. The followingeaielconciles GAAP net income as reported
on our consolidated statements of operations te@AAP net income for fiscal 2011 , 2010 and 2009 .

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ and share amounts in 000's, except per share aomds)
Net Income:

GAAP net income 62,49: 41,24¢ 60,17¢
Stock-based compensation expefse 19,01t 9,31¢ 7,461
Non-cash asset acquisition related write-0ffs — — 2,38
Patent settlemenfs (1,919 — —
Provision for income taxes 29,58 15,09¢ (32,66¢)
Non-GAAP income before provision for income taxes 109,17 65,65¢ 37,36
Tax effects related to non-GAAP adjustmehits (36,029 (21,010 (6,877)

Non-GAAP net income 73,14¢ 44,64¢ 30,48

Non-GAAP net income per share - diluted 0.4¢ 0.2¢ 0.2%

Shares used in per share calculation - diluted 163,78 156,40¢ 130,43t
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1) Stock-based compensation expense and nonasash acquisition related write-offs are added badkAAP net income to reconcile to nGAAP income before taxe

2) The patent settlement income is removed frof\B net income to reconcile to ndBAAP income before taxe

3) Provision for income taxes is our GAAP prowisithat must be added to GAAP net income to ret®mainon-GAAP income before taxes. The provisionfiscal 2009
included a $37.8 million tax benefit from the resadrof our valuation allowance.

(4) We used a 33% effective tax rate in fiscal2€d calculate non-GAAP net income for fiscal 20TThe 33% and 32% effective tax rates for fiscal2@nd fiscal 2010,

respectively, both reflect the exclusion of GAAR®d stock option benefits, as well as the reindtBzleral R&D Credit.
Components of Operating Results
Revenue

We derive our revenue from sales of our productssarbscription and support services. In fiscal 20dd recognized our revenue in
accordance with the guidance in ASC 985-605-25 Wwiidiscussed in further detail in “—Critical Aagtting Policies and Estimates—
Revenue Recognition” below. According to ASC 98%-&5, revenue is recognized when persuasive evadehan arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or deiaahle and collection is probable.

Our total revenue is comprised of the following:

. Product revenur. Product revenue is generated from sales of qpliaaqzes and software. The substantial majoritgof
product revenue has been generated by our Fortlatef appliances, and we do not expect thishange in the foreseeable
future. Product revenue also includes revenue éétrirom sales of FortiManager, FortiAnalyzer, Fewitch, FortiMail,
FortiDB, FortiWeb, FortiAP, FortiScan, FortiCarriéortiBalancer, FortiCache, FortiBridge, and FHouthenticator
appliances, and our FortiClient and virtual domaimyDOM, software. Additionally, we generate reuerfrom the
TalkSwitch line of telephony products. We recogrpzeduct revenue on sales to distributors that mavgeneral right of
return and direct sales to end-customers upon s@mipgronce all other revenue recognition criteriaehlaeen met. We also
recognize revenue upon sell-through for distribatpreements that allow for rights of return. Suetilums are estimated and
recorded as a reduction to revenue. As a perceofageal revenue, we expect our product revenug vaay from quarter-to-
quarter based on seasonal and cyclical factorsisked below under “—Quarterly Results of Operatibus generally may
remain at relatively comparable levels or decliradestly over time, as services revenue becomeagerlportion of our
business as our customers renew existing servargsacts and we expand our customer base.

. Services revenueServices revenue is generated primarily fromiEare technical support services for software ugslat
maintenance releases and patches, Internet acceshhical content, telephone and Internet adoetechnical support
personnel and hardware support, and FortiGuardisgsubscription services related to applicationtrol, antivirus,
intrusion prevention, Web filtering, antispam andnerability management updates. We recognize mg@mm subscription
and support services over the service performaaded Our typical contractual support and subsiciipterm is one year
from the date of registration, although we do offerti-year support and subscription contracts.alée generate a small
portion of our revenue from professional serviced @aining services, and we recognize this revexsuthe services are
provided. As a percentage of total revenue, we &xpd@r services revenue to remain at comparabkddenr increase as our
customers renew existing service contracts andxparal our customer base. Our services revenue lgmateé depends
significantly on the growth of our customer basd #re renewal of service contracts by our curreistamers.

. Ratable and other reveni. Ratable and other revenue is generated from e&tmsr products and services in cases where the
fair value of the services being provided cannasdygarated from the value of the entire sale.ésdltases, the value of the
entire sale is deferred and recognized ratably theeservice performance period. See “—Critical datting Policies and
Estimates—Revenue Recognition.” Ratable and otharrue was formerly referred to as Ratable produdtservices
revenue. In 2011, this category includes a $2.6anikale of previously-acquired patents duringtthied quarter of fiscal
2011. In fiscal 2011 and 2010 , ratable and otbeemue represented approximately 4% and 5% ofrtetahue, respectively.
Over time we expect this category to continue tdide due to the new revenue recognition ruleschviallow us to use best
estimate of selling price ("BESP") in our allocatiof arrangement consideration when we do not NS@E.

Our total cost of revenue is comprised of the felfa:
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Cost of product revenueA substantial majority of the cost of producteaue consists of thirgarty manufacturing costs. C
cost of product revenue also includes productrtgstosts, write-offs for excess and obsolete inmgntroyalty payments,
amortization and any impairment of applicable agplintangible assets, warranty costs, shippingadiodated facilities
costs, stock-based compensation costs, and petsmste associated with logistics and quality colnfPersonnel costs
include cash-based personnel costs such as salzesfits and bonuses. Royalties reflect amowhdsed to the Trend Micro
litigation, which was settled in December 2011d&ssussed in “ltem 3 - Legal Proceedings.”

Cost of services revenu€ost of services revenue is primarily comprisedash-based personnel costs associated with our
FortiGuard Labs team and our technical supporfessional services and training teams, as welkasettiation, supplies,
data center, data communications, facility-relatests and stock-based compensation costs. We exectbst of services
revenue will increase as we continue to investlwssription and support services to meet the needar growing customer
base.

Cost of ratable and other revenu€ost of ratable and other revenue is comprisedagrily of deferred product costs and
services-related costs.

Gross profit. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue, or gnaggin, has been and will continue to be affetied variety of factors,
including the average sales price of our produnty,excess inventory write-offs, manufacturing spte mix of products sold and the mix of
revenue between products and services. We beliaveverall gross margin for the near term will rémat comparable levels compared to that
achieved in fiscal 2011 .

Services revenue has historically increased asaepige of total revenue since inception, andtthisd has had a positive effect on
our total gross margin given the higher servicesgmargins compared to product gross margins. &ierglly maintained consistent services
gross margins in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 .

Operating expensesOur operating expenses consist of research arelatenent, sales and marketing and general andréstnaitive
expenses. Personnel costs are the most significamponent of operating expenses and consist ofloasid personnel costs such as salaries,
benefits, bonuses and, with regard to the salesrakleting expense, and sales commissions. Theyralkide non-cash charges, specifically,
stock-based compensation. We expect personnel trostsitinue to increase in absolute dollars afineenew employees.

Research and developme¢. Research and development expense consists dyirmhdash-based personnel costs. Additional
research and development expenses include ASIGyatem prototypes and certification-related expgndepreciation of
capital equipment, facility-related expenses andisbased compensation expenses. The majorityrafesearch and
development is focused on both software developmedthe ongoing development of our hardware platféVe record all
research and development expenses as incurrehtérceapital equipment which is depreciated dirae. Our developmel
teams are primarily located in Canada, China, hadUnited States. We expect our spending for rebesrd development to
increase in absolute dollars but remain comparabie percentage of total revenue compared to 28 results.

Sales and marketingSales and marketing expense is the largest coempaf our operating expenses and primarily cossist
of cash-based personnel costs including salanefiiemnd commissions. Additional sales and maniegixpenses include
stock-based compensation, promotional and otheketing expenses, travel, depreciation of capitaiggent and facility-
related expenses. We intend to hire additionalgrersl focused on sales and marketing and expansabes and marketing
efforts worldwide in order to increase our preseinceew geographic markets and enterprise vertieald new customers a
increase penetration within our existing custonsseb Accordingly, we expect sales and marketingesgs to increase in
absolute dollars and to continue to be our largpstating expense but remain comparable as a fiageeaf total revenue
compared to fiscal 2011 results.

General and administrativeGeneral and administrative expense consistsstftzased personnel costs as well as profess
fees, stock-based compensation, depreciation dfat@guipment and software, and facility-relategenses. General and
administrative personnel include our executiveafice, human resources, information technology egall lorganizations. O
professional fees principally consist of outsidgale auditing, accounting, information technology ather consulting costs.
We expect that general and administrative expetis@arease in absolute dollars as we hire addailgpersonnel, make
improvements to our information technology infrasture, and defend our intellectual property, lemain
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comparable as a percentage of total revenue conhpafescal 2011 results, barring unforeseen ltima

Interest incomelnterest income consists of income earned on ah,ca@ash equivalents and investments. We havericiity investec
our cash in money market funds, commercial papeparate debt securities, municipal bonds, termodiép, and U.S. government and agency
debt securities.

Other income (expense), nédther income (expense), net consists primarifpofign exchange and related hedging gains arse$os
Foreign exchange gains and losses relate to foreigency exchange re-measurement. The hedging gathlosses are related to our settled
balance sheet hedges.

Provision for (benefit from) income tax&¥e are subject to tax in the United States as agetither tax jurisdictions or countries in
which we conduct business. Earnings from our bo&- activities are subject to income taxes inltieal country which are generally lower tl
U.S. tax rates, and may be subject to current ldc®me taxes. Our effective tax rates differ frava U.S. statutory rate primarily due to fore
income subject to different tax rates than the UeXearch and development tax credits, withholthmgs, nondeductible compensation and
expenses and adjustments related to our intercoyrtpamsfer pricing.

The income tax provision for fiscal 2011 was cora@di primarily of domestic income taxes, foreigroime taxes and withholding
taxes. The 2011 effective tax rate was impactethbynclusion of stock option benefits, which atéztthe transfer pricing calculations
between some of our foreign subsidiaries as wethaseinstated U.S. Federal Research and Develupha Credit. The income tax provisi
for fiscal 2009 reflected a tax benefit relatedtte release of the valuation allowance, which teslih the recognition of deferred tax assets
a result of fully reversing our valuation allowanee expect that our effective tax rate will appnoate the U.S. federal statutory tax rates plus
the impact of state taxes, research and developtaewtedits (when applicable), withholding taxpdeductible compensation and adjustments
related to intercompany transfer pricing.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon panfial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Theseiples require us to make estimates and judgsnttiatt affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, cashdiitml related disclosure of contingent assetsiabdities. Our estimates include those related
to revenue recognition, stock-based compensatanation of inventory, warranty liabilities and acmting for income taxes. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on varidlisr@ssumptions that we believe to be reasonadlerihe circumstances. Actual results
differ from these estimates. To the extent thatetteee material differences between these estinaai@®ur actual results, our future financial
statements will be affected.

We believe that of our significant accounting piels; which are described in Note 1 to the finansfatements included in this 10-K,
the following accounting policies involve a greadegree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, bedieve these are the most critical to
fully understand and evaluate our financial cooditand results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

In October 2009, the FASB amended the ASC as suip@thin Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 200!, Software (Topic
985): Certain Revenue Arrangements That Includensoé Elementsand ASU No. 2009-1Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme. ASU 2009-14 amends industry specific revenue @atiing guidance for software and software related
transactions to exclude from its scope tangibl@pets containing software components and non-soffwamponents that function together to
deliver the product's essential functionality. A3QD9-13 amends the accounting for multiple-elenagrangements to provide guidance on
how the deliverables in an arrangement should paraéed and eliminates the use of the residualgdethSU 2009-13 also requires an entity
to allocate revenue using the relative sellinggrieethod. The standard establishes a hierarchyiddrece to determine the stand-alone selling
price of a deliverable based on VSOE, third-pavigence ("TPE"), and the BESP. If VSOE is availaltlevould be used to determine the
selling price of a deliverable. If VSOE is not dahble, the entity would determine whether TPE igil@ble. If so, TPE must be used to
determine the selling price. If TPE is not avaiiglthen the BESP would be used.

For all transactions originating or materially nvfoell after December 31, 2010, we recognize revémaecordance with ASU 2009-
13. Certain arrangements with multiple deliveralohesy continue to have software deliverables thasabject to ASC 985-605 along with non-
software deliverables that are subject to the ABDO213. When a sales arrangement contains muétlptaents, such as hardware appliances,
software, customer support services, and/or prifieakservices, we
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allocate revenue to each element based on thenadoteoned selling price hierarchy. In multiple elmharrangements where software is more-
than-incidental, revenue is allocated to each sgpamit of accounting for each of the non-softwdelverables and to the software
deliverables as a group using the relative sepiriges of each of the deliverables in the arrangerhased on the selling price hierarchy in #
2009-13.

VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangemsittased upon the normal pricing and discountingtjwes for those services when
sold separately. In determining VSOE, we requieg thsubstantial majority of the selling pricesdaervice fall within a reasonably narrow
pricing range, generally evidenced by a substant&brity of such historical stand-alone transawifalling within a reasonably narrow range
of the median rates. In addition, we consider maggments, geographies, customer classificatiomsptner variables in determining VSOE.

We are typically not able to determine TPE for products or services. TPE is determined based mpettor prices for similar
deliverables when sold separately. Generally, odtognarket strategy differs from that of our peers andofferings contain a significant le’
of differentiation such that the comparable pricofgrroducts with similar functionality cannot bbtained. Furthermore, we are unable to
reliably determine what similar competitor produstdling prices are on a stand-alone basis.

For our hardware appliances we use BESP as oingeliice. For our support and services, we gelyeuske VSOE as our selling
price. When we are unable to establish a sellingeprsing VSOE for our support and services, weBE8P in our allocation of arrangement
consideration. The objective of BESP is to detemntire price at which we would transact a saledfgtoduct or service were sold on a stand-
alone basis. We determine BESP for a product eicgeby considering multiple factors including, imait limited to, cost of products, gross
margin objectives, pricing practices, geographiestomer classes and distribution channels. Weweour BESP estimates on a quarterly
basis to coincide with our VSOE review process.

We derive revenue from sales of products, includippliances and software, and services, includilgaiption, support and other
services. Our appliances include operating syste#tware that is integrated into the appliance handwand is deemed essential to its
functionality. As a result, we account for revetmiaccordance with ASC 985-605 and all relatedrpretations. See “—Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to temsolidated financial statements” for a discussibnew revenue recognition standards that
we adopted in fiscal 2011.

Revenue can be recognized when all of the folloveirigria have been met:

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement e»Binding contracts or purchase orders are geneuskyl to determine the
existence of an arrangement.

. Delivery has occurrecDelivery occurs when we fulfill an order and tilad risk of loss has been transferred or upon eliv
of the service contract registration code.

. The fee is fixed or determinabl&'e assess whether the fee is fixed or determinzsed on the payment terms associated
with the transaction. In the event payment ternffeidirom our standard business practices, the deesleemed to be not
fixed or determinable and revenue is recognizedwhe payments become due, provided the remaimitegia for revenue
recognition have been met.

. Collectability is probableWe assess collectability based primarily on credithiness as determined by credit checks and
analysis, as well as payment history. Payment tgengrally range from 30 to 90 days from invoicteda

For arrangements which include end-customer aceeeteriteria, revenue is recognized upon acceptdileaecognize product
revenue on sales to distributors that have no génight of return and direct sales to end-cust@mgron shipment, once all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met. We also recgrgévenue upon sell-through for distributor agreets that allow for rights of return. Such
returns are estimated and recorded as a reducti@vénue. Substantially all of our products hagerbsold in combination with services,
which consist of subscriptions and/or support. 8tipton services provide access to our antivimisusion prevention, web filtering, and anti-
spam functionality. Support services include rigbtsinspecified software upgrades, maintenancaseteand patches, telephone and Internet
access to technical support personnel, and hardsuggort.

The subscription and support services start oml#te the customer registers the appliance. Themestis then entitled to service for
the stated contractual period beginning on thestesgion date.
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We offer certain sales incentives to channel pasti&'e reduce revenue for estimates of sales ietad allowances. Additionally, in
limited circumstances, we allow our customers tarreour products, subject to varying limitatiofay, a refund within a reasonably short
period of time from the date of purchase. We edenaad record reserves for sales incentives aed salurns based on historical experience.

At December 31, 2011, our allowance for salesrnstwas $2.4 million compared to $2.0 million atcBeber 31, 2010 . If our
allowance for sales returns had increased by 1000%0.2 million , our net revenue would have dasssl by $0.2 million in fiscal 2011 .

Stock-Based Compensation

EmployeesWe have accounted for stock-based awards to emgddpeaccordance with ASC 718, which requires caragtion
expense related to share-based transactions, ingledhployee stock options, to be measured andyréoed in the financial statements based
on a determination of the fair value of the stopkans. The grant date fair value is determinedgishe Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-
Scholes”) pricing model. For all employee stockiams, we recognize expense over the requisite@pariod using the straight-line method.
Our option pricing model requires the input of Higbubjective assumptions, including the expectedksprice volatility, expected term, and
forfeiture rate. Any changes in these highly sutiyjecassumptions could significantly impact sto@séd compensation expense.

Employee Stock Purchase Plalie apply ASC 718 to stock purchase rights, whicjuites compensation expense related to share-
based transactions, including stock purchase righder our employee stock purchase plan ("ESP&Yetmeasured and recognized in the
financial statements based on fair value. The gitatd fair value is determined using the Black-$&hdlerton (“Black-Scholes”) pricing
model. Our ESPP provides for consecutive six-maofffigring periods, with the first offering periodiag commenced on August 15, 2011 and
ended on February 14, 2012.

Valuation of Inventory

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost (usimg first-in, first-out method) or market, after gi@e appropriate consideration to
obsolescence and inventory in excess of anticipiatede demand. In assessing the ultimate recoilgyatf inventory, we are required to me
estimates regarding future customer demand, thadiof new product introductions, economic trendd enarket conditions. If the actual
product demand is significantly lower than foreedstwe could be required to record additional inegnwrite-downs which would be charged
to cost of product revenue. Any write-downs coudddran adverse impact on our gross margins andahidify.

Warranty Liabilities

We generally provide a one-year warranty on hardvwpaoducts and a 90-day warranty on software. Aipian for estimated future
costs related to warranty activities is chargedast of product revenue based upon historical proffilure rates and historical costs incurred
in correcting product failures. If we experienceirerease in warranty claims compared with ourdnisal experience, or if the cost of servic
warranty claims is greater than expected, our gmagin could be adversely affected.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We record income taxes using the asset and lialbiléthod, which requires the recognition of defeiaex assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events thatleen recognized in our financial statementsyorgturns. In estimating future tax
consequences, generally all expected future eathés than enactments or changes in the tax laates are considered. Valuation allowances
are provided when necessary to reduce deferreastsets to the amount expected to be realized.

We operate in various tax jurisdictions and argestitio audit by various tax authorities. We prevfdr tax contingencies whenever it
is deemed more likely than not that a tax assebbas impaired or a tax liability has been incufi@@devents such as tax claims or changes in
tax laws. Tax contingencies are based upon thefinieal merits, relevant tax law and the spec#ict$ and circumstances as of each reporting
period. Changes in facts and circumstances cosldtrim material changes to the amounts recordeduoh tax contingencies.

We account for uncertain tax positions in accoréamith ASC 740-10, which defines the confidencesléhat a tax position must
meet in order to be recognized in the financiaksteents. ASC 740-10 requires that the tax effeicéspmsition be recognized only if it isnbre
likely than not” to be sustained based solely sri@thnical merits as of the reporting date. We
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consider many factors when evaluating and estimatur tax positions and tax benefits, which maynegperiodic adjustments and which r
not accurately anticipate actual outcomes.

As part of the process of preparing our consoldifiteancial statements, we are required to estiroatgaxes in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. We estimate actuwrrent tax exposure together with assessingdeany differences resulting from differi
treatment of items, such as accruals and allowamatsurrently deductible for tax purposes. Thaffernces result in deferred tax assets,
which are included in our consolidated balance tshée general, deferred tax assets representeftdxrbenefits to be received when certain
expenses previously recognized in our consolidstaigments of operations become deductible expemsks applicable income tax laws, or
loss or credit carryforwards are utilized.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax @sseanagement considers whether it is more littedy not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will be realized. The alténrealization of deferred tax assets is depengsmt the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary diffexes become deductible. During the fourth quartéiscal 2009 we concluded that it was
more likely than not that we would be able to rsalihe benefit of our deferred tax assets in thadéuWe based this conclusion on historical
and projected operating performance, as well agxpectation that our operations will generateisigfiit taxable income in future periods to
realize the tax benefits associated with the defetax assets. As a result, we released all ofah&tion allowance on our net deferred tax
assets. We will continue to assess the need fatuation allowance on the deferred tax asset bjuatiag both positive and negative evidence
that may exist. Any adjustment to the net defeteadasset valuation allowance would be recordetiérincome statement for the period that
the adjustment is determined to be required.

We make estimates and judgments about our futdedla income that are based on assumptions thabaséstent with our plans and
estimates. Should the actual amounts differ fromestimates, the amount of our tax expense andified could be materially impacted.

Results of Operation

The following tables set forth our results of ogtienas for the periods presented and as a perceofage total revenue for those
periods. The period-to-period comparison of finahoésults is not necessarily indicative of finahecesults to be achieved in future periods.
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009%
($ amounts in 000's)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue

Product 197,40¢ 135,14( 98,68t

Services 220,26¢ 172,04¢ 139,17:

Ratable and other revenue 15,90( 17,51( 14,257
Total revenue 433,57t 324,69¢ 252,11!
Cost of revenue

Product 73,20: 51,94 42,16¢

Services 35,48¢ 26,96 22,26

Ratable and other revenue 4,911 6,29¢ 5,54¢
Total cost of revenues 113,59¢ 85,20¢ 69,97¢
Gross profit

Product 124,20° 83,19¢ 56,52(

Services 184,78 145,07¢ 116,90

Ratable and other revenue 10,98¢ 11,21¢ 8,71:
Total gross profit 319,97¢ 239,49( 182,14(
Operating expenses

Research and development 63,577 49,80: 42,19t

Sales and marketing 145,53: 111,96¢ 96,29:

General and administrative 21,96¢ 22,38( 18,32(
Total operating expenses 231,07- 184,14¢ 156,80t
Operating income 88,90« 55,34 25,33«
Interest income 3,52 1,81t 1,981
Other income (expense), net (354) (815) 19¢
Income before income taxes 92,07: 56,34: 27,51
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 29,58: 15,09¢ (32,66¢)
Net income 62,49: 41,24* 60,17¢
@ Commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2008e began operating and reporting financial resutt a calendar quarter and year basis. This cha

period end had the effect of increasing the nurobeays in fiscal 2009 by four days.
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
(as % of revenue)

Revenue

Product 45.F 41.¢€ 39.1

Services 50.¢ 53.C 55.2

Ratable and other revenue 3.7 5.4 5.7
Total revenue 100.C 100.( 100.(
Total cost of revenue 26.2 26.2 27.¢
Total gross profit 73.¢ 73.¢ 72.2
Operating expenses

Research and development 14.7 15.2 16.7

Sales and marketing 33.¢ 34.€ 38.2

General and administrative 5.1 6. 7.3
Total operating expenses 53.4 56.¢ 62.2
Operating income 20.k 17.C 10.C
Interest income 0.8 0.7 0.8
Other income (expense), net (0.2) (0.2) 0.1
Income before provision for income taxes 21.2 17.t 10.¢
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 6.8 4.€ (23.0
Net income 14.£ 12.¢ 23.¢

Fiscal Years 2011 and 2010

Revenue
Fiscal Year
2011 2010
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Revenue:
Product 197,40¢ 455 135,14( 41.6 62,26¢ 46.1
Services 220,26¢ 50.8 172,04¢ 53.0 48,22: 28.C
Ratable and other revenue 15,90( 3.7 17,51( 5.4 (1,610 (9.2)
Total revenue 433,57¢ 100.0 324,69¢ 100.0 108,88( 33
Revenue by Geography:
Americas 172,49: 39.8 123,96 38.2 48,53: 39.2
EMEA 152,38! 35.1 121,60 37.5 30,78: 25.%
APAC 108,69° 25.1 79,13 24.3 29,56¢ 37.4
Total revenue 433,57¢ 100.0 324,69¢ 100.0 108,88( 33.F

Total revenue increased $108.9 million , or 33.586fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 . The amwpdf the new revenue
recognition rules, described in Note 1of our Coitlsted Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8hi§ Annual Report on Form 10-K,
contributed $20.0 million of the increase, primaxilith respect to product revenue. The AmericasARAC regions contributed the largest
portion of our revenue growth on a percentage bRsduct revenue increased $62.3 million , or %6, Tompared to fiscal 2010rhe increas
in product revenue was primarily driven by greates volume and higher average sales prices ik@tiGate product family due to increa:
demand for our high-end products from enterprigksavice provider customers. The impact of adgpitie new revenue recognition rules
referenced above also contributed to the incraapeoduct revenue. Services revenue increased $4i8i@n , or 28.0% , in fiscal 2011
compared to fiscal 2010 due to the recognitioresEnue from our increased focus on contract rerseara our growing deferred revenue
balance consisting of subscription and supportrectg sold to a larger customer base. Ratable t#ed cevenue was $4.2 million lower due to
the impact of no longer deferring ratable revermia gesult of the above-mentioned adoption of reaxemue recognition rules,
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offset by a $2.6 million sale of previously-acqdiggatents.

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)

Cost of revenue:

Product 73,20: 51,94« 21,257 40.¢

Services 35,48¢ 26,967 8,51¢ 31.¢

Ratable and other revenue 4,911 6,29¢ (1,389 (22.0
Total cost of revenue 113,59¢ 85,20¢ 28,39: 33.c
Gross margin (%):

Product 62.¢ 61.€ 1.3

Services 83.¢ 84.c (0.9

Ratable and other revenue 69.1 64.C 5.1
Total gross margin 73.¢ 73.¢ —

Total gross margin remained consistent in fiscdll2€ompared to fiscal 2010 . Product gross margireased 1.percentage points
fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 2010 primarily daatgreater mix of our high-end products. From timdme, we have experienced sales of
previously reserved inventory. During fiscal 20V, experienced a positive impact of 0.4 percenpagets in our product gross margin due to
the sale of fully reserved inventory compared pwsitive impact of 0.7 percentage points in fi2@10. Services gross margin was relatively
flat as we continued to make investments in oupsettp professional services and FortiGuard globalsty organizations at a rate slightly
greater than the increase in revenue in order ppdse service capabilities. Services cost incredge®B.5 million primarily due to a $6.1
million increase in cash-based personnel costtectla headcount increases, a $0.9 million incr@astock-based compensation, a $0.8
million increase in warranty and other expensesaafi.7 million increase in professional servicests. Ratable and other revenue gross
margin increased 5.1 percentage points as a i@sal$2.6 million sale of previously-acquired pageduring fiscal 2011, which had a direct
positive impact to gross margins.

Operating Expenses

Fiscal Year
2011 2010

% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue $ Change % Change

($ amounts in 000's)

Operating expenses:

Research and development 63,577 14.7 49,80: 15.3 13,77¢ 27.0
Sales and marketing 145,53: 33.6 111,96¢ 34.5 33,56¢ 30.C
General and administrative 21,96¢ 51 22,38( 6.9 (415) (1.9
Total operating expenses 231,07 53.4 184,14¢ 56.7 46,92¢ 25 ¢

Research and development expense

Research and development expense increased $1Bdhmor 27.7% , in fiscal 2011 compared to fise@10 primarily due to an
increase in cash-based personnel costs and stgektbampensation expense. Cash-based personreiremetised by $9.7 million as a result
of increased headcount to support continued enna@ees of our existing products. Stock-based congiemsexpense increased by $2.4
million primarily due to the increase in headcoant stock price, and the introduction of the ESPfistal 2011. In addition, we incurred
increases in product development expenses, suthragecurring engineering (NRE), testing and cegtfons of $0.8 million, depreciation
expense of $0.6 million, occupancy-related costs0o2 million and other expenses of $0.1 millioheTincrease in the Canadian dollar
exchange rate against the US dollar also signifigaontributed to the increase in research anetlibgment expenses by $2.0 million.
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Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense increased $33.6 mjlbo30.0% , in fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal 8% we continued to increase
sales headcount in order to expand our global fodtpgCash-based personnel costs increased by $3lli@n primarily as a result of increased
headcount. Stock-based compensation expense iedrbgsh5.5 million primarily due to the increaséhgadcount and stock price, and the
introduction of the ESPP in fiscal 2011. In additiave incurred increases in marketing-related egegiof $2.9 million and travel of $1.5
million to support our overall revenue growth of3%. We also had a combined $1.6 million increasdeipreciation and other expenses and a
$0.8 million increase in occupancy-related cossafercentage of revenue, sales and marketingespelecreased 0.9 percentage points due
to the leverage we are achieving from the investrimeaur sales force in fiscal 2011, as evidencgdevenue growth of 33.5% exceeding sales
and marketing expenses growth of 30.0%.

General and administrative expense

In fiscal 2011 , general and administrative expetesreased $0.4 million , or 1.9% , compared @afi2010 . Cash-based personnel
costs increased $1.5 million, stock-based compemsakpense increased $0.9 million and occupaniege® costs and other expenses
increased a combined $0.1 million, partially offegt$2.0 million in royalties received from a pdteattlement and a $1.0 million decrease in

legal expenses compared to fiscal 2010.

Interest income and other income (expense),

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Interest income 3,52¢ 1,81¢ 1,70¢ 94.1
Other expense, net (354) (815) 461 (56.€)

The $1.7 million increase in interest income irdis2011 compared to fiscal 2010 was primarily ttumterest earned on our higher
balances of cash, cash equivalents and investmBmtschange in other income (expense), net foafi2811when compared to fiscal 2010 v
the result of lower foreign exchange losses inafi@011.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxe

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Provision for income taxes 29,58 15,09¢ 14,48¢ 96.0
Effective tax rate (%) 32.1 26.¢ — 5.3

Our effective tax rate was 32.1% for fiscal 20tbmpared with an effective tax rate of 26.8% fecél 2010 . The provision for
income taxes for fiscal 2011 was comprised prigarflfederal, state and foreign income taxes. ToEOZ2ffective tax rate is impacted by the
inclusion of stock option benefits, which affectbeé transfer pricing calculations between someunfforeign subsidiaries, as well as the
reinstated U.S. Federal Research and Developmen€iiedit. The increase in the provision for incotaees for fiscal 2011 compared to fiscal
2010 was primarily due to an increase in profitsjsct to U.S. tax.
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Fiscal Years 2010 and 2009

Revenue
Fiscal Year
2010 2009
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Revenue:
Product 135,14( 41.6 98,68¢ 39.1 36,45¢ 36.9
Services 172,04¢ 53.0 139,17. 55.2 32,87« 23.6
Ratable and other revenue 17,51( 54 14,25 5.7 3,25 22.8
Total revenue 324,69¢ 100.0 252,11! 100.0 72,58 28.8
Revenue by Geography:
Americas 123,96: 38.2 92,62: 36.7 31,34( 33.8
EMEA 121,60 37.5 95,88¢ 38.1 25,71¢ 26.8
APAC 79,13: 24.3 63,60¢ 25.2 15,52 24.4
Total revenue 324,69¢ 100.0 252,11! 100.0 72,58: 28.8

Total revenue increased $72.6 million, or 28.8%jdoal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. The Amerieggon contributed the largest
portion of this growth. Product revenue increasgé.$ million, or 36.9%, compared to fiscal 2009eThcrease in product revenue was driven
by higher product sales volume across all regidngreater mix of our high-end products and incrdasses to enterprise and service provider
customers contributed to a 79% increase in the enmb$500,000+ deals in fiscal 2010 comparedscdii 2009. Services revenue increased
$32.9 million, or 23.6%, in fiscal 2010 comparediszal 2009 due to the recognition of revenue fram growing deferred revenue balance
consisting of subscription and support contracks 8oa larger customer base and our increasedfosicontract renewals. The growth in
services revenue tends to lag growth in billingd product revenue due to amortization of revenues the service period. The growth in
ratable and other revenue was due to a slight dseri@ the weighted-average service period asult sa decrease in the average contractual
term of support contracts for arrangements in whielrecognized product and services revenue ratably

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)

Cost of revenue:

Product 51,94 42,16¢ 9,77¢ 23.2

Services 26,96 22,26¢ 4,70z 21.1

Ratable and other revenue 6,29¢ 5,54¢ 751 135
Total cost of revenue 85,20¢ 69,97¢ 15,23 21.8
Gross margin (%):

Product 61.€ 57.% 4.3

Services 84.: 84.C 0.2

Ratable and other revenue 64.C 61.1 2.¢
Total gross margin 73.¢ 72.2 1.€

Total gross margin increased 1.6 percentage pimititscal 2010 primarily due to improved productngias in fiscal 2010 compared
fiscal 2009. Product gross margin increased 4.8gmtage points in fiscal 2010 compared to fisc@2@rimarily due to a greater mix of our
high-end products and the absence of asset adguisilated write-offs compared to a $2.4 milliorite-off in fiscal 2009. From time to time,
we have experienced sales of previously reserweshiory. During fiscal 2010, we experienced a pesitmpact of 0.7 percentage points due
to the sale of fully reserved inventory compared to
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positive impact of 1.1 percentage points in fist@09. Services gross margin was relatively flavasontinued to make investments in our
support, professional services and FortiGuard dlséeurity research organizations to support tloevgrg revenue base. Services cost incre
by $4.7 million primarily due to a $2.9 million irease in cash-based personnel costs related tadwe#dncreases. Travel, depreciation and
other expenses increased a combined $0.8 millioaddition, occupancy-related costs increased ®dlibn and stock-based compensation
increased $0.3 million. Ratable and other revemoeggmargin increased 2.9 percentage points auli of leverage achieved from cost
reductions with respect to overhead.

Operating expenses

Fiscal Year
2010 2009
% of % of
Amount ($) Revenue Amount ($) Revenue $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Operating expenses:

Research and development 49,80: 15.3 42,19t 16.7 7,60¢ 18.0
Sales and marketing 111,96¢ 34.5 96,29: 38.2 15,677 16.3
General and administrative 22,38( 6.9 18,32( 7.3 4,06( 22.2
Total operating expenses 184,14¢ 56.7 156,80¢ 62.2 27,34 17.4

Research and development expense

Research and development expense increased $Tidhnor 18.0%, in fiscal 2010 compared to fisc@0Q2 primarily due to an
increase of $5.2 million in cash-based personnstiscas a result of increased headcount to suppetinced enhancements of our products,
higher occupancy-related costs of $1.7 million thuea move into a new office facility in Vancouveithvsignificantly increased square footage,
plus early termination and moving costs, an inae#Hs$0.4 million in stock-based compensation espeand an increase of $0.3 million in
product development related expenses, such asawomring engineering (NRE), testing and certifioati. A 10% increase in the Canadian
dollar exchange rate against the US dollar alsoifségntly contributed to the increase in reseaantd development expenses.

Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense increased $15.7 mitiob6.3%, in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2@89ve continued to increase our
sales headcount in order to expand our global foutprhe increase consisted of cash-based perboansts of $14.5 million as a result of
increased headcount, a $1.3 million increase wetras a result of our overall sales growth of 288d particularly sales growth in the Ameri
of 34%, a $0.8 million increase in stock-based censgation expense, and a $0.2 million increasedfepsional services. These increases were
partially offset by a $1.1 million decrease in netikg-related expenses. As a percentage of reveales and marketing expenses decreased
3.7 percentage points due to the leverage we &iewacg from the investment in our sales force dgthe past year, as evidenced by revenue
growth of 29% exceeding sales and marketing exgegsevth of 16%.

General and administrative expense

In fiscal 2010, general and administrative expenseeased $4.1 million, or 22.2%, compared to fi2€D9. The increase was
primarily due to a $1.8 million increase in legabenses to support various patent litigation mataerd a $0.6 million increase in accounting-
related expenses due to being a public comparmaddittion, cash-based personnel costs increased$llich and stock-based compensation

expense increased $0.4 million.

Interest income and other income (expense),

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Interest income 1,81¢ 1,981 (16€) (8.4)
Other income (expense), net (815) 19¢ (1,019 (511.¢
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The $0.2 million decrease in interest income indi2010 compared to fiscal 2009 was due to lomerést rates earned, despite
higher balances of cash, cash equivalents andtmeass. The change in other income (expense)ondistal 2010 when compared to fiscal
2009 was the result of foreign exchange losseis@alf2010 due to the weakening of the U.S. daltsinst the Australian Dollar, Chinese
Yuan, and Japanese Yen.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxe

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 $ Change % Change
($ amounts in 000's)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 15,09¢ (32,66¢) 47,76 *
Effective tax rate (%) 26.¢ (118.%) *

*not meaningful

Our effective tax rate was 26.8% for fiscal 201dimpared with an effective tax rate of negative I%8for fiscal 2009. The provision
for income taxes for fiscal 2010 is comprised priiflgaof federal, state and foreign income taxese P10 effective tax rate is impacted by the
inclusion of stock option benefits, which affectbeé transfer pricing calculations between someuofforeign subsidiaries, as well as the
reinstated U.S. Federal Research and Developmen€iiedit. The increase in the provision for incotaees for fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal
2009 reflected the release of the valuation allaxeaagainst our net deferred tax assets in fisda® 20/e generated pretax income in fiscal
2009 and 2008. As a result of this positive earsitngnd and projected future taxable income, wensad approximately $44.2 million of
deferred tax asset valuation allowance in fisc@®8&fter having determined that it was more likblgn not that our deferred tax assets would
be realized. This reversal resulted in recognitiban income tax benefit totaling $37.8 million. IGastimates of future taxable income
represent critical accounting estimates becaude estimates are subject to change and a downwgrstarent could have a significant impact
on future earnings. Furthermore, we continue tdusta our net deferred tax asset position, in idg#w the likelihood of realization of our
deferred tax assets.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited qudytstatements of operations data for the lasttdighal quarters. The information 1
each of these quarters has been prepared on tleebzenis as the audited annual financial statenieeiteded elsewhere in this annual report
and, in the opinion of management, includes alistijents, which includes only normal recurring atijients, necessary for the fair
presentation of the results of operations for theg@ds. This data should be read in conjunctigh wur audited consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhéhésiannual report. These quarterly operating tesuk not necessarily indicative of our
operating results for any future period.

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

($ amounts in 000's, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements o
Operations Data:

Revenue:
Product 27,11( 31,031 35,91 41,08( 40,16¢ 46,68 53,09: 57,46
Services 38,62t 40,96« 44,527 47,93( 48,68t¢ 52,67 57,83t 61,07¢
Ratable and other
revenue”’ 4,06( 4,33( 4,531 4,58¢ 4,41F 3,66¢ 5,49¢ 2,32
Total revenue 69,79t 76,33: 84,97: 93,59¢ 93,26¢ 103,02! 116,42t 120,86
Cost of revenue:
Product® 11,31« 11,82: 13,26: 15,54¢ 14,07t 16,59: 20,60¢ 21,92¢
Services’ 6,46¢ 6,81¢ 6,56¢ 7,11¢€ 7,781 8,59¢ 9,43¢ 9,671
Ratable and other
revenue 1,59:¢ 1,52t 1,61¢ 1,562 1,56( 1,371 1,09t 88¢€
Total cost of revenue 19,37¢ 20,16¢ 21,44 24,22 23,41¢ 26,55¢ 31,13¢ 32,48¢
Total gross profit 50,42( 56,16¢ 63,52¢ 69,37¢ 69,85( 76,46" 85,281 88,37¢

Operating expenses:
Research and

developmen? 11,93« 12,67¢ 12,38¢ 12,80: 14,42 15,94: 16,83« 16,37¢

Sales and marketing 26,72 27,771 26,981 30,48: 32,71¢ 35,89¢ 36,93¢ 39,98

General and

administrative” 5,05¢ 5,93: 5,99: 5,39¢ 5,26¢ 5,84¢ 5,35¢ 5,492
Total operating expenses 43,71¢ 46,38¢ 45,36¢ 48,67¢ 52,40¢ 57,68t 59,12} 61,85t
Operating income 6,704 9,78( 18,15¢ 20,69¢ 17,44 18,77¢ 26,16( 26,52(
Interest income 26¢ 39¢ 514 634 793 862 904 962
Other income (expense), net (250 87 (402) (250) (95 (207) 6C (112)
Income before income taxe 6,722 10,26¢ 18,27: 21,08: 18,14 19,43t 27,12« 27,37:
Provision for income taxes 2,504 3,391 4,25¢ 4,941 4,55¢ 4,941 9,207 10,87:
Net income 4,21¢ 6,86¢ 14,01% 16,14 13,587 14,49 17,91° 16,49

Net income per share
attributable to common
stockholders’:

Basic” 0.0¢ 0.0t 0.1C 0.11 0.0¢ 0.1¢ 0.12 0.11
Diluted “ 0.0z 0.0t 0.0¢ 0.1¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.11 0.1¢
Q) During the third quarter of fiscal 2011,we kashanged the caption Ratable product and sergitesir consolidated statement of operations tolkatnd other

revenue. We have made this change to reflect ariRlién sale of previously-acquired patents.
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2) Includes stoclbased compensation expense and patent settlemfatioas:
Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
($ amounts in 000's)
Cost of product revenue 24 26 26 25 22 43 64 54
Cost of services revenue 20¢ 234 242 24¢ 19¢ 362 564 66€
Research and
development 554 587 60C 59¢ 45% 98t 1,51¢ 1,737
Sales and marketing 86€ 897 1,017 1,03( 1,90(C 1,681 2,70¢ 3,03¢
General and
administrative 49€ 52C 54¢ 571 497 79¢ 882 84¢
Total stock-based compensation 2,14¢ 2,26¢ 2,43¢ 2,46¢ 3,07( 3,87( 5,73¢ 6,341
Patent settlement = = — — 477 47¢ 47¢ 47¢
Total stock based compensation
and patent settlement 2,14¢ 2,264 2,43¢ 2,46¢ 3,541 4,34¢ 6,212 6,81¢
3) See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Staten
(4) Effective June 1, 2011, we completed a tweene stock split of our outstanding common shameké form of a stock dividend. In accordance VB#HAP, all shares

and per share information referenced throughouttimsolidated financial statements have been retivedy adjusted to reflect this stock split.
Seasonality, Cyclicality and Quarterly Revenue Tos

Our quarterly results reflect seasonality in thie s our products, subscriptions and servicegidneral, a pattern of increased
customer buying at year-end has positively impastdds activity in the fourth quarter. In the figsiarter we generally experience lower
sequential billings and product revenues, whichiltssn lower product revenue. Our product reveimutae third quarter can be negatively
affected by reduced economic activity in Europdartuthe summer months. During fiscal 2011, the ghoww the Americas during the third
guarter more than offset the slight decline in Perdout this may not always be the case. Similady,gross margins and operating income
have been affected by these historical trends Isecaxpenses are relatively fixed in the near-té&ithough these seasonal factors are common
in the technology sector, historical patterns stiaudt be considered a reliable indicator of ouurfatsales activity or performance. On a
quarterly basis, we have usually generated thenhaff our product revenue in the final month afce quarter and a significant amount in the
last two weeks of a quarter. We believe this is ueustomer buying patterns typical in this indyst

Our total quarterly revenue over the past twelvartprs has increased sequentially in each quattepéthe first quarter of 2011
which was essentially flat. Product revenue iroéithe quarters of fiscal 2011 was higher as coegbéw the same periods in fiscal 2QMhich
we believe was due in part to the investments nradear sales organization, continued product intionsand improvements in overall
corporate IT spending, as well as the adoptiomeftew revenue recognition rules in fiscal 2011.
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Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

($ amounts in 000's)

Consolidated Statements o
Operations Data:

Revenue:
Product 27,11( 31,03’ 35,91 41,08( 40,16 46,687 53,09: 57,46
Services 38,62t 40,96¢ 44,52 47,93( 48,68¢ 52,67: 57,83t 61,07¢
Ratable and other
revenue 4,06( 4,33( 4,531 4,58¢ 4,41°F 3,66¢ 5,49¢ 2,32
Total revenue 69,79¢ 76,33 84,97: 93,59¢ 93,26¢ 103,02: 116,42¢ 120,86:

As a percentage of revenue
Revenue (%):

Product 38.¢ 40.7 42.5 43.¢ 43.1 455 45.€ 47.k

Services B5.Z 53.7 52.4 51.z 52.2 51.1 497 50.€

Ratable and other

revenue 5.9 5.€ 5.3 4.¢ 4.7 3.€ 4.7 1.¢€
Total revenue 100.¢ 100.¢ 100.¢ 100.¢ 100.¢ 100.( 100.( 100.(

Quarterly Gross Margin Trend

Total gross margin has fluctuated on a quartergiarimarily due to shifts in the mix of salesvbeén products and services. Product
gross margin varies based on the types of prodadtisand the average selling prices of our prod&#svices gross margins have remained
relatively consistent as we continue to investun support organizations at a rate slightly gretitan the increase in service revenue.

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
Gross Margin by
Component of Revenue:
Gross margin (%):
Product 58.3 61.9 63.1 62.2 65.0 64.5 61.2 61.8
Services 83.3 83.4 85.3 85.2 84.0 83.7 83.7 84.2
Ratable and other
revenue 60.8 64.8 64.4 66.0 64.7 62.6 80.1 61.8
Total gross margin 72.2 73.6 74.8 74.1 74.9 74.2 73.3 73.1

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, Mar 31, Jun 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
Reconciliation of GAAP to
non-GAAP gross margin:
GAAP Gross margin (%): 72.2 73.6 74.8 74.1 74.9 74.2 73.3 73.1
Stock-based
compensation 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.6
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Liquidity and Capital Resource

As of Fiscal Year End

2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)
Cash and cash equivalents 71,99( 66,85¢ 212,45t
Investments 466,69 320,60: 47,85¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 538,68 387,46( 260,31
Working capital 256,70t 201,77t 161,65:
Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)
Cash provided by operating activities 132,84 103,38: 61,97:
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (166,82f) (283,710) 13,75%
Cash provided by financing activities 39,791 34,01¢ 78,04¢
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equigalen (682) 70¢ 2,11(
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 5,131 (145,599 155,88

At December 31, 2011, our cash, cash equivalantsjnvestments of $538.7 million were held for kinog-capital purposes and we
invested primarily in money market funds, commdrpaper, corporate debt securities, municipal botetsn deposits and U.S. government
and agency debt securities. At December 31, 2(4.3%nillion of our cash was held by our internatibsubsidiaries and is therefore not
immediately available to fund domestic operationkesss the cash is repatriated. While we do nonihte do so, should this amount be
repatriated, it would be subject to U.S. federabime tax which would be partially offset by foreigx credits. We do not enter into
investments for trading or speculative purposesbdéleve that our existing cash and cash equivaliit be sufficient to meet our anticipated
cash needs for at least the next 12 months. Ourdutapital requirements will depend on many fachocluding our growth rate, the timing &
extent of spending to support development effdlnis, expansion of sales and marketing activitiesjritroduction of new and enhanced
products and services offerings, the costs to ersoeess to adequate manufacturing capacity arabttiguing market acceptance of our
products. In the event that additional financingeiguired from outside sources, we may not be t@biaise it on terms acceptable to us or at all.
If we are unable to raise additional capital whesikd, our business, operating results and fimaoondition would be adversely affected.

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)
Net income 62,49: 41,24¢ 60,17¢
Adjustments for non-cash chardes 18,71. 16,59: (15,166)
Net income before non-cash charges 81,20: 57,83t 45,01
Increase in deferred revenue 42,17" 50,70: 30,31
Increase (decrease) in income tax payable andrddfeax assets, net 28,09( 11,73¢ (6,99¢€)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liakilitiet 8,56¢ 4,80( 5,20
Increase in accrued payroll and compensation 4,77: 5,46t 63C
(Increase) decrease in deferred cost of revenues 3,815 364 (1,067)
Increase in deferred settlement and other liabditi — — —
Increase in accounts receivable (23,24¢) (17,789 (8,50¢)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, net (6,505) (3,799 (609)
Increase in inventories (6,039 (5,94¢) (2,012
Net cash provided by operating activities 132,84: 103,38 61,97
1) Non-cash charges primarily consist of stock-based @sation expense, depreciation and amortizatioitewff of intangible assets, loss on disposalixéd assets,

amortization of investment premiums, excess taxefiefrom employee stock option plans, and reveo$ahe valuation in fiscal 2009. For additionalarmation
regarding such non-cash charges, see our Consli®iatements of Cash Flows in Part Il, Iltem & t
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Operating Activities

In fiscal 2011 , operating activities provided $X8mhillion in cash as a result of our strong parfance primarily driven by billings
growth, profitability, and the ability to succedéfumanage our working capital. Net income was $@8illion , increased by non-cash
adjustments of $18.7 million and sources of casbgat.4 million partially offset by uses of cash$85.5 million. Non-cash adjustments consist
of stock-based compensation expense of $19.0 millamortization of investment premiums of $12 8iami , and depreciation and
amortization of $7.0 million , partially offset lan excess tax benefit from employee stock optiangbf $19.8 million . Sources of cash were
related to a $42.2 million increase in deferreceraie which was attributable primarily to increasakks of our subscription and support
services, which have yet to be recognized in incar&28.1 millionincrease in income tax payable and deferred teatsisdue to our continu
profitability and timing of tax payments, a $8.6llian increase in accrued liabilities and accoydgable related to timing of payments, a $4.7
million increase in accrued payroll and compensgtiomarily related to increased headcount and eygpltaxes related to the exercise of
stock options, a $3.8 million decrease in defeoest of revenues, and a $0.0 million increase lreokiabilities, mainly due to the deferral of
the patent litigation settlement, which is beingoatized over three years. Uses of cash were retatads23.2 million increase in accounts
receivable due to the overall growth of our busingith days sales outstanding remaining flat (Aisjiea $6.5 million increase in prepaid
expenses and other assets, and a $6.0 millionaserna inventory primarily to support new prodweeases combined with the overall growth
of our business. Days sales outstanding is cakdilas the ratio of ending accounts receivablepi@liowances, divided by average daily sales
for the preceding 90 days.

In fiscal 2010, operating activities provided $fillion in cash as a result of our strong perfante primarily driven by billings
growth, profitability, and the ability to succedéfumanage our working capital. Net income was g4tillion, increased by non-cash
adjustments of $16.6 million and sources of cas$7&.1 million, partially offset by uses of cash$@7.5 million. Noneash adjustments cons
of stock-based compensation expense of $9.3 miléiorortization of investment premiums of $7.3 raillj and depreciation and amortization
of $5.7 million, partially offset by an excess taenefit from employee stock option plans of $5.Wiam. Sources of cash were related to a
$50.7 million increase in deferred revenue whicls atributable primarily to increased sales of suliscription and support services, which
have yet to be recognized in income, an $11.7 enilincrease in income tax payable and deferreddagts, due to our continued profitability
and timing of tax payments (cash paid for taxes $8 million), a $5.5 million increase in accrygayroll and compensation primarily related
to increased headcount and employer taxes relatia texercise of stock options, a $4.8 milliorré@ase in accrued liabilities and accounts
payable related to timing of payments, and a $0lHomdecrease in deferred cost of revenues. Wéessh were related to a $17.8 million
increase in accounts receivable due to the ovgradiith of our business with days sales outstandéngaining flat (70 days), a $5.9 million
increase in inventory primarily to support new prodreleases in the latter part of the year contbimih the overall growth of our business,
and a $3.8 million increase in prepaid expenses#mer assets.

In fiscal 2009, operating activities provided $6&dlion in cash as a result of net income of $6®iflion , decreased by non-cash
adjustments of $15.2 million , increased by soudfesash of $36.1 million, and partially offset byes of cash of $19.2 million. Non-cash
adjustments consist of a tax benefit from the saeaf our valuation allowance of $30.2 million andess tax benefit from employee stock
option plans of $1.6 million , offset by stock-bds®mpensation of $7.5 million , depreciation antbéization of $5.9 million , write-off of
intangible assets of $2.4 million , and amortizatdd investment premiums of $0.8 million . Souroésash were related to a $30.3 million
increase in deferred revenue which was attributpbiearily to increased sales of our subscriptiod aupport services, a $5.2 million increase
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities dugntong of payments, and a $0.6 million increasadaorued payroll and compensation primarily
related to increased headcount. Uses of cash wkated to an $8.5 million increase in accountsivadxe due to the overall growth of our
business with days sales outstanding remainind6&tays), a $7.0 million decrease in income tayaple and deferred tax assets, a $2.0
million increase in inventory, a $1.1 million inase in deferred cost of revenues and a $0.6 mitiorease in prepaid expenses and other
assets.

Investing Activities

In fiscal 2011 , our investing activities consisftmarily of purchases and sales of investmemid,ta a much lesser extent, capital
expenditures. The $166.8 million of cash used bgsting activities was due to net purchases ofsimaents of $160.6 million , $3.6 million
used for capital expenditures, and $2.6 millionduge the purchase of TalkSwitch.

In fiscal 2010, our investing activities consisptmarily of purchases and sales of investmentd,tam much lesser extent, capital
expenditures. The $283.7 million of cash used hesting activities was due to net purchases ofsimaents of $280.0 million reflecting
primarily the transfer of funds from money marketbrporate bonds, agency notes and commercial
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paper during the period. This was offset by $3.Bioni used for capital expenditures.

In fiscal 2009, our investing activities consisfgtnarily of purchases and sales of investmentsa@ated with our investment
balances and capital expenditures. The $13.8 miifocash provided by investing activities was gtienarily to net maturities of short-term
investments of $18.9 million. Additionally, we useaksh of $4.6 million for capital expenditures &@d5 million for the purchase of certain
technology assets.

Financing Activities

In fiscal 2011 , our financing activities resultedchet cash provided of $39.8 million as a restitieceiving proceeds of $20.0 million
from the exercise of stock options to purchaseconmmon stock and an excess tax benefit from emplsejeck option plans of $19.8 million
related to option exercises.

In fiscal 2010, our financing activities resultedniet cash provided of $34.0 million as a resuleckiving proceeds of $29.1 million
from the exercise of stock options and warranysuichase our common stock and an excess tax bé&osefiemployee stock option plans of
$5.8 million related to option exercises, partiafjset by $0.9 million of issuance costs paid émection with our initial public offering,
which had been accrued as of December 31, 2009.

In fiscal 2009, our financing activities resultedniet cash provided of $78.0 million as a resuleckiving proceeds of $91.5 million,
net of issuance costs paid of $3.3 million, frora #ale of common stock in connection with our @higiublic offering in November 2009. In
addition, we received proceeds of $4.0 million frira exercise of stock options and warrants tolpase our common stock and had an excess
tax benefit from employee stock option plans o6%illion, all partially offset by $15.8 million tated to the repurchase of our preferred and
common stock in the first half of fiscal 2009.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes our contractual obligasi@s of December 31, 2011 :

Payments Due by Period

Total 2012 2013 - 2014 2015 - 2016
($ amounts in 000's)

Operating leases 16,66¢ 7,30¢ 7,75¢ 1,60¢
Purchase commitmenfts 25,99: 25,99: — —

Total® 42,65¢ 33,30: 7,75¢ 1,60+
2) Consists of contractual obligations from nzamcelable office space under operating le
2) Consists of minimum purchase commitments with irefelent contract manufacture
3) No amounts related to ASC 7-10 are included. As of December 31, 2011 , wedpztoximately $19.1 million of long-term tax liabi¢s, including interest, related to

uncertain tax positions. Because of the high degfemcertainty regarding the settlement of thésgillties, we are unable to estimate the yeasshich future cash
outflows may occur.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During fiscal 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , we did notéhamy relationships with unconsolidated organizetior financial partnerships,
such as structured finance or special purposdesthiat would have been established for the perpbfacilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or Behjppurposes.
Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates for recent accounting pronouncements thdtldwave an effect on us.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Fluctuation Risl
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The primary objectives of our investment activitégs to preserve principal, provide liquidity andximize income without
significantly increasing risk. Some of the secestive invest in are subject to market risk. Thismsehat a change in prevailing interest rates
may cause the principal amount of the investmefititduate. To minimize this risk, we maintain quortfolio of cash, cash equivalents and
shortterm investments in a variety of securities, inaigdcommercial paper, money market funds, goverrraed corporate debt securities
certificates of deposit. The risk associated wliictiiating interest rates is limited to our investrnportfolio. A 10% decrease in interest rate
2011, 2010 and 2009 would have resulted in a dsera our interest income of approximately $0.4ioni, $0.2 million and $0.2 million,
respectively.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our sales contracts are primarily denominated B. dollars and therefore substantially all of a@wanue is not subject to foreign
currency translation risk. However, a substantiatipn of our operating expenses incurred outdiéeld.S. are denominated in foreign
currencies and are subject to fluctuations dudnémges in foreign currency exchange rates, paatiguthanges in the Canadian Dollar (CAD),
Euro (EUR), British Pound (GBP), and Japanese YE¥). To help protect against significant fluctoas in the value and the volatility of
future cash flows caused by changes in currenchiamnge rates, we engage in foreign currency riskagement activities to hedge balance
sheet items denominated in EUR, GBP, and CAD. Wealaise these contracts for speculative or tragurgoses. All of the derivative
instruments are with high quality financial institins, and we monitor the creditworthiness of themssties. These contracts typically have
maturities between one and three months. We acdountr hedges under ASC 8Derivatives and HedgingWe record changes in the fair
value of forward exchange contracts related tortz@aheet accounts as other income (expense) tiet consolidated statement of operati
We recognized an expense of $0.4 million in othebime (expense), net in fiscal 2011 due to foreigmency transaction losses.

Our hedging activities are intended to reduce notieliminate, the impact of currency exchange m&ements. As our hedging
activities are relatively short-term in nature,determ material changes in the value of the U.S adelérsus the EUR, GBP, CAD, or JPY cc
adversely impact our operating expenses in thedutu

Inflation Risk
Our monetary assets, consisting primarily of caslsh equivalents and short-term investments, araffexted significantly by
inflation because they are short-term. We beliéeeitnpact of inflation on replacement costs of pment, furniture and leasehold

improvements will not materially affect our opecats. The rate of inflation, however, affects oustaaf revenue and expenses, such as those
for employee compensation, which may not be readitpverable in the price of products and servidésed by us.
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The supplementary financial information requiredtug Item 8 is included in Item 7 under the captiQuarterly Results of Operations.”
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fortinet, Inc.
Sunnyvale, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Fortinet, Inc. and subsidiaries (@mipany") as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statsméoperations, stockholders' equity and comgmeive income, and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended Decembe2(@®1l1. Our audits also included the financial stetiet schedule listed in the Index at Item
15. These financial statements and financial staterschedule are the responsibility of the Compamgnagement. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the financial statementdiaadcial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstatts of the Public Company Accounting OversighaigUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of Fortinet, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011and 2010 lencesults of their operations and their cash fliawgach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with accimgnprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America. Also, in our opinion,
such financial statement schedule, when considareslation to the basic consolidated financiatestaents taken as a whole, presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set fortiréin.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&tements, in the year ended December 31, 20@ Zompany changed its metl
of recognizing revenue for multiple element arrangats in accordance with the Financial Accountitan8ards Board's Accounting Stande
Update (ASU) 2009-13viultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangemeatsl ASU 2009-14Certain Revenue Arrangements that include Software
Elements

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
Company's internal control over financial reportagyof December 31, 2011, basedm®arnal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread@ommission and our report dated February 272 28pressed an unqualified opinion
on the Company's internal control over financiglaming.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2012
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FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

December 31,

2011 2010

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 71,99C $ 66,85¢
Short-term investments 318,28: 246,65!
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#ittounts of $336 and $303 at December 31
2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively 95,52; 72,33¢
Inventory 16,24¢ 13,51;
Deferred tax asset 7,57¢ 8,15¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 11,80¢ 8,84¢
Deferred cost of revenues 2,14(C 3,78¢
Total current assets 523,57( 420,15t

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net 7,96¢ 7,05¢€

DEFERRED TAX ASSET—Non-current 46,52! 37,44

DEFERRED COST OF REVENUES 3,37¢ 5,54:

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS 148,41. 73,95(

OTHER ASSETS 4,89¢ 1,272

TOTAL ASSETS $ 734,74 $ 545,42;

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable $ 19,76¢ % 12,76
Accrued liabilities 15,97 16,30:
Accrued payroll and compensation 24,19: 19,67(
Deferred revenue 206,92¢ 169,64¢

Total current liabilities 266,86« 218,38.
DEFERRED REVENUE—Non-current 87,90¢ 82,98
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 21,62« 11,60:
Total liabilities 376,39: 312,96¢

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Common stock, $0.001 par value — 300,000 sharéwemnéd; 156,401 and 150,172 shares issued &

154,992 and 148,763 shares outstanding at Dece3ib@011 and December 31, 2010, respectively 15€ 15C
Additional paid-in-capital 317,02t 251,84!
Treasury stock (2,995 (2,995
Accumulated other comprehensive income 40z 2,181
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 43,76¢ (18,729

Total stockholders’ equity 358,35¢ 232,45:

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 734,74 $ 545,42

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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REVENUE:
Product
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total revenue
COST OF REVENUE:
Product
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total cost of revenue
GROSS PROFIT:
Product
Services
Ratable and other revenue
Total gross profit
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

Total operating expenses

OPERATING INCOME
INTEREST INCOME

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)—Net
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES
PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAXES

NET INCOME

Net income per share attributable to common stodene (Note 7):

Basic
Diluted

Weighted-average shares outstanding:

Basic
Diluted

FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year

2011 2010 2009
197,40¢ $ 135,14( % 98,68¢
220,26¢ 172,04¢ 139,17.
15,90( 17,51( 14,257
433,57t 324,69¢ 252,11!
73,20: 51,94 42,16¢
35,48¢ 26,967 22,26"
4,911 6,29t 5,54¢
113,59¢ 85,20¢ 69,97t
124,20° 83,19¢ 56,52(
184,78 145,07¢ 116,90°
10,98¢ 11,21¢ 8,71:
319,97¢ 239,49( 182,14(
63,57 49,80: 42,19
145,53: 111,96¢ 96,29:
21,96¢ 22,38( 18,32(
231,07 184,14¢ 156,80t
88,90 55,34: 25,33¢
3,52¢ 1,81¢ 1,981
(359 (815) 19¢
92,07: 56,34: 27,51
29,58 15,09¢ (32,66¢)
62,49: $ 41,24 % 60,17¢
0.41 0.2¢ 0.97
0.3¢ 0.2¢ ¢
152,58: 140,72¢ 52,66¢
163,78: 156,40t 130,43t

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 , DECEMBER 312010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009
(in thousands)

Convertible Accumulated Retained Total
Preferred Stock ~ Common Stock ~ Treasury Stock ~ Additional Other Earnings  Stockholders’ ,
Paid-In-  Comprehensive (Accumulated Equity Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount  Capital Income (loss) Deficit) (Deficit) Income (loss)
BALANCE—
December 28, 2008 80,96( 94,36¢ 41,44 41 = - 20,81 (300) (120,15)) (5,229
Repurchase of
convertible preferred
shares (6,009 (3,189 — — — — (9,58%) — — (12,769
Repurchase of commc
shares — — — — (1,409 (2,999 — — — (2,995

Convertible preferred

shares converted to

common shares in

connection with initial

public offering (74,957 (91,18%) 74,95: 75 — — 91,11( — — —

Proceeds from initial
public offering, net of

issuance costs — — 15,31« 15 — — 87,37: — — 87,38¢
Exercise of warrants — — 30C 1 — — 1,87¢ — — 1,87¢
Exercise of stock

options — — 2,82¢ 3 — — 2,692 — — 2,69t
Proceeds from issuance

of common stock — — 20C — — — 162 — — 162
Warrants issued — — — — — 72t — — 725
Stock-based

compensation — — — — — — 7,461 — — 7,461

Income tax benefit
from employee stock
option plans — — — — — — 1,574 — — 1,574

Net unrealized gain
on investments—net

of taxes — — — — — — — (33) — (33 ¢ (33)
Net change in
cumulative
translation
adjustments — — — — — — — 1,415 — 1,415 1,417
Net income — — — — — — — — 60,17¢ 60,17¢ 60,17¢
Comprehensive
income — — — — — — — — — — 3 61,56:
BALANCE—December
31, 2009 — — 135,03 135 (1,409 (2,995 204,20( 1,08¢ (59,977) 142,45:
Exercise of stock
options and warrants — — 15,13¢ 15 — — 29,094 — — 29,10¢
Stock-based
compensation — — — — — — 9,31t — — 9,31t

Income tax benefit
from employee stock
option plans — — — — — — 9,23t — — 9,23t

Net unrealized gain
on investments - net
of taxes — — — — — — — 98 — 98 98

Net unrealized gain

on derivatives

qualifying as cash

flow hedges 74 74 74
Net change in

cumulative

translation

adjustments — — — — — — — 92t — 92t 92t

Net income — — — — — — — — 41,24% 41,24t 41,24¢

Comprehensive
income — — — — — — — — — — 3 42,34:
BALANCE—December
31, 2010 — $ — 150,17: $ 15C (1,409 $(2,99%) $251,84: $ 2,181 $ (18,72) $ 232,45
Exercise of stock
options — — 6.22¢ 6 — — 19,96: — — 19,96¢




Stock-based
compensation — — — — — — 19,01¢ — — 19,01¢

Income tax benefit
from employee stock
option plans — — — — — — 26,20: — — 26,20:

Net unrealized loss
on investments - net
of taxes — — — — — — — (1,159) — (1,159 (1,159)

Net unrealized loss

on derivatives

qualifying as cash

flow hedges — — — — — — — (74) — (74) (74)
Net change in

cumulative

translation

adjustments — — — — — — — (552) — (552) (552)

Net income — — — — — — — — 62,49: 62,49: 62,49:

Comprehensive
income = = — — — — — — — — 60,71

BALANCE—December
31, 2011 — $ — 156,400 $ 15€ (1,409 $(2,99%) $317,02¢ $ 40z % 43,76 $ 358,35

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income
Depreciation and amortization
Write-off of intangible assets

Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Stock-based compensation

Inventory

Other assets

Accrued liabilities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of investments

Maturities and sales of investments

Purchase of property and equipment

Payments made in connection with acquisition, net

Change in restricted cash

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and wasrant
Proceeds from initial public offering

Offering costs paid in connection with initial pidbffering
Repurchase of convertible preferred shares
Repurchase of common shares

Excess tax benefit from employee stock option plans

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALEMN
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—ENd of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid (refunded) for taxes

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property and equipment not yet paid

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
62,49: 41,24¢ 60,17¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashkipgea by operating activities:
6,98¢ 5,69¢ 5,93t
— — 2,381
22 14 —
Amortization of investment premiums, net of disctsun 12,51¢ 7,34¢ 83€
19,01t 9,31t 7,461
Excess tax benefit from employee stock option plans (19,829 (5,782) (1,579
Income tax benefit from release of valuation alloea — — (30,21
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable—net (23,24¢) (17,789 (8,50¢)
(6,039 (5,946) (2,017)
Deferred tax assets (7,879 (4,27%) (9,57¢)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (4,56%) (3,849 (290
Deferred cost of revenues 3,817 364 (1,067)
(1,940 55 (419
Accounts payable 6,801 2,43 3,04¢
1,76 2,36: 2,15
Accrued payroll and compensation 4,77: 5,46t 63C
Deferred revenue 42,17° 50,70: 30,31¢
Income taxes payable 35,96« 16,017 2,582
Net cash provided by operating activities 132,84: 103,38t 61,97:
(516,90¢) (416,37 (137,23))
356,32 136,38( 156,12t
(3,629 (3,776) (4,589
(2,629) — (549
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (166,82f) (283,71() 13,757
19,96¢ 29,11( 3,97¢
— — 91,56¢
— (872) (3,30%)
= = (12,76¢)
— — (2,99%)
19,82¢ 5,781 1,57¢
Net cash provided by financing activities 39,797 34,01¢ 78,04¢
(682) 70¢ 2,11¢
5,131 (145,599 155,88
66,85¢ 212,45t 56,57:
71,99( 66,85¢ 212,45t
(305) 2,48: 4,74¢
44C 13t 84¢
— — 872

Accrued offering costs not yet paid




See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 , DECEMBER 31, 2010 KD DECEMBER 31, 2009

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business—Fortinet, Inc. (“Fortinet”) was incorporated in Reare in November 2000 and is a leading provideredwork security
appliances and UTM network security solutions tegrises, service providers and governmentaliestitorldwide. Fortinet’s solutions are
designed to integrate multiple levels of securitytection, including firewall, virtual private netrking, application control, antivirus, intrusi
prevention, web filtering, antispam and WAN accafien.

Basis of Presentation and Preparatior—The consolidated financial statements includeait@unts of Fortinet and its wholly owned
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company,” “we,”stor “our”). All intercompany transactions and &ates have been eliminated in
consolidation. Beginning 2005 fiscal year, we addp 52- to 53-week year ending on the Sunday sies®ecember 31 of each year.
Commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, lvegian operating and reporting financial resulta @alendar quarter and year basis. Our
20009 fiscal year ended on December 31, 2009. FX¥Hl, 2010 and 2009 were comprised of 365 daysdags and 368 days, respectively.

Effective June 1, 2011, we completed a two-for-stoek split of our outstanding common shares inféie of a stock dividend. All
shares and per share information referenced thoutghe consolidated financial statements have beteoactively adjusted to reflect this
stock split.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with accounting principles geneyaltcepted i
the United States of America requires managememiatike estimates and assumptions that affect tleetezgbamounts of assets and liabilitie
the date of the consolidated financial statememdisthe reported amounts of revenues and expensieg dine reporting period. Such
management estimates include implicit service pisrfor revenue recognition, litigation and settlainsosts and other loss contingencies, <
returns and allowances, reserve for bad debt, bovemvrite-offs, reserve for warranty costs, valoatof deferred tax assets, and tangible and
intangible assets. We base our estimates on luat@xperience and also on assumptions that weuegetire reasonable. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties—We are subject to certain risks and uncertairitiascould have a material adverse
effect on our future financial position or resufsoperations, such as the following: changeswellef demand for our products and services,
the timing and success of new product and sermiteductions by us or our competitors, price arldsseompetition and our ability to adapt to
changing market conditions and dynamics such asggsin end-customer, distributor or reseller neguents or market needs, changes in
expenses caused, for example, by fluctuationsrgiga currency exchange rates, management of iaggrinternal control over financial
reporting, market acceptance of our new produatssanvices, demand for UTM products and servicggireral, seasonality, failure of our
channel partners to perform or other disruptionun channel, the quality of our products and sewignd the market perception of our resp
to new viruses or security breaches, general ecanconditions, challenges in doing business outefdée United States of America, changes
in customer relationships, litigation, or claimsaarst us based on intellectual property, patewipct regulatory or other factors (Note 9),
product obsolescence, and our ability to attradtratain qualified employees.

We rely on sole suppliers and independent conimactufacturers for certain of our components andtbing-party logistics company
for certain distribution of our products. The inépiof any of these parties to fulfill our suppiynd logistics requirements could negatively
impact our future operating results.

Concentration of Credit Risk —Financial instruments that subject us to concéotra of credit risk consist primarily of cash, bas
equivalents, short-term investments, and accoaatsivable. We maintain our cash and cash equivsaleriixed income securities with major
financial institutions, which our management asse$s be of high credit quality, in order to lirthie exposure of each investment. Deposits
held with banks may exceed the amount of insuraneeided on such deposits.

Credit risk with respect to accounts receivablgeneral is diversified due to the number of différentities comprising our customer
base and their location throughout the world. Wiguen ongoing credit evaluations of our customerd generally do not require collateral on
accounts receivable. We maintain reserves for estichpotential credit losses.

At December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 , rgdesoustomer accounted for more than 10% of nedwads receivable.
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FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AN DECEMBER 31, 2009

During fiscal 2011 and 2010 , no single customeoanted for more than 10% of total net revenuesiriguiscal 2009 , one customer
accounted for 12% of total net revenues.

Financial Instruments and Fair Value—We apply fair value accounting for all financiaisats and liabilities and ndimancial asset
and liabilities that are recognized or disclosefhatvalue in the financial statements on a réogrbasis. Due to their short-term nature, the
carrying amounts reported in the consolidated fifelrstatements approximate the fair value for aot®receivable, accounts payable, accrued
compensation, and other current liabilities.

Comprehensive Income (Loss}—ASC 220 establishes standards for the reportinigdisplaying of comprehensive income and its
components. Comprehensive income includes certainges in equity from noowner sources that are excluded from net incomeciSgally,
cumulative foreign currency translation adjustmgeuatsealized gains and losses on available-forisgkstments, and unrealized gains and
losses on derivatives are included in compreherisa@me in stockholders' equity.

Foreign Currency Translation —Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries emslated into U.S. dollars using the exchantgsra
in effect at the balance sheet dates and reverdiexgenses are translated using average exchaegedwaing the period. The resulting foreign
translation adjustments are recorded in accumulatteel comprehensive income (loss). Foreign cugréransaction gains (losses) of $(0.4)
million , $(0.8) million and $0.1 million, are inadled in other income (expense), net for fiscal 202010 and 2009 , respectively.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Available-for-sale Invésients —We consider all highly liquid investments, purab@svith original
maturities of three months or less, to be cashvedprits. Cash and cash equivalents consist ofaa$tand, balances with banks, and highly
liquid investments in money market funds, comménzdger, and certificates of deposit.

We classify our investments as available-for-sak@time of purchase since it is our intent thase investments are available for
current operations, and include these investmeantsuo balance sheet as either short-term or long-tevestments depending on their maturity
at the time of purchase. Investments with origmaturities greater than three months that mats®tlean one year from the consolidated
balance sheet date are classified as ghant-investments. Investments with maturities grnetitan one year from the consolidated balancet
date are classified as long-term investments.

Investments are considered to be impaired wherclnddn fair value is judged to be other-than-temgey. We consult with our
investment managers and consider available quawitand qualitative evidence in evaluating pow@rithpairment of our investments on a
quarterly basis. If the cost of an individual intreent exceeds its fair value, we evaluate, amohgrdtactors, general market conditions, the
duration and extent to which the fair value is I cost, and our intent and ability to holditheestment. Once a decline in fair value is
determined to be other-than-temporary, an impaitrokarge is recorded and a new cost basis in thesiment is established.

For debt securities in an unrealized loss positibith are deemed to be other-than-temporary, tierdice between the security's
then-current amortized cost basis and fair valeesarated into (i) the amount of the impairmelateel to the credit loss (i.e., the credit loss
component) and (ii) the amount of the impairmetdtes to all other factors (i.e., the non-credisd@omponent). The credit loss component is
recognized in earnings. The non-credit loss compbiserecognized in accumulated other compreherissse

Inventory —Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost (udimg first-in, first-out method) or market, after giwe appropriate
consideration to obsolescence and inventory insgxoéanticipated future demand. In assessingltimeate recoverability of inventory, we are
required to make estimates regarding future custai®meand, the timing of new product introducticesynomic trends and market conditions.
If the actual product demand is significantly lowean forecasted, we could be required to recoditiadal inventory write-downs, which
could have an adverse impact on our gross margithpeofitability.

Deferred Cost of Revenues—Deferred cost of revenues represent the unamdrtiast of products associated with services and
ratable and other revenue, which is based upoadtal cost of the hardware sold and is recogrized the service periods of the
arrangements. Deferred cost of revenue associdteahort-term deferred revenue is classified astsierm and deferred cost of revenue
associated with long-term deferred revenue is ifledsas long-term.
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FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AN DECEMBER 31, 2009

Property and Equipment —Property and equipment are stated at cost. Degiieciis computed using the straight-line methoerov
the estimated useful lives of the assets, genevallyto three years. Evaluation units are transfiefirom inventory at cost and are amortized
over one year from the date of transfer. Leaseimofovements are amortized over the shorter oé#tenated useful lives of the
improvements or the lease term.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—We evaluate events and changes in circumstanaesdhld indicate carrying amounts of long-
lived assets, including intangible assets, maybeatecoverable. When such events or changes imnegtances occur, we assess the
recoverability of long-lived assets by determinwigether the carrying value of such assets willdmvered through undiscounted expected
future cash flows. If the total of the future urmtisnted cash flows is less than the carrying amofititose assets, we record an impairment
charge in the period in which we make the detertidnalf such assets are considered to be impaihedimpairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amotitite assets exceeds the fair value of the assets

Deferred Revenue—Deferred revenue consists of amounts that have ineeiced but that have not yet been recognize@asnue.

Income Taxes—We record income taxes using the asset and kbilethod, which requires the recognition of defdrtax assets and
liabilities for the expected future tax consequenzieevents that have been recognized in our fiahstatements or tax returns. In estimating
future tax consequences, generally all expecteddigvents other than enactments or changes taxHaw or rates are considered. We assess
the likelihood that some portion or all of our deéel tax assets will be recovered from future téx@aicome within the respective jurisdictions,
and to the extent we believe that recovery doesnaat the “more-likely-than-not” standard, basdélgmn its technical merits as of the
reporting date, we establish a valuation allowaki¢e.consider many factors when evaluating and asitirg our tax positions and tax benefits,
which may require periodic adjustments and whicly mat accurately anticipate actual outcomes.

We operate in various tax jurisdictions and argestitio audit by various tax authorities. We prevfdr tax contingencies whenever it
is deemed more likely than not that a tax assebbas impaired or a tax liability has been incufiG@devents such as tax claims or changes in
tax laws. Tax contingencies are based upon thefinieal merits, relevant tax law and the speci#ict$ and circumstances as of each reporting
period. Changes in facts and circumstances cosldtrimn material changes to the amounts recordeduoh tax contingencies.

Stock-Based Compensatior—We apply ASC 718 to our stock option grants aodlspurchase rights, which requires compensation
expense related to share-based transactions, ingledhployee stock options and stock purchasegightler our ESPP, to be measured and
recognized in the financial statements based orvédiie. Under ASC 718, the fair value of eachaptiward is estimated on the grant date
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Advertising Expense—Advertising costs are expensed when incurred sumitluded in operating expenses in the accompgnyin
consolidated statements of operations. Our aduggtesxpenses were not significant for any periogsented.

Research and Development Costs-Research and development costs are expenseduaseihc

Software Development Costs—The costs to develop software have not been dagitbas we believe our current software
development process is essentially completed coscuwith the establishment of technological fegisib

Revenue Recognition—In October 2009, the FASB amended the ASC as suiratbin ASU No. 2009-1Revenue Recognition
(Topic 605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangense andASU No. 2009-14Software (Topic 985): Certain Revenue Arrangemeéhts
Include Software Elemer. ASU 2009-13 amends the accounting for multipkavednt arrangements to provide guidance on how the
deliverables in an arrangement should be sepasaig@liminates the use of the residual method. 2809-13 also requires an entity to
allocate revenue using the relative selling prieghuad. The standard establishes a hierarchy oéaeilto determine the stand-alone selling
price of a deliverable based on VSOE, TPE, andBt8P. If VSOE is available, it would be used toedetine the selling price of a deliverak
If VSOE is not available, the entity would determiwhether TPE is available. If so, TPE must be tsetbtermine the selling price. If TPE is
not available, then the BESP would be used. ASI92BDamends industry specific revenue accountindagee for software and software
related transactions to exclude from its scopeibdagroducts containing software components andsajtware components that function
together to deliver the product's essential fumetiiby.
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Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted the provismmASU 2009-13 and ASU 2008t for new and materially modified arrangem:
originating after December 31, 2010. The adoptibA®U 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14, increased reven@@s0&million for fiscal 2011 . The
increase was primarily due to certain product reegmvhich can now be recognized upon shipmentwoutd have been deferred under the
previous revenue recognition rules. We expect tluption of ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14 to haverapdct on future periods; however,
we cannot reasonably estimate the effect of adgptiase standards on future financial periods entipact will vary depending on the nature
and volume of new or materially modified arrangetaeén any given period.

This guidance does not generally change the uhasapunting for our revenue transactions. Most-goftware products and services
qualify as separate units of accounting becausefthee value to the customer on a standalone badi®ur revenue arrangements generall
not include a right of return relative to deliveqgebducts.

The majority of our products are hardware appligramntaining software components that function ttoggeto provide the essential
functionality of the product, therefore, our hardesappliances are considered non-software delilesamnd are no longer within the scope of
ASC 985-605.

Our product revenue also includes software prodietismay operate on the hardware appliances,rbuiat considered essential to
the functionality of the hardware and continue ¢cshibject to the guidance at ASC 985-605, whichaiesunchanged. This includes the use of
the residual method for multiple element arrangeasedertain of our software, when sold with ourlépges, is considered essential to its
functionality and as a result is no longer accodifite under ASC 985-605; however, this same so#vifasold separately is accounted for
under the guidance at ASC 985-605.

For all transactions originating or materially ntfoell after December 31, 2010, we recognize revémaecordance with ASU 2009-
13. Certain arrangements with multiple deliveralohesy continue to have software deliverables thasabject to ASC 985-605 along with non-
software deliverables that are subject to the ABDO213. When a sales arrangement contains muétlplaents, such as hardware appliances,
software, customer support services, and/or primfieakservices, we allocate revenue to each eletreesed on the aforementioned selling price
hierarchy. In multiple element arrangements whefevare is more-than-incidental, revenue is alledab each separate unit of accounting for
each of the non-software deliverables and to tiftevace deliverables as a group using the relatling prices of each of the deliverables in
the arrangement based on the selling price hiegarcASU 2009-13.

VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangemsiased upon the normal pricing and discountingtiwes for those services when
sold separately. In determining VSOE, we requieg ¢hsubstantial majority of the selling pricesdervice fall within a reasonably narrow
pricing range, generally evidenced by a substantabrity of such historical stand-alone transawiéalling within a reasonably narrow range
of the median rates. In addition, we consider msgmments, geographies, customer classificationsother variables in determining VSOE.

We are typically not able to determine TPE for products or services. TPE is determined based mpebttor prices for similar
deliverables when sold separately. Generally, odtognarket strategy differs from that of our peers andofferings contain a significant le’
of differentiation such that the comparable pricirfigoroducts with similar functionality cannot bbtained. Furthermore, we are unable to
reliably determine what similar competitor produstdling prices are on a stand-alone basis.

For our hardware appliances we use BESP as oingspllice. For our support and services, we gelyetae VSOE as our selling
price. When we are unable to establish a sellimgeprsing VSOE for our support and services, weBES8P in our allocation of arrangement
consideration. The objective of BESP is to detemntire price at which we would transact a saledffifoduct or service were sold on a stand-
alone basis. We determine BESP for a product eiceby considering multiple factors including, mat limited to, cost of products, gross
margin objectives, pricing practices, geographiestomer classes and distribution channels. Wewewour BESP estimates on a quarterly
basis to coincide with our VSOE review process.

We recognize revenue for our software sales baseitware revenue recognition guidance pursuaASG 985-605. Under ASC
985-605, we use the residual method to recognizentee when a product agreement includes one or etengents to be delivered and VSOE
of fair value for all undelivered elements existevidence of the fair value of one or more undeled elements does not exist, all revenue is
generally deferred and recognized when delivertho$e elements occurs or when fair value can labkstted. When the undelivered element
for which we do not have VSOE of fair value is sofiprevenue for the entire arrangement is recaghiatably over the support period.
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We derive revenue from sales of products, includippliances and software, and services, includilgaiption, support and other
services. Our appliances include operating syste#tware that is integrated into the appliance handwand is deemed essential to its
functionality. As a result, we account for revetimiaccordance with ASC 985-605 and all relatedrpretations.

Revenue is recognized when all of the followindesia have been met:

. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exigtsli®j contracts or purchase orders are generadlgt tssdetermine the
existence of an arrangement.

. Delivery has occurred. Delivery occurs when wiélf an order and title and risk of loss has bé&emsferred or upon delivery
of the service contract registration code.

. The fee is fixed or determinable. We assessvdnghe fee is fixed or determinable based on #yengnt terms associated
with the transaction. In the event payment ternffeidirom our standard business practices, the deesleemed to be not
fixed or determinable and revenue is recognizedwthe payments become due, provided the remaimitegia for revenue
recognition have been met.

. Collectability is probable. We assess colledigtibased primarily on creditworthiness as deterdi by credit checks and
analysis, as well as payment history. Payment tgengrally range from 30 to 90 days from invoicteda

For arrangements which include end-customer aceeeteriteria, revenue is recognized upon acceptdileaecognize product
revenue on sales to distributors that have no génight of return and direct sales to end-cust@mgron shipment, once all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met. We also recgreévenue upon sell-through for distributor agreets that allow for rights of return. Such
returns are estimated and recorded as a reducti@vénue. Substantially all of our products hagerbsold in combination with services,
which consist of subscriptions and/or support. 8tipton services provide access to our antivimisusion prevention, web filtering, and anti-
spam functionality. Support services include rigbtsinspecified software upgrades, maintenancaseteand patches, telephone and Internet
access to technical support personnel, and hardsuggort.

The subscription and support services start onl#te the customer registers the appliance. Themastis then entitled to service for
the stated contractual period beginning on thesteggion date.

We offer certain sales incentives to channel pasti&'e reduce revenue for estimates of sales ietard allowances. Additionally, in
limited circumstances we may permit end-custondissributors and resellers to return our produsithject to varying limitations, for a refund
within a reasonably short period from the datewthase. We estimate and record reserves forisakestives and sales returns based on
historical experience.

Accounts Receivable—Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedegd@mount, net of allowances for doubtful acceuantd
reserves for sales returns and allowances. Thevatice for doubtful accounts is based on our asssgswfi the collectability of customer
accounts. We regularly review the allowance by m®ring factors such as historical experience,itighlity, age of the accounts receivable
balances and current economic conditions that rffagtaa customer's ability to pay. The reservesfales returns and allowances is based on
specific criteria including agreements to providbates and other factors known at the time, asasedistimates of the amount of goods shi
that will be returned. To determine the adequaahefreserves for sales returns and allowancesnatyze historical experience of actual
rebates and returns as well as current produatrré@téormation.

Warranties —We generally provide a one-year warranty on hardwaoducts and a 90-day warranty on software.d¥ipion for
estimated future costs related to warranty acgigits recorded as a component of cost of produetiees when the product revenues are
recognized, based upon historical product failates and historical costs incurred in correctirgdpct failures. In the event we change our
warranty reserve estimates, the resulting chargesgfuture cost of sales or reversal of previpustorded charges may materially affect our
gross margins and operating results.

Accrued warranty activities are summarized as fedl¢$ amounts in 000's):
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Accrued warranty balance—beginning of the period 1,87¢ 2,251 2,882
Warranty costs incurred (1,77¢) (1,337) (1,509
Provision for warranty for the year 2,10z 1,06¢ 1,16¢
Accruals related to changes in estimates 37¢ (111 (292
Accrued warranty balance—end of the period 2,582 1,87¢ 2,251

Foreign Currency Derivatives—Our sales contracts are primarily denominated.f. dollars and therefore substantially all of our
revenue is not subject to foreign currency trarstatisk. However, a substantial portion of our igtmg expenses incurred outside the U.S. are
denominated in foreign currencies and are subgefitittuations due to changes in foreign currenahange rates, particularly changes in the
CAD, EUR, GBP, and JPY. To help protect againatifitant fluctuations in value and the volatility future cash flows caused by changes in
currency exchange rates, we engage in foreign meyrask management activities to hedge balancetsteens denominated in EUR, GBP,
CAD. We do not use these contracts for speculatiteading purposes. All of the derivative instrurteeare with high quality financial
institutions and we monitor the creditworthinesshafse parties. These contracts typically have rtigtsibetween one and three months. We
account for our hedges under ASC &i&rivatives and HedgingWe record changes in the fair value of forwardhange contracts related to
balance sheet accounts as other income (expersél), the consolidated statement of operations.

Additionally, independent of any hedging activitilactuations in foreign currency exchange rates mwause us to recognize
transaction gains and losses in our consolidasgdraents of operations. Our hedging activitiesraiended to reduce, but not eliminate, the
impact of currency exchange rate movements. Asiedging activities are relatively short-term inurat long-term material changes in the
value of the U.S. dollar versus the EUR, GBP, CADRY could adversely impact our operating expeirséee future.

The notional amount of forward exchange contraztsetdige balance sheet accounts as of Decembe®dBIL wAs (amounts in 000's):

Buy/Sell Notional
To hedge balance sheet accounts:
Currency
EUR Buy 5,52¢
GBP Buy 1,54¢
CAD Buy 12,00(

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-8#endments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasuresmenbDisclosure
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and International FinahBieporting Standards (Topic 82— Fair Value Measurement (ASU 2011-049
provide a consistent definition of fair value andere that the fair value measurement and dis@amquirements are similar between U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standad&SU 2011-04 changes certain fair value measureprénciples and enhances the
disclosure requirements particularly for Level B felue measurements. This accounting updatebeithpplicable to the Company beginning
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2012 and shduddapplied prospectively. The Company does na¢vxekhe adoption of this guidance will
have a material impact on its consolidated findrat@ements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011@&nprehensive Income (Topic 220) - Presentatidbashprehensive Income (ASU
2011-05), to require an entity to present the total of coshpnsive income, the components of net income, and
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the components of other comprehensive income diitheeisingle continuous statement of compreherisis@me or in two separate but
consecutive statements. ASU 2003 eliminates the option to present the componaintsher comprehensive income as part of the st
equity. This accounting update will be applicald¢hte Company beginning in the first quarter ofdisyear 2012.

75




Table of Contents
FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AN DECEMBER 31, 2009

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE

The following table summarizes our investmentsr{foants in 000's):

December 31, 2011

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. government and agency securities 38,90( 10 2 38,90¢
Corporate debt securities 339,11( 21¢ (1,832 337,49°
Commercial paper 51,02¢ 7 5) 51,021
Municipal bonds 20,47: 36 (5) 20,50¢
Certificates of deposit and term deposits 18,76: 1 2) 18,76!
Total 468,27( 278 (1,84¢) 466,69°
December 31, 2010
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. government and agency securities 51,98¢ — (46) 51,94
Corporate debt securities 213,23 15¢ — 213,39¢
Commercial paper 38,91« 5 — 38,91¢
Municipal bonds 11,06¢ 11 — 11,08(
Certificates of deposit and term deposits 5,26 — — 5,26:
Total 320,47. 17¢ (46) 320,60:

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesand fair values of our investments, aggregatedvestment category and length

of time that individual securities have been iroatmuous unrealized loss position, at Decembef81]1 ($ amounts in 000's):

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
U.S. government and agency securitie 10,99¢ 2 — — 10,99¢ 2
Corporate debt securities 258,15¢ (1,832 — — 258,15¢ (1,839
Commercial paper 9,27¢ (5) — — 9,27¢ (5)
Municipal bonds 8,067 (5) — — 8,067 (5)
Certificates of deposit and term depos 7,49¢ 2 — — 7,49¢ 2
Total available-for-sale securities 294,00 (1,846) — — 294,00( (1,84¢)
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The contractual maturities of our investments aréoflows ($ amounts in 000's)

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Due within one year 318,28: 246,65:
Due after one year 148,41 73,95(
Total 466,69° 320,60:

Available-for-sale securities are reported at Vailue, with unrealized gains and losses, net ofitedkuded as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity (deficit) and in total compeelsive income. Realized gains and losses on alaifabsale securities are included in other
income (expense), net in our consolidated statesvardperations.

Realized gains and losses from the sale of availfitsale securities were not significant in aryipd presented.

Fair Value Accounting —We apply ASC 820 which establishes a valuationanéhy for disclosure of the inputs to fair value
measurement. This hierarchy prioritizes the injnits three broad levels as follows:

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices irvagtiarkets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs are quoted prices for similar asaets liabilities in active markets or inputs theg abservable for the assets or
liabilities, either directly or indirectly througharket corroboration, for substantially the fulineof the financial instruments.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs based on our own assangpused to measure assets and liabilities mv&die. The inputs require
significant management judgment or estimation.

We measure the fair value of money market fundsguguoted prices in active markets for identicakess The fair value of all other
financial instruments was based on quoted pricesifilar asserts in active markets, or model drivaluations using significant inputs deri
from or corroborated by observable market data.

We classify investments within Level 1 if quotedcps are available in active markets for identszdurities.
We classify items within Level 2 if the investmeatg valued using model driven valuations usingeolable inputs such as quoted
market prices, benchmark yields, reported tradexkes/dealer quotes or alternative pricing soukeits reasonable levels of price transpare

Investments are held by custodians who obtain tnvesst prices from a third-party pricing provideatlincorporates standard inputs in various
asset price models.

The following table presents the fair value of éinancial assets as of December 31, 2011 and Deze&il 2010 using the ASC 820
input categories:
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December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Quoted Quoted
Prices in Significant Prices in Significant
Active Other Active Other
Aggregate Markets For Observable Aggregate Markets For Observable
Fair Identical Remaining Fair Identical Remaining
Value Assets Inputs Value Assets Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 1) (Level 2)
Assets:
U.S. government and agency securities 38,90¢ — 38,90¢ 51,94 — 51,94:
Corporate debt securities 337,49° — 337,49° 213,39¢ — 213,39¢
Commercial paper 64,89( — 64,89( 52,41t — 52,41t
Municipal bonds 20,50¢ — 20,50¢ 11,08( — 11,08(
Certificates of deposit and term deposits 18,76: — 18,76: 5,26: — 5,26:
Money market funds 31,43¢ 31,43¢ — 7,07¢ 7,07¢ —
Foreign currency contracts — — — 74 — 74
Total 511,99¢ 31,43¢ 480,56( 341,24¢ 7,07¢ 334,17:
Reported as:
Cash equivalents 45,30 20,57«
Short-term investments 318,28: 246,65!
Prepaid expenses and other current ass — 74
Long-term investments 148,41 73,95(
Total 511,99¢ 341,24¢

Subsequent to the issuance of the 2010 consolifiagttial statements, we determined that $5.3anilbf term deposits classified as
Level 1 investments as of December 31, 2010 shuaNeé been classified as Level 2 as these invessmaeatnot actively traded. Accordingly,
we have corrected the classification of term depdsdm Level 1 to Level 2 in the table of fair ualmeasurements as of December 31, 2010.

We did not hold financial assets or liabilities wiiwere recorded at fair value using inputs inlteeel 3 category as of December 31,
2011 and December 31, 2010 . There were no trankétween Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair valuedrehy during the year ended December
31, 2011.
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3. INVENTORY

Inventory consisted of the following ($ amount9b0's):

Raw materials
Finished goods

Inventory

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net
Property and equipment consisted of the followfhgifounts in 000's):

Evaluation units

Computer equipment and software

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvements and tooling
Total property and equipment

Less: accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment—net

FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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December 31,

December 31,

2011 2010
3,441 2,59¢
12,80: 10,92
16,24¢ 13,517

December 31,

December 31,

2011 2010

13,91: 10,60°
12,21¢ 9,561

1,307 1,087

4,381 4,54¢
31,81¢ 25,80:
(23,859 (18,747
7,96¢ 7,05¢

Depreciation expense was $7.0 million, $5.7 millgovd $5.0 million in 2011 , 2010 and 2009 , respebt.
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5. ACQUISITIONS

On April 6, 2011, we completed the acquisition efkSwitch Corp. (TalkSwitch), a privately held coamy that provides voice over
IP phone system technology, for a cash paymen2 & fiillion. We accounted for this acquisition gsugchase of a business and, accordingly,
the total purchase price has been allocated toShdtkh tangible and identifiable intangible assetquired and liabilities assumed based on
their estimated fair market values as of the adtipisdate. The purchase price allocation resultgglirchased tangible assets of approximately
$0.9 million and liabilities of $0.1 million and pzhased identifiable intangible assets of approtetyab1.8 million. Identifiable intangible
assets consist of purchased technology. The fhievassigned to identifiable intangible assets medus determined using the income
approach, which discounts expected future cashsfkovpresent value using estimates and assumputeiasmined by us. Purchased identifie
intangible assets are being amortized on a stréilghbasis over three years. The financial resefithis acquisition are considered immaterial
for purposes of pro forma financial disclosures.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table presents the detail of our 8rigintangible assets with definite lives includadther assets as of December 31,
2011 ($ amounts in 000's):

Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net

Existing intangibles 1,772 394 1,37¢

Amortization expense, for the nine months post &itipn, was $0.4 million in fiscal 2011. The folling table summarizes estimated
future amortization expense of purchased intangibets with definite lives for the future fiscahy ($ amounts in 000's):

Amount
Fiscal Years:
2012 563
2013 611
2014 204
Total 1,37¢

7. INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome attributable to common stockholdershewteighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the perioditBil net income per share is computed by dividetgntome attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of comshares outstanding, plus the dilutive effectstofk options and warrants. Potentially
dilutive common shares are determined by applylegtiteasury stock method to the assumed exercisetstanding stock options.

Net income per share information for fiscal 200@egi effect to the repurchase of convertible pretéshares (Note 10). The excess of
the fair value of the consideration paid for sucéfgrred stock over the carrying value of the preféd stock represents a return to the preferred
stockholders and is treated in a manner similéineareatment of dividends paid to the holdersrefgrred stock in the computation of income
per share. As a result, the premium paid is sutatdeftom net income attributable to common stoc#tars in determining income per share.

In November 2009, all of our outstanding conveetipteferred stock converted into common stock imegtion with our initial publi
offering. For periods that ended prior to such @eion, net income per share information is conghuting the two-class method. The
convertible preferred shares were entitled to k&cannual non-cumulative dividends of $0.02, $0$@612, $0.12 and $0.30 per share for
Series A, B, C, D, and E, respectively, payablermind in preference to holders of common stockerhe payment of such dividends,
convertible preferred shares were further entittececeive a proportionate amount of any dividepaisl on common stock on an if-converted
basis. As a result of such dividend rights, the
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convertible preferred shares are considered tabt&cipating securities. Under the tvetass method of computing income per share, neiir
attributable to common stockholders is computedtydjustment to subtract from net income the @omif current year earnings that the
preferred stockholders would have been entitlagdteive pursuant to their dividend rights had &the year’s earnings been distributed. No
such adjustment to earnings is made during pefrdiiisa net loss, as the holders of the converfipéferred shares had no obligation to fund
losses.

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominateediin the calculation of basic and diluted nebime per share follows ($ and
share amounts in 000's, except per share amounts):

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Numerator:
Net income 62,49: 41,24 60,17¢
Premium paid on repurchase of convertible prefestetes = — (9,266
Net income attributable to common stockholdersand diluted 62,49: 41,24f 50,91:
Denominator:
Basic shares:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding-basic 152,58 140,72t 52,66¢
Diluted shares:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding-basic 152,58: 140,72¢ 52,66¢
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
Employee stock options 11,20( 15,52« 11,74
Employee stock purchase rights — — —
Warrants to purchase common stock — 15€ 38
Convertible preferred stock — — 65,99(
Weighted-average shares used to compute diluteidicmne per share 163,78: 156,40t 130,43t
Net income per share attributable to common stodlens:
Basic 0.41 0.2¢€ 0.97
Diluted 0.3¢ 0.2¢€ 0.3¢
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The following weightedaverage outstanding shares of options and empkigek purchase rights were excluded from the coaijmun
of diluted net income per common share applicableommon stockholders for the periods presentetheaseffect would have been
antidilutive (in 000's):

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Options to purchase common stock 3,89 3,00¢ 9,16¢
Employee stock purchase rights 122 — —
8. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following ($ ant® in 000's):
December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Product 5,811 4,46¢€
Services 272,84 219,02:
Ratable and other revenue 16,17: 29,14:
Total deferred revenue 294,83 252,63:
Reported As:
Short-term 206,92¢ 169,64
Long-term 87,90¢ 82,98
Total deferred revenue 294,83 252,63

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases and Minimum Royalties—We lease our facilities under various noncancelapkrating leases, which expire through the
2015. Rent expense was $8.2 million, $7.0 milliod 6.1 million for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009 pextively. Rent expense is recognized
using the straighline method over the term of the lease. The agdedidure noncancelable minimum rental paymenteperating leases as
December 31, 2011 are as follows ($ amounts ins00*

Rental
Payment
Fiscal Years:
2012 7,30¢
2013 4,71z
2014 3,041
2015 1,604
Total 16,66¢

Contract Manufacturer Commitments —Our independent contract manufacturers procurepoments and build our products based
on our forecasts. These forecasts are based oma¢as of future demand for our products, whichitern based on historical trends and an
analysis from our sales and marketing organizatiadgisted for overall market conditions. In orttereduce manufacturing lead times and
plan for adequate component supply, we may issuehpee orders to some of our independent contrantifacturers which may not be
cancelable. As of December 31, 2011 , we had $2dli@n of open purchase orders with our independentract manufacturers that may not
be cancelable.

Litigation —In August 2009, Trend Micro filed a complaint aggtius in the Superior Court of the State of Catifm for Santa Clara
County alleging breach of contract and seekingdadatory judgment that we are obligated to maké&ageroyalty payments to Trend Micro
pursuant to a settlement and license agreemeneeritgo in January 2006. In December 2011, weredtmto a settlement agreement with
Trend Micro resolving the dispute for a one-timgmpant of $9.0 million.
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The settlement agreement includes a fully paichBeeto the patents subject to the prior patentdieeagreement with no continuing obligation
to pay royalties for those patents. We had preWoascrued a liability of $7.2 million as of thetdaof the settlement of our litigation with
Trend Micro. The remaining $1.8 million was recatdes a prepaid asset as of December 31, 2011, vehiigting expensed as Cost of revenue
over the remaining term of the related patentoof fears.

In August 2009, Enhanced Security Research, LLCSesualrity Research Holdings LLC (collectively “EJRA non-practicing entity,
filed a complaint against us in the United Statéstriat Court for the District of Delaware allegimgfringement by us and other defendants of
two patents. The plaintiffs are claiming unspediftamages and requesting an injunction againstltbged infringement. In June 2010, the
Court granted our motion to stay pending the outofireexamination proceedings on both asserteghtsatThe PTO has finally rejected al
the claims of the patents in the suit and ESR pasaled this result to the Board of Patent Appaatkinterferences (“BPAI”). We have
determined that, as of this time, there is notagoaable possibility that a loss may be incurred.

In April 2010, an individual, a former stockholdrFortinet, filed a class action lawsuit againstclaiming unspecified damages in
the California Superior Court for the County of LAsgeles alleging violation of various Californimorations Code sections and related tort
claims alleging misrepresentation and breach afciiry duty regarding the 2009 repurchase by Fetrtifi shares of its stock while we were a
privately-held company. The plaintiff is claimingspecified damages. In September 2010, the Coamtegt our motion to transfer the case to
the California Superior Court for Santa Clara Cguantd the plaintiff has filed an amended complairthe Superior Court to add individual
defendants, among other amendments. Currentlyatbe is in the early stages, and we have deterrtiiag¢das of this time, there is not a
reasonable possibility that a loss may be incurred.

In July 2010, Network Protection Sciences, LLC (SR a non-practicing entity, filed a complainttire United States District Court for
the Eastern District of Texas alleging patent mjgment by us and other defendants. NPS is claiomisgecified damages, including treble
damages for willful infringement, and requestsgariction against such alleged infringement. In &aber 2011, in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas ordereddase to be transferred to the Northern Districtalifornia. Currently the case is in the early
stages, and we have determined that, as of thés timere is not a reasonable possibility that a foay be incurred.

Indemnification —Under the indemnification provisions of our stamtisales contracts, we agree to defend our cussagainst
third-party claims asserting infringement of certaitellectual property rights, which may includatgnts, copyrights, trademarks, or trade
secrets, and to pay judgments entered on suchsl@ur exposure under these indemnification prowusis generally limited to the total
amount paid by our customer under the agreementeMer, certain agreements include indemnificatimvisions that could potentially
expose us to losses in excess of the amount recender the agreement. To date, there have beelaines under such indemnification
provisions.
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10. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Shares Reserved for Issuance-At December 31, 2011 , we had reserved 46,78%658mon shares for issuance.

Stock Repurchase—While we were a privately-held company, during fingt six months of fiscal 2009, our Board of Qiters
approved a stock repurchase authorization. Thisrobyase authorization allowed us to repurchase $2®.0 million of our convertible
preferred and common stock at $4.25 per shareghrdune 17, 2009. This repurchase authorizatioresgly excluded our board members
senior management. We repurchased 1,409,264 stfatesxmon stock and 6,008,330 shares of convenpitdéerred stock for a total
consideration of $15.7 million in fiscal 2009.

11. STOCK PLANS

2000 Stock Plan—During 2000, we adopted the 2000 Stock Option Rda@ Plan), which includes both incentive and statutory
stock options. Under the Plan, we may grant optionmurchase up to 21,500,000 shares of commok stoemployees, directors and other
service providers at prices not less than thenfigirket value at date of grant for incentive stoplans and not less than 85% of fair market
value for non-statutory options. Options granted fmerson who, at the time of the grant, owns rttuaa 10% of the voting power of all classes
of stock shall be at no less than 110% of therfeirket value and expire five years from the datgraht. All other options generally have a
contractual term of 10 years. Options generallyt vger four years.

2008 Stock Plan—On January 28, 2008, our Board of Directors appdabhe 2008 Stock Plan (the 2008 Plan) and FrenbkhPfan,
which includes both incentive and non-statutorgktoptions. The maximum aggregate number of shahésh may be subject to options and
sold under the 2008 Plan and the French Sub-PB009,000 shares, plus any shares that, as dfatieeof stockholder approval of the 2008
Plan, have been reserved but not issued undeOB@ Rlan or shares subject to stock options odairaivards granted under the 2000 Plan
expire or otherwise terminate without having beeereised in full or that are forfeited to or repuased by us.

Under the 2008 Plan and the French Sub-Plan, wegraat options to employees, directors and otheticeproviders. In the case of
an incentive stock option granted to an employd® at the time of grant, owns stock representingentitan 10% of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock, the exercise pril e no less than 110% of the fair market valeleshare on the date of grant and expire five
years from the date of grant, and options grardexhy other employee, the per share exercise ghiakk be no less than 100% of the fair ma
value per share on the date of grant. In the chaenonstatutory stock option and options grantedther service providers, the per share
exercise price shall be no less than 100% of tinerfarket value per share on the date of grant.

2009 Equity Incentive Plan—On November 17, 2009, our Board of Directors appdothe 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009
Plan) and French Sub-Plan, which includes awardsozk options, stock appreciation rights, restdcstock, restricted stock units, and
performance units or performance shares. The mariaggregate number of shares that may be issuest threlPlan is 9,000,000 shares, plus
any shares subject to stock options or similar de/granted under the 2008 Stock Plan and the Andesidle Restated 2000 Stock Plan that
expire or otherwise terminate without having berereised in full and shares issued pursuant to dsvgranted under the 2008 Stock Plan and
the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan thabeestéd to or repurchased by the Company, withntle&imum number of shares to be
added to the Plan pursuant to such terminatiomgifores and repurchases not to exceed 21,00@/0@@s. The shares may be authorized, but
unissued or reacquired common stock. The numbgharfes available for issuance under the 2009 Flabenincreased on the first day of e:
fiscal year beginning with the 2011 fiscal yearamamount equal to the lesser of (i) 7,000,000esh4ii) five percent (5%) of the outstanding
shares on the last day of the immediately precefitiegl year, or (iii) such number of shares detaed by the Board.

Under the 2009 Plan and the French Sub-Plan, wegraat awards to employees, directors and othercgeproviders. In the case of
an incentive stock option granted to an employee,whthe time of the grant, owns stock represgntiore than 10% of the voting power of
classes of stock, the exercise price shall be setlean 110% of the fair market value per sharthemate of grant and expire five years from
the date of grant, and options granted to any athggloyee, the per share exercise price shall Hessathan 100% of the fair market value per
share on the date of grant. In the case of a radatety stock option and options granted to otleevise providers, the per share exercise price
shall be no less than 100% of the fair market vakreshare on the date of grant. Options grantéudigiduals owning less than 10% of the
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total combined voting power of all classes of stgekerally have a contractual term of seven yezdsoptions generally vest over four years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plar—In June 2011, our stockholders approved the ESR® purpose of the ESPP is to provide eligible
employees with the opportunity to purchase comnmocksthrough regular, systematic payroll deductjaqsto a maximum of 15.0% of
employees' compensation for each purchase periodrelhase prices equal to 85.0% of the lessereofdin market value of our common stock
at the first trading date of the applicable offgrperiod or the purchase date. The first offeringqa under the ESPP began on August 15,
and ends on February 14, 2012. At December 31,,Z)000,000 shares were authorized and availabliegoance.

Stock-based compensation under ASC 718-Stock-based compensation is accounted for in deome with ASC 718, which
requires compensation costs related to share-ltiesmeghctions, including employee stock optionsstodk purchase rights, to be recognized in
the financial statements based on fair value. UAGE 718, the fair value of each option award tinested on the grant date using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. We determined weidtgeerage valuation assumptions as follows:

Valuation method—We estimate the fair value of stock options grdntsing the Black-Scholes valuation model.

Expected Term—The expected term represents the period thattook-$ased awards are expected to be outstandggieAdo not
have sufficient historical experience for determgnthe expected term of the stock option awardstgda we have based our expected term on
the simplified method available under ASC 718-10.

Expected Volatility—The computation of expected volatility for the ipels presented includes the historical and impdiedk
volatility of comparable companies from a repreagwné peer group selected based on industry anlleheapitalization data and to a lesser

extent, our weighted historical volatility followgnour IPO in November 2009.

Fair Value of Common Stoek The fair value of our common stock is the clossades price of the Common Stock (or the closing bid
if no sales were reported) on the effective graéd

Risk-Free Interest Rate-We base the risk-free interest rate used in tlelBBcholes valuation model on the implied yieldikble
on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an eqeivakemaining term.

Expected Dividend-The expected dividend weighted-average assumggibased on our current expectations about oucipated
dividend policy.

The following table summarizes the weighted-avemggimptions relating to our stock options as ¥aito
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Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Expected term in years 4.1 -4.€ 4.€ 45-4.€
Volatility (%) 40 -57 38 -43 43 -52
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.6 -2.C 1.1-24 1.3-2.3
Dividend rate (%) — — —
Stock-based compensation expense is included i8 aosl expenses as follows ($ amounts in 000's):
Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Cost of product revenue 18z 101 10z
Cost of services revenue 1,79( 92¢ 65¢
Research and development 4,691 2,33¢ 1,96:
Sales and marketing 9,32 3,81( 3,02(
General and administrative 3,02¢ 2,13¢ 1,71¢
Total stock-based compensation 19,01 9,31t 7,461
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A summary of the option activity under our stocknd and changes during the reporting periods asepted below (in 000's, except
per share amounts):

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Shares Average Remaining Aggregate
Available Number Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
for Grant of Shares Price ($) Life (Years) Value ($)
Balance—December 28, 2008 (18,250 shares weredvatte
weighted-average exercise price of $1.13 per share) 10,09t 31,46¢ 2.0¢€
Additional shares authorized 13,77 — —
Granted (weighted-average fair value of $1.43 pare) (8,406 8,40¢ 4.0C
Forfeited 2,634 (2,639 3.3¢€
Exercised (aggregate intrinsic value of $10,490) — (2,82¢) 0.9¢
Balance—December 31, 2009 (20,504 shares weredvatste
weighted-average exercise price of $1.66 per share) 18,09° 34,41( 2.5¢2
Granted (weighted-average fair value of $3.59 pare) (4,837) 4,832 9.7(C
Forfeited 1,82¢ (1,825 5.5¢
Exercised (aggregate intrinsic value of $117,934) — (14,929 1.9t
Balance—December 31, 2010 15,09( 22,48¢ 4.21
Additional shares authorized 7,43¢ — —
Granted (weighted-average fair value of $8.10 pare) (6,52¢) 6,52¢ 21.0¢
Forfeited 1,397 (2,399 11.7¢
Exercised (aggregate intrinsic value of $113,590) — (6,229 3.21
Balance—December 31, 2011 17,39¢ 21,38¢ 9.14
Options vested and expected to vest—December 31, 20 20,39 8.9 477 265,55
Options exercisable—December 31, 2011 10,95: 3.57 4.1¢€ 199,76t

At December 31, 2011, total compensation costadlto unvested stock-based awards granted to gegdainder our stock plans but
not yet recognized was $53.0 million , net of eatiedl forfeitures. This cost is expected to be ameiton a straight-line basis over a weighted-
average period of 3.0 years. Future option grailtsnerease the amount of compensation expende teecorded in these periods.

The total fair value of awards vested under oucksdans was $11.8 million , $8.5 million and $®8lion for fiscal 2011 , 2010 and
2009 , respectively.
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Additional information regarding options outstarglas of December 31, 2011 , is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-

Average Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining Average Average

Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Exercise Prices ($) Outstanding Life (Years) Price ($) Exercisable Price ($)
0.08-1.20 3,06/ 3.17 0.81 3,06¢ 0.81
3.72-4.65 8,72¢ 3.7C 3.7¢ 6,69¢ 3.7¢
5.50-6.25 262 4.82 5.61 97 5.6t
8.43-8.99 2,77( 5.2¢€ 8.5¢ 90¢ 8.5t
15.28 581 5.8t 15.2¢ 114 15.2¢
20.12-23.96 5,98¢ 6.3€ 21.0% 74 20.2:¢

21,38¢ 10,95

Employee Stock Purchase Plar-During fiscal 2011, compensation expense recognizeonnection with the ESPP was $1.6 million.
The following table summarizes the weighted-ave@ggimptions relating to our ESPP during fiscall284 follows:

Expected term in years 0.5
Volatility (%) 59.¢
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.07
Dividend rate (%) —
Estimated fair value ($) 6.5¢€

12. INCOME TAXES

The pre-tax income for the periods ended is asyidl($ amounts in 000's):

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Domestic 85,41: 50,55¢ 22,66
Foreign 6,66 5,78¢ 4,84¢
Total Pre-Tax Income 92,07t 96,34! 27,51¢
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The provision for income taxes for the years endexb follows ($ amounts in 000's):

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Current:
Federal 34,85¢ 10,63 4,882
State 2,78t (82 1,00z
Foreign 1,40z 9,29¢ 1,17:
Total current 39,04: 19,84¢ 7,05¢
Deferred:
Federal (9,32¢) (4,119 (35,33)
State (13€) (62€) (3,850
Foreign — (8 (543
Total deferred (9,462) (4,759 (39,729
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 29,58. 15,09¢ (32,666

The provision for income taxes differs from the amibcomputed by applying the statutory federal medax rate as follows ($
amounts in 000's):

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Tax at federal statutory tax rate 32,22t 19,71¢ 9,62¢
Stock-based compensation expense (2,45%) (2,309 1,311
State taxes—net of federal benefit 2,22 (1,099¢) 821
Research and development credit (887) (949 (35€)
Foreign income taxed at different rates (929) (1,06€) (1,069
Other (599 797 1,20z
Change in valuation allowance — — (44,209
Total provision for income taxes 29,58: 15,09¢ (32,66¢)

Significant permanent differences arise from theipo of stock-based compensation expense thaitiexpected to generate a tax
deduction, such as stock compensation expenseok @ption grants to certain foreign employeesseifby the actual tax benefits in the
current periods from disqualifying dispositionssbfares held by our U.S. employees. For stock apgoercised by our U.S. employees, we
receive an income tax benefit calculated as tHerdifice between the fair market value of the sissltied at the time of the exercise and the
option price, tax effected. Due to this, our incataees payable have been reduced by the tax befrefih employee stock plan awards. The
income tax benefits for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2888ociated with dispositions from employee stoakdactions of $26.2 million, $9.3 million
and $1.3 million, respectively, were recognize@dditional paid-in capital.

As of December 31, 2011 , we did not recognizerdedetax assets relating to excess tax benefitstémk-based compensation
deductions of $5.5 million and $1.1 million, whirdlated to California net operating losses andf@alia tax credits, respectively.
Unrecognized deferred tax benefits will be accodifite as a credit to additional paid-in-capital wirealized through a reduction in income
taxes payable.

89




Table of Contents
FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AN DECEMBER 31, 2009

The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to significant portions of the deferred tageds as of each of the years ended are
presented below ($ amount in 000's):

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward 1,83( 1,92(
Deferred revenue 31,23 25,17:
Nondeductible reserves and accruals 13,69¢ 10,99(
Depreciation and amortization 684 2,02¢
General business credit carryforward 39¢ 1,24:
Stock-based compensation 6,24 4,22¢
Other 12 21
Total deferred tax assets 54,10: 45,60!

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax @ssee considered whether it is more likely thahthat some portion or all of our
deferred tax assets will be realized. This redlinais dependent upon the generation of futureliixismmcome during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. Manageswmtiuded that it is more likely than not thatweuld be able to realize the benefit of
our deferred tax assets in the future.

As of December 31, 2011 , we had various statepetating loss carryforwards of approximately $3wiBion. These state net
operating loss carryforwards begin to expire inythar 2012. The state tax authorities impose st restrictions on the utilization of net
operating loss tax credit carryforwards. Our apild use our net operating loss carryforwards feetfany future taxable income may be sul
to limitations if equity transactions occur thatwaresult in a change of ownership. As of Decenier2011 , we have tax credit
carryforwards available to offset our future statees of approximately $1.6 million. The state @edarry forward indefinitely.

The Company's policy with respect to its undistrdialiforeign subsidiaries' earnings is to consides¢ earnings to be indefinitely
reinvested and, accordingly, no related provisibb .&. federal and state income taxes has beeridawvUpon distribution of those earning
the form of dividends or otherwise, we will be sedijto both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adiest for foreign tax credits) and
withholding taxes in the various foreign countrias December 31, 2011 we have not recorded U.®nmectax on approximately $24.3 million
of foreign earnings that are deemed to be permbnezihvested overseas.

At December 31, 2011 , we had $19.3 million of wognized tax benefits, of which, if recognized, $1&illion would favorably
affect our effective tax rate. Our policy is tolude accrued interest and penalties related tortaingax benefits in income tax expense. As of
December 31, 2011 , accrued interest and penaldes $0.6 million. As of December 31, 2010, accrierest and penalties were $0.2
million.

The aggregate changes in the balance of unrecabtaxebenefits are as follows ($ amounts in 000's):

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
Balance, beginning of year 12,08 3,38 1,952
Increases for tax positions related to the curyeat 9,04¢ 8,69¢ 44C
Increases (decreases) for tax positions relatéuetprior year (1,869 — 99t
Balance, end of year 19,26¢ 12,08 3,381

As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.1$h8lion and $11.2 million, respectively, of thenounts reflected above were
recorded as a liability and included in other nonrent liabilities in our consolidated balance shee

As of December 31, 2011 , there were no unrecodrieze benefits that we expect would change siganifily over the next 12 months.

90




Table of Contents
FORTINET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2010 AN DECEMBER 31, 2009

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdiction, and various U.S. state and foreign juctsahs. As we have net operating
loss carryforwards for the U.S. Federal and statsdictions, the statute of limitations is open &l tax years. Generally, we are no longer
subject to non-U.S. income tax examinations byatathorities for tax years prior to 2006.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

We have established a 401(k) tax-deferred savilags(the “401(k) Plan”) which permits participamtsmake contributions by salary
deduction pursuant to Section 401(k) of the InteRevenue Code. Under the 401(k) Plan, particigagimployees may defer a portion of their
pre-tax earnings, up to the IRS annual contribulifoit ($16,500 for the calendar year 2011). In &@a, we have established a Group
Registered Retirement Savings Plan program (theSfRRRlan") which permits participants to make tacudéible contributions up to the
maximum RRSP contribution limits under the Inconax RAct. As of January 1, 2011, our board of direstgpproved 50.0% matching
contributions on employee contributions, up to 4@Rhe employee's eligible earnings. Our matchiogtributions to the RRSP and 401(k)
Plans for fiscal 2011 was $1.5 million.

14. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSAC TIONS

During fiscal 2009, we paid compensation of $166,@0two employees who are directly related toranfer board member. This
individual ceased being a board member as of Oct2b@9.

In February 2008, we entered into a 23-month narcelable facility lease agreement, determined tarbarm's length transaction,

with an entity affiliated with one of our former & members. During fiscal 2009, we paid $917,@0®ffice rent and operating expenses.
The lease expired on December 31, 2009.
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15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280, establishes standards for reporting informatioruélbperating segments. Operating segments areediedis components of
an enterprise about which separate financial in&tion is available that is evaluated regularly iy thief operating decision maker in decic
how to allocate resources and in assessing perfarn®ur chief operating decision maker is ourfodecutive officer. Our chief executive
officer reviews financial information presentedanonsolidated basis, accompanied by informati@uttevenue by geographic region for
purposes of allocating resources and evaluatirapfiral performance. We have one business actaitgl,there are no segment managers who
are held accountable for operations, operatingtseand plans for levels or components below thesobdated unit level. Accordingly, we are
considered to be in a single reportable segmenbpadhting unit structure.

Revenue by geographic region is based on the dpitlifdress of the customer. The following tablede¢t revenue and property and
equipment by geographic region ($ amounts in 000's)

Fiscal Year
Revenue 2011 2010 2009
Americas:
United States 120,45¢ 92,097 73,17:
Other Americas 52,03¢ 31,86¢ 19,44¢
172,49: 123,96: 92,62
EMEA 152,38! 121,60 95,88¢
APAC 108,69° 79,13! 63,60¢
Total revenue 433,57t 324,69¢ 252,11¢
December 31, December 31,
Property and Equipment 2011 2010
Americas:
United States 2,22¢ 1,63¢
Canada 4,06 3,93:
Other Americas 33 13
6,32( 5,58¢
EMEA 80¢& 61€
APAC 841 85&
Total property and equipment—net 7,96¢ 7,05¢
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accodants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finarad Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Manageneenducted an evaluation of the effectivenessuofinternal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in Internal Cdntiotegrated Framework issued by the CommitteeparSoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, gemant concluded that our internal control oveaticial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2011 . Management reviewed the resiilis assessment with our Audit Committee. THeativeness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 284% been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an irgelent registered public accounting fi
as stated in its report, which appears in this Itemer the heading “Report of Independent RegidtBreblic Accounting Firm.”

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleleécutive officer and chief financial officer, éwated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as definedule R3a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the SecuritiehBmrge Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period coddrg this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In designargl evaluating the disclosure controls
and procedures, management recognized that angotoahd procedures, no matter how well designeldogerated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desiredatatjectives. In addition, the design of disclasaontrols and procedures must reflect the
fact that there are resource constraints and thaagement is required to apply its judgment inatihg the benefits of possible controls and
procedures relative to their costs.

Based on that evaluation, our chief executive effiend chief financial officer concluded that oigctbsure controls and procedures
were effective as of December 31, 2011 to prové@sonable assurance that information we are refjtdgrdisclose in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processeanmarized and reported within the time pergmixified in Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms, and that such inforomais accumulated and communicated to our managemeluding our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate allow timely decisions regarding required tbisare.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportn
There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15¢)L5d-15(f) under the Exchange

Act) during our fourth fiscal quarter that have erélly affected, or are reasonably likely to matky affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fortinet, Inc.
Sunnyvale, California

We have audited the internal control over financéglorting of Fortinet, Inc. and subsidiaries (eolively, the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2011, based on criteria establishedemal Control - Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camisananagement is responsible for maintainingcéffe internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigerd internal control over financial reportingglided in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@ur responsibility is to express an opinion om @ompany's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®tsr audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company's principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected g tcompany's board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakoaaturance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(th) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of theetssof the company; (2) provide reasonable asserduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statein accordance with generally accepted acaogiptiinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management ardtors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of the company's assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolhover financial reporting, including the posétl of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatbtected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialeespects, effective internal control over fig&l reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on the criteria establishethtarnal Control - Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
consolidated financial statements and consolidfitedicial statement schedule listed in the Indebtegth 15 as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2011, of the Company and our repoetdd@ebruary 27, 2012 expressed an unqualifiedapion those financial statements and
financial statement schedule and included an eqptey paragraph relating to the change in the Caryipanethod for recognizing revenue for
multiple element arrangements.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2012
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ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.

Part Il
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Executive Officers and Directors

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to Fortinet’s definitive prestgtement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscary@vered by this annual report on Form
10-K.

As part of our system of corporate governancepoard of directors has adopted a code of busiresduct and ethics. The code
applies to all of our employees, officers (inclugliour principal executive officer, principal finaatofficer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functipregents and representatives, including our indeéget directors and consultants, who are
employees of the Company, with regard to theiriRettrelated activities. Our code of business condudtethics is available on our website
www.fortinet.com under “About Us—Investor Relatien€orporate Governance.” We will post on this settd our website any amendment
to our code of business conduct and ethics, asasedhy waivers of our code of business conduceérids, that are required to be disclose
the rules of the SEC or the NASDAQ Stock Market.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

Information responsive to this item is incorporaledein by reference to Fortinet’s definitive prastatement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscary@vered by this annual report on Form
10-K.
ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficid Owners and Management and Related Stockholder M&rs

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to Fortinet’s definitive prestgtement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscary@vered by this annual report on Form
10-K.
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trasactions, and Director Independence

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to Fortinet’s definitive prestgtement with respect to our 2012
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscary@vered by this annual report on Form
10-K.
ITEM 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference to Fortinet’s definitive prestgatement with respect to our 2012

Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscary@vered by this annual report on Form
10-K.
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Part IV
ITEM 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedles
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ fhorm 10-K:

1. Financial Statement: The information concerning Fortinet’s financitdtements and the Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm required by this Item 15@)is incorporated by reference herein to the saatf this Form 10-K in
Item 8, titled “Financial Statements and SupplemgnbData.”

2. Financial Statement Schedt: The following financial statement schedule oftirat, Inc., for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and Dece3db@009 , is filed as part of this Form 10-K afmduld be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statete@f Fortinet, Inc.

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Fiscal Year
2011 2010 2009
($ amounts in 000's)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Beginning balance 303 367 31¢
Charged to costs and expenses 15¢ 8 161
Bad debt write-offs (12€) (72) (112
Ending balance 33¢ 30¢ 367

Schedules not listed above have been omitted bedhayg are not applicable or are not required eiitformation required to be set
forth therein is included in the Consolidated FiciahStatements or Notes thereto.

3. Exhibits: See Iltem 15(b) below. We have filed, or incorpedanto this 10-K by reference, the exhibits listan the
accompanying Index to Exhibits immediately follogithe signature page of this Form 10-K.

(b) Exhibits:

The exhibit list in the Index to Exhibits immeditéollowing the signature page of this Form 10<imcorporated herein by reference
as the list of exhibits required by this Item 15(b)

(c) Financial Statement Schedules: See Item 1h@e
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{(th)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized, on February 27, 2012 .

FORTINET, INC.

By: /sl Ken Goldman
Ken Goldman, Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anoirgppgen Xie
and Ken Goldman, jointly and severally, his attgrivefact, with the power of substitution, for himany and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K arfide the same, with exhibits thereto and otherutoents in connection therewith, with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereldyirgfiand confirming all that each of said attorséy-fact, or his substitute or substitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélptine following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  Ken Xie President, Chief ExéoritOfficer and Director February 27, 201
Ken Xie (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl Ken Goldman Chief Financial icéf February 27, 201
Ken Goldman (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl Michael Xie Chief Technical @#r and Director February 27, 201
Michael Xie
/sl Pehong Chen Director February 27, 201

Pehong Chen

/sl Hong Liang Lu Director February 27, 201
Hong Liang Lu

/sl Greg Myers Director February 27, 201
Greg Myers
/sl Christopher B. Paisley Director February 27, 201

Christopher B. Paisley

/s/ John Walecka Non-Executive @hain of the Board and Director February 27, 201
John Walecka
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description Incorporated by reference herein
Form Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (ol 333-  August 10, 2009
161190)
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws Current Report on Form 8-K January 25, 2012
4.1 Specimen common stock certificate of the Company Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (ol 333-  November 2, 2009
161190)
4.2 Third Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agre¢ndated Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (¥l 333-  August 10, 2009
as of February 24, 2004, between the Company andgice 161190)
holders of the Company'’s capital stock named therei
10.1" Forms of Indemnification Agreement between the Canypand Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended ffl 333-  August 10, 2009
its directors and officers 161190)
10.2" 2000 Stock Plan and forms of agreement thereunder Registration Statement on Form S-l, as amended [0l 333-  August 10, 2009
161190)
10.3" 2008 Stock Plan and forms of agreement thereunder Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (ol 333-  August 10, 2009
161190)
10.4" 2009 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of restrictéatk unit Registration Statement on Form S-l, as amended [0l 333-  August 10, 2009
award and restricted stock agreement thereunder 161190)
10.5" Forms of stock option agreement under 2009 Equitemhtive
Plan
10.6" Separation and Change of Control Agreement, datexdf a Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended [0l 333-  August 10, 2009
August 7, 2009, between the Company and Ken Xie 161190)
10.77 Separation and Change of Control Agreement, dagexdf a Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended [0l 333-  August 10, 2009
August 7, 2009, between the Company and Michael Xie 161190)
10.8" Separation and Change of Control Agreement, datexf a Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (ol 333-  August 10, 2009
August 7, 2009, between the Company and Ken Goldman 161190)
10.9' Separation and Change of Control Agreement, dagexdf a Registration Statement on Form S-l, as amended [0l 333-  August 10, 2009
August 7, 2009, between the Company and John Whittl 161190)
10.10" Offer Letter, dated as of August 31, 2007, by aetivieen the Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (ol 333-  August 10, 2009
Company and Ken Goldman 161190)
10.111 Offer Letter, dated as of August 31, 2007, by aetiieen the Registration Statement on Form S-l, as amended [0l 333-  August 10, 2009
Company and John Whittle 161190)
10.12" Form of Change of Control Agreement between the o Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (ol 333-  August 10, 2009
and its non-executive officers 161190)
10.13 Fortinet, Inc. Bonus Plan Current Report on Form 8-K January 26, 2010
10.14 Fortinet, Inc. 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Current Report on Form 8-K June 23, 2011
21.1 List of subsidiaries Registration Statement on Form S-I, as amended (0l 001-  August 10, 2009
34511)

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing



24.1* Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference todlymature
page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantExchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), aptad pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxtey
of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuawt Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), egtad pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxi¢y
of 2002

32.1* Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectioB@,3as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasba
Oxley Act of 2002
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TIndicates management compensatory plan, contratrangement.
* Filed herewith.
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Exhibit 10.5
FORTINET, INC.
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms definethe Fortinet, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plahet‘Plan”) will have the sarr
defined meanings in this Stock Option Award Agreeh{the “Award Agreement”).

I. NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Participant Name:
Address:

You have been granted an Option to purchase Con8tark of Fortinet, Inc. (the “Company’ubject to the terms and condition:
the Plan and this Award Agreement, as follows:

Grant Number:

Date of Grant:

Vesting Commencement Date:
Exercise Price per share:

Total Number of Shares Granted:
Total Exercise Price:

Type of Option:

Term/Expiration Date:

Vesting Schedule

Subject to any acceleration provisions containetthénPlan or set forth below, this Option may bereised, in whole or in part, in
accordance with the following schedule:

Shares Vesting * Vest Type Begin Vest Date End Vest Date

* Total shares vesting from “Begin Vest Date” tontEVest Date.”

Termination Period

This Option will be exercisable for three (3) man#fter Participant ceases to be a Service Prouiaidess such termination is dut
Participant's death or Disability, in which cases t®ption will be exercisable for twelve (12) mositter Participant ceases to be Ser
Provider. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no etveray this Option be exercised after the Term/Eatmn Date as provided above and ma
subject to earlier termination as provided in Setti4(c) of the Plan.

By Participant's signature and the signature ofCGhmpany's representative below, Participant aedtbmpany agree that this Opt
is granted under and governed by the terms anditommsl of the Plan and this Award Agreement, inahgdthe Terms and Conditions of St
Option Grant attached hereto as Exhibit A and tkddi#onal Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grattached hereto as Exhibit B, al
which are made a part of this document. Participastreviewed the Plan and this Award Agreemettieir entirety, has had an opportunit
obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing #wvard



GESDMS/6544036.12




Agreement and fully understands all provisionshef Plan and Award Agreement. Participant herebgesgto accept as binding, conclu

and final all decisions or interpretations of thendinistrator upon any questions relating to thenRlad Award Agreement. Participant furi
agrees to notify the Company upon any change ingbiedence address indicated below.

OPTIONEE: FORTINET, INC.
By
Date Title
2
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EXHIBIT A

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

1. Grant of Option The Company hereby grants to the individual namethe Notice of Grant attached as Part | of
Award Agreement (the “Participant”) an option (th@ption”) to purchase the number of Shares, as set fortherNbtice of Grant, at tl
exercise price per Share set forth in the NoticeGodint (the “Exercise Price”subject to all of the terms and conditions in tAiward
Agreement and the Plan, which is incorporated hdvgireference. Subject to Section 19 of the Rtathe event of a conflict between the te
and conditions of the Plan and the terms and ciomgitof this Award Agreement, the terms and coadgiof the Plan will prevail.

If designated in the Notice of Grant as a U.S. mtige Stock Option (“ISO”)this Option is intended to qualify as an ISO un8ectior
422 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 nasnaled (the “Code”However, if this Option is intended to be an 1S@the extent that
exceeds the US$100,000 rule of Code Section 422¢d)l be treated as a U.S. Nonstatutory Stocki@p(“NSO”). Further, if for any reast
this Option (or portion thereof) will not qualifisan 1SO, then, to the exteritsuch nonqualification, such Option (or portitrerteof) shall b
regarded as a NSO granted under the Plan. In not evié the Administrator, the Company or any Pdren Subsidiary or any of thi
respective employees or directors have any lighititParticipant (or any other person) due to #Hikife of the Option to qualify for any rea:
as an ISO. Participants employed outside the UilBba/granted NSOs.

2. Vesting ScheduleExcept as provided in Section 3, the Option aedroy this Award Agreement will vest in accorde
with the vesting provisions set forth in the NotioeGrant. Shares scheduled to vest on a certaim @aupon the occurrence of a cer
condition will not vest in Participant in accordanwith any of the provisions of this Award Agreemeamless Participant will have be
continuously a Service Provider from the Date adu@muntil the date such vesting occurs.

3. Administrator Discretion The Administrator, in its discretion, may accaterthe vesting of the balance, or some I
portion of the balance, of the unvested Optionrgt time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If soederated, such Option will be considere
having vested as of the date specified by the Advtmator.

4, Exercise of Option.

(@) Right to Exercise This Option may be exercised only within the teset out in the Notice of Grant, and may
exercised during such term only in accordance thighPlan and the terms of this Award Agreement.

(b) Method of ExerciseThis Option is exercisable by delivery of an ex& notice, in the form attached_as Exhibifti@
“Exercise Notice”)or in a manner and pursuant to such procedurdsea&dministrator may determine, which will state #lection to exerci
the Option, the number of Shares in respect of wtiie Option is being exercised (the “Exercisedr&ig, and such other representations
agreements as may be required by the Company pursutne provisions of the Plan. The Exercise diotvill be completed by Participant
delivered to the Company. The Exercise Notice il accompanied by payment of the aggregate Exelsise as to all Exercised She
together with any applicable tax withholding. TRiption will be deemed to be exercised upon redajpthe Company of such fully execu
Exercise Notice accompanied by such aggregate Bederice.

5. Method of PaymentPayment of the aggregate Exercise Price willyarky of the following, or a combination thereat
the election of Participant, unless otherwise miediin the Additional Terms and Conditions of St@jition Grant attached hereto EBshibit
B.

(@) cash;
(b) check;

(c) consideration received by the Company urdermal cashless exercise program adopted by dhep@ny in connectic
with the Plan; or

(d) for Participants located in the U.S., sudemof other Shares which have a Fair Market Valnghe date of surrenc
equal to the aggregate Exercise Price of the Esedcbhares, provided that accepting such Sharéise isole discretion of the Administra
will not result in any adverse accounting consegesrio the Company.

6. Tax Obligations.
(@) Responsibility for TaxesRegardless of any action the Company and/or #énécipant's employer (the

3
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“Employer”) takes with respect to any or all incotag, social insurance, payroll tax, payment oroaot or other taxrelated items arising ¢
of Participant's participation in the Plan and Iggapplicable to Participant (“Tax-Related ItemsParticipant acknowledges that the ultin
liability for all Tax-Related Items is and remains Participant's respiifigiand may exceed the amount actually withheydthe Compar
and/or the Employer. Participant further acknowksighat the Company and/or the Employer (i) makeepvesentations or undertaki
regarding the treatment of any TRelated Items in connection with any aspect of@p¢on, including, but not limited to, the grangsting o
exercise of the Option, the subsequent sale ofeStezquired pursuant to such exercise and thepteafeany dividends; and (ii) do not com
and are under no obligation to structure the tesfrthe grant or any aspect of the Option to reduceliminate Participant's liability for Tax-
Related Items or achieve any particular tax regultthermore, if Participant has become subjettxoin more than one jurisdiction betw
the Grant Date and the date of any relevant taxaat, Participant acknowledges that the Compandyjoa the Employer (or former employ
as applicable) may be required to withhold or actdor Tax-Related Items in more than one juridditt

Prior to the relevant taxable or tax withholdingery as applicable, Participant shall pay or makengements satisfactory to
Company and/or the Employer to satisfy all TRelated Items. In this regard, Participant auttemithe Company and/or the Employer, or-
respective agents, at their discretion, to satiséyTaxRelated Items by one or a combination of the foifayy (i) withholding from wages !
other cash compensation paid to Participant byCiiapany, the Employer and/or any Subsidiary; gmithholding from proceeds of the s
of Shares acquired at exercise of the Option eithesugh a voluntary sale or through a mandatotg saranged by the Company
Participant's behalf pursuant to this authorizgtion (iii) withholding in Shares to be issued aércise of the Option.

To avoid any negative accounting treatment, the @om may withhold or account for T&elated Iltems by considering applice
minimum statutory withholding amounts or other éqgdble withholding rates. If the obligation for T&®elated Items is satisfied by withhold
in Shares, for tax purposes, Participant is deaimédve been issued the full number of Shares sutgjghe exercised Option, notwithstanc
that a number of the shares are held back solelyhiopurpose of paying the T&elated Items due as a result of any aspect oickhentt's
participation in the Plan.

Participant shall pay to the Company or the Empi@mey amount of TaRelated Items that the Company or the Employer brg
required to withhold or account for as a resulPafticpant's participation in the Plan that carbvesatisfied by the means previously desci
in this section. The Company may refuse to issuéetiver the Shares or the proceeds of the sathafes if Participant fails to comply w
these obligations in connection with the Tax-Reldtems.

(b) Notice of Disqualifying Disposition of ISShares If the Option granted to Participant herein isl&®, and if Participant se
or otherwise disposes of any of the Shares acqpinesbiant to the 1SO on or before the later ofh@ date two (2) years after the Grant Dat
(ii) the date one (1) year after the date of exsercParticipant will immediately notify the Compaimywriting of such disposition. Particip:
agrees that Participant may be subject to incomeithholding by the Company on the compensati@oine recognized by Participant.

(c) _Code Section 409AUnder Code Section 409A, an option that vestr &fecember 31, 2004 (or that vested on or pricutd
date but which was materially modified after OctoBe2004) that was granted with a per Share esengiice that is determined by the Inte
Revenue Service (the “IRS”) to be less than the Market Value of a Share on the date of grantOss¢ount Option”)may be considert
“deferred compensationA Discount Option may result in (i) income recogpnt by Participant prior to the exercise of theiopt (i) ar
additional twenty percent (20%) federal income tamxd (iii) potential penalty and interest chargBse Discount Option may also resul
additional state income, penalty and interest awrp the Participant. Participant acknowledges thea Company cannot and has
guaranteed that the IRS will agree that the pereSéxercise price of this Option equals or excekedds-air Market Value of a Share on the [
of Grant in a later examination. Participant agrtbes if the IRS determines that the Option wasitgd with a per Share exercise price that
less than the Fair Market Value of a Share on #te df grant, Participant will be solely responsibidr Participant's costs related to su
determination;

7. Rights as Stockholdemeither Participant nor any person claiming unalethrough Participant will have any of the ric
or privileges of a stockholder of the Company ispect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unledsuatil certificates representing si
Shares will have been issued, recorded on thedsadrthe Company or its transfer agents or regjistrand delivered to Participant. After s
issuance, recordation and delivery, Participant ale all the rights of a stockholder of the Compavith respect to voting such Shares
receipt of dividends and distributions on such 8kar

8. Nature of GrantIn accepting the Option, Participant acknowledgeslerstands and agrees to the following:

(a) Participant expressly warrants that Paricfphas received an Option under the Plan and dwsved, read, and understoc
description of the Plan; the Plan is establishddntarily by the Company, it is discretionary intme, and it may be amended, suspend
terminated by the Company at any time;

(b) the grant of the Option is voluntary andasional and does not create any contractual or atjie
4
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to receive future grants of options, or benefitian of options, even if options have been gramggzbatedly in the past;
(c) all decisions with respect to future optgmants, if any, will be at the sole discretion lné {Company;
(d) Participant is voluntarily participating the Plan;

(e) Participant's participation in the Plan Ehal create a right to further employment with #maployer and shall not interfere w
the ability of the Employer to terminate Participaemployment or relationship as a Service Prowadl@ny time;

() the Option and any Shares subject to theidDpare extraordinary items that do not constittéenpensation of any kind 1
services of any kind rendered to the Company oEthployer, and are outside the scope of Participamiployment or service contract, if any;

(g) the Option and the Shares subject to théo@ptre not intended to replace any pension rightompensation;

(h) the Option and the Shares subject to théo@pire not part of normal or expected compensatiosalary for any purpos:
including, but not limited to, calculating any seagce, resignation, termination, redundancy, disatjsend of service payments, bonuses, long
service awards, pension or retirement or welfangebts or similar payments and in no event showddcbnsidered as compensation fo
relating in any way to, past services for the Empipthe Company or any Parent or Subsidiary ofxbmpany;

(i) the Option and Participant's participationthe Plan will not be interpreted to form an emypient contract or relationship w
the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Gomp

() the future value of the Shares underlying @ption is unknown and cannot be predicted wittaaety;

(k) no claim or entitlement to compensation améges shall arise from forfeiture of the Optiosuteng from termination «
Participant's service by the Company or the Empldfe@ any reason whatsoever and whether or ndirgach of local labor laws) and,
consideration for the grant of the Option, to whiRdrticipant is not otherwise entitled, Participiargvocably agrees never to institute any ¢
against the Company or the Employer, waives hisesrability, if any, to bring any such claim, areeases the Company and the Empl
from any such claim; if, notwithstanding the foregpn any such claim is allowed by a court of corepétjurisdiction, then, by signing t
Notice of Grant, Participant shall be deemed ircaody to have agreed not to pursue such claim gnekea to execute any and all docum
necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of sl&ims;

() in the event of termination of Participantsrvice with the Company or the Employer (whethienot in breach of local lab
laws), Participant's right to exercise the Optibany, will terminate effective as of the datettrarticipant is no longer actively employed
will not be extended by any notice period mandateder local law €.g., active employment would not include a period gérden leavebr
similar period pursuant to local law); the Admingor shall have the exclusive discretion to deteenwhen Participant is no longer activ
employed for purposes of the Option grant; and

(m) the Option and the benefits under the Flaany, will not automatically transfer to anothesmpany in the case of a mer
take-over, or transfer of liability.

9. No Advice Regarding GranfThe Company is not providing any tax, legal,inafcial advice, nor is the Company mal
any recommendations regarding Participant's ppéfmn in the Plan or Participant's acquisitiorsale of the underlying Shares. Participa
hereby advised to consult with his or her own tegal, and financial consultants regarding Paréicifs participation in the Plan before tal
any action related to the Plan.

10. Data Privacy . Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguouslyogsents to the collection, use and transfer,
electronic or other form, of Participant's personalata as described in this Award Agreement by angbag, as applicable, the Employer, 1
Company and any Parent or Subsidiary of the Compafor the exclusive purpose of implementing, admit@gng and managin
Participant's participation in the Plan

Participant understands that the Company and the BEloyer may hold certain personal information abo®articipant, including
but not limited to, Participant's name, home addseand telephone number, date of birth, social inance or other identification numbe
salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or direwships held in the Company or any Parent or Sutisiry of the Company, details of i
options or any other entitlement to Shares awardednceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstandn Participant's favor, for th
exclusive purpose of implementing, administeringdimanaging the Plan (“Personal Data”)Participant understands that Personal Dz
will be transferred to a broker designated by ther@pany or to any other third party assisting in theplementation, administration ar
management of the Plan. Participant understands thihe recipients of the Personal Data may be locht@ Participant's country o
elsewhere, and that the recipient's country
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may have different data privacy laws and protectiaihan Participant's country.

For Participants located outside of the U.S., Paipant understands that Participant may requestist with the names ar
addresses of any potential recipients of the PeroBata by contacting Participant's local human resrces representative. Participe
authorizes the Company, the broker, and any othecipients of Personal Data that may assist the Camyp (presently or in the future) wi
implementing, administering and managing the Plaa teceive, possess, use, retain and transfer Pesb®ata, in electronic or other forn
for the purposes of implementing, administering amdanaging Participant's participation in the Planncluding any requisite transfer ¢
Personal Data as may be required to a broker orethhird party with whom Participant may elect teedosit any Shares purchased ug
exercise of the Option. Participant understands thersonal Data will be held only as long as is essary to implement, administer a
manage Participant's participation in the Plan. Pacipant understands that Participant may, at anime, view Personal Data, requt
additional information about the storage and proaasg of Personal Data, require any necessary amesedis to Personal Data or refuse
withdraw the consents herein, in any case withouist, by contacting in writing Participant's local Uman resources representati
Participant understands that refusal or withdrawadf consent may affect Participant's ability to p#ipate in the Plan. For mor
information on the consequences of refusal to conser withdrawal of consent, Participant understasdthat he or she may conte
Participant's local human resources representati

11. Address for NoticesAny notice to be given to the Company under grens of this Award Agreement will be addres
to the Company, in care of Stock AdministrationFattinet, Inc., 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 9808r at such other address as
Company may hereafter designate in writing.

12. NonTransferability of Option This Option may not be transferred in any marotkerwise than by will or by the laws
descent or distribution and may be exercised duhiadifetime of Participant only by Participant.

13. Binding Agreement Subject to the limitation on the transferabilitf/this grant contained herein, this Award Agreet
will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of teirs, legatees, legal representatives, sucaeasdrassigns of the parties hereto.

14. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Stadk at any time the Company will determine, in discretion, that the listin
registration or qualification of the Shares upoly apcurities exchange or under any U.S. state aeré or foreign law, or the consent
approval of any governmental regulatory authostyiécessary or desirable as a condition to thamesuof Shares to Participant (or his ot
estate), such issuance will not occur unless artill such listing, registration, qualification, carg or approval will have been effectec
obtained free of any conditions not acceptabldéoG@ompany. Assuming such compliance, for U.S.rmetax purposes the Exercised Sh
will be considered transferred to Participant aadhate the Option is exercised with respect to &xdrcised Shares.

15. Plan GovernsThis Award Agreement is subject to all terms analvjgions of the Plan. In the event of a conflictviseer
one or more provisions of this Award Agreement ané or more provisions of the Plan, the provisiohshe Plan will govern. Capitaliz
terms used and not defined in this Award Agreemegihhave the meaning set forth in the Plan.

16. Administrator Authority. The Administrator will have the power to interptiee Plan and this Award Agreement an
adopt such rules for the administration, intergireteand application of the Plan as are considtesrewith and to interpret or revoke any ¢
rules (including, but not limited to, the deterntioa of whether or not any Shares subject to thédbphave vested). All actions taken anc
interpretations and determinations made by the Agtrator in good faith will be final and bindinggan Participant, the Company and all o
interested persons. No member of the Administradtirbe personally liable for any action, determtipa or interpretation made in good fe
with respect to the Plan or this Award Agreement.

17. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, declel¢liver any documents related to the Og
awarded under the Plan or future options that neagvarded under the Plan by electronic means alestdParticipant's consent to partici
in the Plan by electronic means. Participant hemdnsents to receive such documents by electrazlicetly and agrees to participate in
Plan through any on-line or electronic system distadd and maintained by the Company or anothed tiarty designated by the Company.

18. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience g are not to serve as a basis for interpretati
construction of this Award Agreement.

19. Agreement Severablén the event that any provision in this Award Agment will be held invalid or unenforceable, ¢
provision will be severable from, and such invalidir unenforceability will not be construed to baany effect on, the remaining provision
this Award Agreement.
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20. Modifications to the Agreemeni his Award Agreement constitutes the entire usiderding of the parties on the subj
covered. Participant expressly warrants that hsheris not accepting this Award Agreement in reaon any promises, representation
inducements other than those contained herein. fidations to this Award Agreement or the Plan cannilade only in an express writ
contract executed by a duly authorized officertef Company. Notwithstanding anything to the cogtiarthe Plan or this Award Agreeme
the Company reserves the right to revise this Awggteement as it deems necessary or advisables sole discretion and without the con:
of Participant, to comply with Code Section 409Atorotherwise avoid imposition of any additionat tar income recognition under Sect
409A of the Code in connection to this Option.

21. Governing Law and VenueThis Award Agreement will be governed by, and jeabto, the laws of the State
California, without giving effect to the conflicf taw principles thereof. For purposes of litigatiany dispute that arises under the Optic
this Award Agreement, the parties hereby submértd consent to the jurisdiction of the State ofifGalia , and agree that such litigation v
be conducted in the courts of Santa Clara Couraijifania, or the federal courts for the United States forNlwethern District of Californi:
and no other courts, where this grant is made and/fe performed.

21. _Language If Participant has received this Award Agreementany other document related to the Option anttier Pla
translated into a language other than English, iatite meaning of the translated version is différthan the English version, the Eng
version will control.

22. _Additional Terms and Conditions of Stocktiop Grant. Notwithstanding any provisions in the Terms amhditions of Stoc
Option Grant, the Option shall be subject to angc&d terms and conditions set forth in the AddiibTerms and Conditions of Stock Opr
Grant, attached as Exhibit B, for Participant'srdou Moreover, if Participant relocates to onetad countries included in the Additional Te
and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, the spe@ains and conditions for such country will applyRarticipant, to the extent the Comp
determines that the application of such terms amuitions is necessary or advisable in order to glgrmwvith local law or facilitate tt
administration of the Plan. The Additional Termsl &onditions of Stock Option Grant constitute mdrthis Award Agreement.

23. _Imposition of Other RequiremenfEhe Company reserves the right to impose othgrirements on Participant's participatio
the Plan, on the Option, and on any Shares acquirddr the Plan, to the extent the Company dete&sriiris necessary or advisable in ord:
comply with local laws or facilitate the adminidtom of the Plan, and to require Participant tmsigy additional agreements or undertak
that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.
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==RTINET.
EXHIBIT B
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK OPTION GRA NT

This Exhibit B includes additional terms and coiutis that govern the Option granted to Participarder the Plan if Participant resides in
of the countries listed below. Certain capitalitedns used but not defined in this Exhibit B hawve meanings set forth in the Plan and/o
Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant.

This Exhibit B also includes information regardiegchange controls and certain other tax or legalds of which Participant should be av
with respect to his or her participation in therRl@he information is based on the securities, argk control, and other laws in effect in
respective countries as of December 2009. Such dagveften complex and change frequently. As altiedie Company strongly recomme;
that Participant not rely on the information insthtxhibit B as the only source of information riglgtto the consequences of his or
participation in the Plan because the informatiayoe out of date at the time that Participant&@ses the Option or sell Shares.

In addition, the information contained herein isigal in nature and may not apply to Participguaidicular situation, and the Company is
in a position to assure Participant of a particuémult. Accordingly, Participant is advised tolsappropriate professional advice as to hov
relevant laws in his or her country may apply totiegant's situation.

Finally, if Participant is a citizen or resident afcountry other than the one in which he or sheuisently residing, or transfers to a diffel
country after the Date of Grant, the informatiomteened herein may not be applicable to Participant

Argentina
Securities Law Information

Neither the Option nor the issuance of Sharesfered publicly or listed on any stock exchange iyektina. The offer is private and
subject to the supervision of any Argentine govegntal authority.

Exchange Control Information

Under current regulations adopted by the Argen@eatral Bank (the “BCRA”")Participant may purchase and remit foreign curreniti ¢
value of up to US$2,000,000 per month out of Argenfor the purpose of acquiring foreign securitiasluding Shares under the Plan, witt
prior approval from the BCRA, provided that Pagpnt executes and submits an affidavit to the BQRAfirming that he or she has
exceeded the US$2,000,000 threshold during theaetenonth.

Please note that exchange control regulations ge#tina are subject to frequent change. Participhatild consult with his or her persc
legal advisor regarding any exchange control okibga that he or she may have.

Australia

Term/Expiration Date

This section replaces the “Term/Expiration Date"feeth in the Notice of Stock Option Grant.

Due to tax considerations in Australia, the Optigh expire on the last trading day on the Nasddgb@l Market on or before the day that
years and 364 days after the Date of Gi

Right to Exercise
This section supplements the “Right to Exercisetisa of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Optiaa@.

Due to tax considerations in Australia, Participauaty not exercise any portion of the Option unkasd until the Fair Market Value (as defil
in Section 2(r) of the Plan) per Share underlyimg ®ption equals or exceeds Exercise Price peeSbag certain period of time not to exc
one week pursuant to the procedures establishedebompany (.e., the Company will decide on the period of time ¥drich the Optio
must be “above water”).

Securities Law Information

If Participant acquires Shares pursuant to thisdb@nd he or she offers Shares for sale to a pesentity resident in Australia, the offer n
be subject to disclosure requirements under Auatrdaw. Participant should obtain legal advicehis or her disclosure obligations priol
making any such offer.

Austria

Exchange Control Information

If Participant holds Shares purchased under the GUtside Austria (even if he or she holds thensidetof Austria with an
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Austrian bank), Participant understands that hestog must submit an annual report to the AustriatioNal Bank using the form *
Standmeldung/Wertpapier&é An exemption applies if the value of the securitiedd outside Austria as of December 31 does noeex
€3,000,000 or the value of the securities as of qumrter does not excee@&000,000. If the former threshold is exceededuahreportini
obligations are imposed, whereas if the lattershodd is exceeded, quarterly reports must be stxiniThe annual reporting date is Decer
31, the deadline for filing the annual report isrista31 of the following year.

When the Shares are sold, there may be exchangeolcobligations if the cash received is held aigsiAustria, as a separate repot
requirement applies to any non-Austrian cash adsoliithe transaction volume of all of Participartash accounts abroad excee2i®@0,00(C
the movements and the balance of all accounts briseported monthly, as of the last day of the imooh or before the 15th day of
following month, using the form Meldungen Sl-Forderungen und/oder Sl-Verpflichtungelf the transaction value of all cash acco
abroad is less than €3,000,000, no ongoing remprégquirements apply.

Consumer Protection Act Information

Participant understands that he or she may bdezhta revoke the Award Agreement on the basihie@fAustrian Consumer Protection Act |
“Act”) under the conditions listed below, if the #is considered to be applicable to the Award Agrest and the Plan:

(i) If Participant signs the Award Agreement sidé the business premises of the Company, heemgly be entitled to revo
acceptance of the Award Agreement provided thataliecation is made within one week after he orsges the Award Agreement.

(i)  The revocation must be in written formle valid. It is sufficient if Participant returrniset Award Agreement to the Compan
the Company's representative with language thatbeannderstood as his or her refusal to honor thard Agreement. It is sufficient if t
revocation is sent within one week after Partictpagned the Award Agreement.

Belgium
Tax Considerations

The Option must be accepted in writing with thediframe set forth and explained in the separatent®pBupplement & Undertaking 1
Participants in Belgium. Participant should refertihe separate Country Supplement & UndertakingPfarticipants in Belgium for a mc
detailed description of the tax consequences obsing to accept the Option. Participant should atswsult a personal tax advisor with res
to accepting the Option and completing the additidorms.

Tax Reporting Information

Participant is required to report any taxable ineattributable to the Option on his or her annaglreturn. Participant is also required to re
any bank accounts opened and maintained outsidguBelon his or her annual tax return.

Brazil

Exchange Control Information

If Participant is a resident or domiciled in Bratik or she will be required to submit an annualatation of assets and rights held outsic
Brazil to the Central Bank of Brazil if the aggrég@alue of such assets and rights is equal taeatgr than US$100,000. Please note th:
US$100,000 threshold may be changed annually.

Canada

Consent to Receive Information in English for Enygles in Quebec

The parties acknowledge that it is their expresshwhat the Award Agreement, as well as all documerotices and legal proceeds ent
into, given or instituted pursuant hereto or relgtilirectly or indirectly hereto, be drawn up inglish.

Les parties reconnaissent avoir exigé la rédacten anglais de cette convention, ainsi que de tammumients exécutés, avis donné
procédures judiciaries intentées, directement alirgctement, relativement & ou suite a la présentesention

Involuntary Termination Terms for Option

In the event of involuntary termination of Partiaift's employment (whether or not in breach of I¢alabr laws), Participant's right to contini
vesting or to exercise the Option, if any, willrténate effective as of the date that is the eadfer(1) the date Participant receives notic
termination of employment from the Employer, or {B¢ date Participant is no longer actively emptblg the Employer, regardless of .
notice period or period of pay in lieu of such netrequired under local law (including, but notited to, statutory law, regulatory law, anc
common law); the Administrator shall have the exila discretion to determine when Participant idorger actively employed for purpo:
of the Option.

Data Privacy Notice and Consent
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This section supplements the “Data Privacy” sectibthe Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant:

Participant hereby authorizes the Company and tirap@ny's representatives to discuss and obtamelaitant information from all personr
professional or noprofessional, involved in the administration of fAkan. Participant further authorizes the Employtee, Company, and
Subsidiaries to disclose and discuss such infoonatith their advisors. Participant also authoridesEmployer, Company and its Subsidie
to record such information and to keep such infaioman Participant's employee file.

Chile

Securities Law Information

Neither the Company nor the Shares are registeitbdthre Chilean Registry of Securities or underdbatrol of the Chilean Superintendenc
Securities.

Exchange Control Information

It is Participant's responsibility to make suretthea or she complies with exchange control requéraisiin Chile when the value of his or
Option exercise transaction is in excess of US$IN),egardless of whether Participant exercise®htger Option through a cash exercis
cashless method of exercise.

If Participant uses the cash exercise method toceseethe Option and Participant remits funds ieess of US$10,000 out of Chile,
remittance must be made through the Formal ExchMfey&et (i.e., a commercial bank or registered foreign exchan@ies)f In such cas
Participant must provide to the bank or registefeeign exchange office certain information regaglithe remittance of funds €.g.
destination, currency, amount, parties involved,)et

If Participant exercises the Option using a cashkesercise method and the aggregate value of tleciEr Price exceeds US$10,(
Participant must sign Annex 1 of the Manual of GkagXll of the Foreign Exchange Regulations and fil directly with the Central Ba
within 10 days of the exercise date.

Participant is not required to repatriate fundsaoted from the sale of Shares or the receipt ofdivigends. However, if Participant decide
repatriate such funds, Participant must do so tifnahe Formal Exchange Market if the amount offthels exceeds US$10,000. In such ¢
Participant must report the payment to a commebaak or registered foreign exchange office reogjthe funds.

If Participant's aggregate investments held outsidghile exceeds US$5,000,000 (including the itmesits made under the Plan), Partici
must report the investments annually to the Ceideadk. Annex 3.1 of Chapter XII of the Foreign Eanhe Regulations must be used to
this report.

Please note that exchange control regulations ife @ne subject to change. Participant should donsith his or her personal legal advi
regarding any exchange control obligations thati€@pant may have prior to exercising the Optiorrexeiving proceeds from the sale of Sh
acquired under the Plan.

Annual Tax Reporting Obligation

The Chilean Internal Revenue Service (“CIR®juires all taxpayers to provide information arlyueegarding: (i) the taxes paid abro
which they will use as a credit against Chilearoine taxes, and (ii) the results of foreign investtaeThese annual reporting obligations r
be complied with by submitting a sworn statemedtitirsg forth this information before March 15 of éagear. The forms to be used to sul
the sworn statement are Tax Form 1853 “Annual Sv&tatement Regarding Credits for Taxes Paid Abraad! Tax Form 1851Annua
Sworn Statement Regarding Investments Held Abrd&dParticipant is not a Chilean citizen and hasrbaeesident in Chile for less than tt
years, Participant is exempt from the requiremerfilé Tax Form 1853. These statements must be gtdatrelectronically through the CIi
website: www.sii.cl.

China
Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary ire therms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, duettingent exchange controls
securities restrictions in China, when Participaxgrcises the Option, Participant must use a “eashdell-all’exercise pursuant to which he
she delivers irrevocable instructions to the brakesell all Shares to which Participant is enditit exercise and remit the proceeds from
less any TaxRelated Items and brokerage fees to Participaictgh. The Company reserves the right to providéidisnt with additione
methods of paying the Exercise Price depending tipeevelopment of local laws.

Exchange Control Information for Participants wie &hinese Nationals
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Participant understands and agrees that, due toaege control laws in China, Participant may beuiregl to immediately repatriate 1
proceeds from the cashless exercise to China.cipentit further understands that such repatriatiothe proceeds may need to be effe
through a special exchange control account esteduliby the Employer, the Company, or any of itss8liaries in China and Participant her
consents and agrees that the proceeds from thdesashixercise may be transferred to such spec@luat prior to being delivered
Participant. Proceeds may be paid to Participatt.B. dollars or local currency at the Company&sdition. If the proceeds are paid in |
dollars, Participant will be required to establésk).S. dollar bank account in China, so that tlee@eds may be deposited into such accot
the proceeds are paid in local currency, the Comsmuander no obligation to secure any particutaeiign currency exchange rate. Partici
acknowledges that due to the special account remeint, there may be delays in paying Participaet gloceeds and that Particig
understands and agrees that he or she will beafote@n currency exchange rate risk. Participamthier agrees to comply with any ot
requirements that may be imposed by the Compatheifuture in order to facilitate compliance witkchange control requirements in China.

Colombia

Exchange Control Information

Investments in assets located abroad (includingeShare subject to registration with the Bank leé Republic if Participant's aggrec
investments held abroad (as of December 31 ofppécable calendar year) equal or exceed US$500/0@@nds are remitted from Colomt
through an authorized local financial institutidghe authorized financial institution will automatity register the investment. However
Participant does not remit funds through an autiedrifinancial institution when Participant exersiés or her Option and acquires and h
Shares abroad i(e. , because Participant uses the cashless setiter method of exercise), then Participant mugister the investme
(assuming Participant's accumulated financial imaests held abroad at the year end are equal ¢aamed the equivalent of US$500,000
Participant uses the cashless sélllmethod of exercise, then no registration isuneggl because no funds are remitted from Colombahra
Shares are held abroad.

Costa Rica
There are no country-specific provisions.

Czech Republic
Exchange Control Information

The Czech National Bank may require Participarititfill certain notification duties in relation tthe acquisition of Shares and the opening
maintenance of a foreign account. However, becausbange control regulations change frequently witdout notice, Participant shot
consult with his or her personal legal advisor ptm exercising the Option and/or the subsequelet sShares to ensure compliance
current regulations. Participant is solely respiolesior complying with any applicable Czech exchangntrol laws.

Egypt
Exchange Control Information

If Participant transfers funds into or out of Egyptconnection with the exercise of the Option,dneshe must transfer the funds throug
registered bank in Egypt.

Finland
There are no country-specific provisions.

Germany
Exchange Control Information

Cross-border payments in excess of €12,500 musefmrted monthly. If Participant uses a German hangffect a crosborder payment
excess of £2,500 in connection with the exercise of this Optdr sale of securities or the payment of dividerelated to certain securities,
bank will make the report. In this case, Partictpail not have to report the transaction. In aduhit Participant must report any receivable
payables or debts in foreign currency exceedingranunt of approximately=000,000 on a monthly basis. Finally, Participamist repol
Shares holding exceeding 10% of the total votirgjtahof the Company on an annual basis.

Hong Kong

WARNING: The Option and the Shares issued uporcisgedo not constitute a public offering of sedesitunder Hong Kong law and ¢
available only to Service Providers of the Companyts Parent, Subsidiaries and Affiliates. The AdvAgreement, including this Appent
the Plan and other incidental communication matsrinave not been prepared in accordance with anel mot intended to constitute
“prospectus” for a public offering of securities under the applble securities legislation in Hong Kong. In aditit the documents have
been reviewed by any regulatory authority in Horap. The Option is intended
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only for the personal use of each eligible SerReevider of the Employer, the Company or any Par8atsidiary or Affiliate and may not
distributed to any other person. If Participantiisany doubt about any of the contents of the Awsagteement, including this Appendix, or
Plan, Participant should obtain independent proiesal advice.

Sale of Shares

If the Option vests within six months of the DafeGrant, Participant agrees that he or she will @atrcise the Option and sell the Sh
acquired prior to the six-month anniversary of frae of Grant.

Nature of Schem

The Company specifically intends that the Plan wit be an occupational retirement scheme for pap®f the Occupational Retirerr
Schemes Ordinance.

India

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision in the Terms and Gtads of Stock Option Grant, due to exchange adriws that are currently in effect
India, Participant will not be permitted to engage “sell to cover’exercise whereby a portion of Shares are sold vercthe Exercise Pric
any Tax-Related Items and brokerage fees, andrdweeds are settled in Shares.

Exchange Control Information

Participant should be aware that if Participantiterffunds outside of India to purchase Shares Rarticipant's responsibility to comply w
exchange control regulations in India. Proceeds ftioe sale of Shares must be repatriated to Indldn\90 days of receipt. Participant shc
obtain a foreign inward remittance certificate frtime bank for Participant's records to documentpiiance with this requirement and subrr
copy of the foreign inward remittance certificatethie Employer if requested.

Indonesia

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision in the Terms and dtiods of Stock Option Grant, due to securities daim Indonesia, when Particip.
exercises the Option, Participant must use a “easldell-all’exercise pursuant to which he or she delivers awable instructions to the brol
to sell all Shares to which Participant is entiticexercise and remit the proceeds from sale degslaxRelated Items and brokerage fee:
Participant in cash. Participant will not be petetdtto receive and hold any Shares in connectidim the exercise of the Option. The Comg
reserves the right to provide Participant with #ddal methods of paying the aggregate ExerciseeRitepending upon development of I
laws.

Exchange Control Information

If Participant remits proceeds from the cashlesy@sge of the Option into Indonesia, the Indone®ank through which the transactior
made will submit a report on the transaction toBhek of Indonesia for statistical reporting pump®skor transactions of US$10,000 or mo
description of the transaction must be includethireport. Although the bank through which thenseection is made is required to make
report, Participant must complete a “Transfer Reparm.” The Transfer Report Form will be provided to Papant by the bank throu
which the transaction is made.

Ireland

Director Notification Obligation

If Participant is a director, shadow director ocregary of the Company's Irish Subsidiary or A#i#, Participant must notify the Ir
Subsidiary or Affiliate in writing within five busiess days of receiving or disposing of an inteireshe Company €.g., the Option, Share
etc.), or within five business days of becoming i@naf the event giving rise to the notification ugg@ment or within five days of becomin
director or secretary if such an interest existhattime. This notification requirement also apglivith respect to the interests of a spou
children under the age of 18 (whose interestshvelattributed to the director, shadow directoremrstary).

Israel

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision in the Terms and GQbods of Stock Option Grant, due to tax rules smakl, when Participant exercises
Option, Participant must use a “cashless sell@¥rcise pursuant to which he or she delivers atable instructions to the broker to sel
Shares to which Participant is entitled at exeraisé remit the proceeds from sale, less anyRebated Items and brokerage fees, to Partic
in cash. Participant will not be permitted to reeeaind hold any Shares in connection with the éxeraf the Option. The Company rese
the right to provide Participant with additional timeds of paying the aggregate Exercise Price depgngbon development of local laws.
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ltaly
Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision in the Terms and Gtiods of Stock Option Agreement, due to securitiestrictions in Italy, when Particip:
exercises the Option, Participant must use a “eastdell-all’exercise pursuant to which he or she delivers aable instructions to the brol
to sell all Shares to which Participant is entitiddexercise and remit the proceeds from sale degsTaxRelated Items and brokerage fee:
Participant in cash. Participant will not be petedtto receive and hold any Shares in connectidim tiie exercise of the Option. The Comg
reserves the right to provide Participant with #iddal methods of paying the aggregate ExerciseeRtepending upon development of I
laws.

Data Privacy Consent

The following provision replaces the “Data Privaggction of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Qptrant:

Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously ceent to the collection, use, processing and tramsf@ electronic or other form, c
Participant's personal data as described herein &gd among, as applicable, the Employer, the Compamd its Subsidiaries for tF
exclusive purpose of implementing, administeringydamanaging Participant's participation in the Plan

Participant understands that his or her Employerheé Company and its Subsidiaries may hold certainrgmnal information abou
Participant, including, but not limited to, Partigant's name, home address and telephone numbere d#tbirth, social insurance (to tt
extent permitted under Italian law) or other ideffitation number, salary, nationality, job title, Sires or directorships held in the Compe
or its Subsidiaries, details of all options grantedr any other entittement to Shares awarded, cdede exercised, vested, unvestec
outstanding in Participant's favor, for the exclugé purpose of implementing, managing and administerthe Plan (“Data”).

Participant also understands that providing the Cpany with Data is necessary for the performancetbé Plan and that Participant
refusal to provide such Data would make it impodsilior the Company to perform its contractual obéifons and may affect Participant
ability to participate in the Plan. The Controlleof personal data processing is Fortinet, Inc., witlegistered offices at 1090 Kifer Ro:
Sunnyvale, CA 94086, U.S.A., and, pursuant to Légfise Decree no. 196/2003, its Representativetaiyl for privacy purposes is Fortin
Italy, S.r.L, with registered offices aVia del Casale Solaro, 119, 00143 ROMA ltaly. Paipiant understands that Data will not |
publicized, but it may be transferred to banks, etHinancial institutions, or brokers involved inhe management and administration of t
Plan. Participant understands that Data may also bmansferred to the independent registered publiccaunting firm engaged by tt
Company. Participant further understands that theniployer, the Company and/or any of its Subsidiariesll transfer Data amon:
themselves as necessary for the purpose of impldingnadministering and managing Participant's pacipation in the Plan, and that th
Company and/or any Subsidiary may each further tsfar Data to third parties assisting the Company ihe implementatior
administration, and management of the Plan, inclutj any requisite transfer of Data to a broker orhar third party with whom Participar
may elect to deposit any Shares acquired underffen. Such recipients may receive, possess, udajireand transfer Data in electronic «
other form, for the purposes of implementing, adnstering, and managing Participant's participatiom the Plan. Participant understanc
that these recipients may be located in the Europd&gconomic Area or elsewhere, such as the Unitedt8$. Should the Company exerc
its discretion in suspending all necessary legalightions connected with the management and admirasion of the Plan, it will delete Dal
as soon as it has completed all the necessary letpéibations connected with the management and adistration of the Plan.

Participant understands that Data processing reldteo the purposes specified above shall take plander automated or no-automatet
conditions, anonymously when possible, that complith the purposes for which Data is collected andttwconfidentiality and securit
provisions, as set forth by applicable laws and ukgions, with specific reference to Legislative Eree no. 196/200:

The processing activity, including communicatiorhe transfer of Data abroad, including outside ofélHEuropean Economic Area, as her¢
specified and pursuant to applicable laws and regibns, does not require Participant's consent te&s, as the processing is necessar
performance of contractual obligations related tenplementation, administration, and management ofetlPlan. Participant understanc
that, pursuant to Section 7 of the Legislative Deerno. 196/2003, Participant has the right to, inding but not limited to, access, dele
update, correct, or terminate, for legitimate reagdhe Data processing.

Furthermore, Participant is aware that Data will ridoe used for directharketing purposes. In addition, Data provided cae reviewed ar
guestions or complaints can be addressed by comgdParticipant's local human resources represenited.

Acknowledgement
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Participant acknowledges that he or she has reddpecifically and expressly approves the followsagtions of the Terms and Condition
Stock Option Grant: Responsibility for Taxes, Nataf Grant, and Governing Law and Venue, Langu&dectronic Delivery, Agreeme
Severable, Imposition of Other Requirements. Initaaig Participant acknowledges that he or she feasl and specifically and expres
approves the Data Privacy paragraphs above.

Exchange Control Information

Participant must report in his or her annual taumeany transfers of cash or Shares to or froity #&ceeding £0,000 or the equivalent amo
in U.S. dollars. The reporting must be done oni€ipent's individual income tax return. Participgexempt from this reporting obligatior
the investments are made through an authorizecebrelsident in Italy, as the broker will comply lwithe reporting obligation on Participa
behalf.

Offshore Asset Reporting Obligation

Participant must report in his or her annual tatume any foreign investments or investments (initigdproceeds from the sale of Shi
acquired under the Plan or any vested Option) betdide Italy exceeding1®,000 or the equivalent amount in U.S. dollargh& investmel
may give rise to income in Italy. The reporting s done on Participant's individual income taxanme.

Japan
Exchange Control Information

If Participant acquires Shares valued at more ¥18®,000,000 in a single transaction, Participanstrfile a Securities Acquisition Report w
the Ministry of Finance through the Bank of Japathin 20 days of the purchase of the shares.

In addition, if Participant pays more thaB(¥000,000 in a single transaction for the purclesghares when Participant exercises the Oy
Participant must file a Payment Report with the istity of Finance through the Bank of Japan by & @ay of the month following the mor
in which the payment was made. The precise reppréquirements vary depending on whether or notelevant payment is made throug
bank in Japan.

A Payment Report is required independently fromeauBities Acquisition Report. Therefore, if thealoamount that Participant pays upc
one-time transaction for exercising the Option andchasing shares exceed€#,000,000, then Participant must file both a RaytniRepol
and a Securities Acquisition Report.

Korea

Exchange Control Information

If Participant remits funds out of Korea to pay teercise Price at exercise of the Option, suchittante must be “confirmediy a foreigi
exchange bank in Korea. This is an automatic pnaeede. , the bank does not need to “approteé remittance, and it should take no n
than a single day to process. The following suppgrtiocuments evidencing the nature of the rendttanay need to be submitted to the t
together with the confirmation application: (i) thietice of Grant and Award Agreement; (ii) the Pléi) a document evidencing the type
shares to be acquired and the amouaig(, the award certificate); and (iv) Participant'stifieate of employment. This confirmation is
necessary for cashless exercises because no fimdmatted out of Korea.

Additionally, exchange control laws require Korgasidents who realize US$500,000 or more from #ie sf shares to repatriate the proci
to Korea within 18 months of the sale.

Malaysia
Director Notification Requirements

If Participant is a director of a Malaysian Subaigli of the Company, Participant is subject to derteotification requirements under -
Malaysian Companies Act. Among these requiremendmiobligation to notify the Malaysian Subsidiaryvriting when Participant receives
disposes of an intereste(g ., Options, Shares) in the Company or any relatmdpany (including when Participant sells Sharesugec
pursuant to the exercise of the Option). Thesefioations must be made within fourteen days of isgng or disposing of any interest in -
Company or any related company.

Insider Trading Information

Participant should be aware of the Malaysian insiceding rules, which may impact Participant's asiioin or disposal of Shares acqu
from the exercise of the Option. Under the Malaysiesidertrading rules, Participant is prohibited from agg or selling Shares or rights
Shares €.g., Options) when Participant is in possession ajrimiation that is not generally available and thatiBipant knows or should kne
will have a material effect on the price of Shavase such information is generally available.
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Mexico

Labor Law Policy and Acknowledgment

In accepting the grant of the Option, Participaxgressly recognizes that Fortinet, Inc., with regyisd offices at 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyv
CA 94086, U.S.A, is solely responsible for the awdistration of the Plan and that Participant's pgoétion in the Plan and acquisition of Sh,
do not constitute an employment relationship betwearticipant and Fortinet, Inc. since Participsnparticipating in the Plan on a whc
commercial basis and his or her sole Employer i, Inc., located at Rodriguez Saro #615, Call Valle, C.P. 03100, Mexico DF. Ba:
on the foregoing, Participant expressly recognthes the Plan and the benefits that he or she redyalfrom participating in the Plan do
establish any rights between Participant and th@l&er, Fortinet, Inc., and do not form part of gmployment conditions and/or bene
provided by Fortinet, Inc., and any modificationtbhe Plan or its termination shall not constituteh@nge or impairment of the terms
conditions of Participant's employment.

Participant further understands that his or hetigipation in the Plan is as a result of a unilateand discretionary decision of Fortinet, |
therefore, Fortinet, Inc. reserves the absolutetrig amend and/or discontinue Participant's pgeton at any time without any liability
Participant.

Finally, Participant hereby declares that he ordbes not reserve to himself or herself any aatioright to bring any claim against Fortir
Inc. for any compensation or damages regardingoaoyision of the Plan or the benefits derived urtierPlan, and Participant therefore gr
a full and broad release to Fortinet, Inc., itdliates, branches, representation offices, itsedmalders, officers, agents, or legal represents
with respect to any claim that may arise.

Politica Laboral y Reconocimiento/Aceptacion

Al aceptar el otorgamiento de la Opcion de Compra deiofes, el Participante expresamente reconoceFquet, Inc., con domicili
registrado ubicado en Sunnyvale, CA, U.S.A., émiaa responsable por la administracion del Plgneyla participacion del Participante e
Plan y en su caso la adquisicion de las Opcioné&odepra de Acciones o Acciones no constituyen dr@o interpretarse como una relacio
trabajo entre el Participante y Fortinet, Inc.qyee el Participante participa en el Plan en un smtotalmente comercial y su Unico Patrén |
Fortinet, Inc. con domicilio en Rodriguez Saro #6C6I. Del Valle, C.P. 03100, México DF, México. i¥ado de lo anterior, el Participa
expresamente reconoce que el Plan y los benefigiegoudieran derivar de la participacion en el Plarestablecen derecho alguno ent
Participante y el Patrén, Fortinet, Inc. y no forpete de las condiciones de trabajo y/o las prestas otorgadas por Fortinet, Incque
cualquier modificacion al Plan o su terminaciéncoastituye un cambio o impedimento de los términasndiciones de la relacion de trak
del Participante.

Asimismo, el Participante reconoce que su part@@raen el Plan es resultado de una decision endby discrecional de Fortinet, Inc.; po
tanto, Fortinet, Inc. se reserva el absoluto deredd modificar y/o terminar la participacion delrtikgpante en cualquier momento y
responsabilidad alguna frente el Participante.

Finalmente, el Participante por este medio dedlmm® no se reserve derecho o accién alguna qudtajeen contra de Fortinet, Inc. |
cualquier compensacién o dafio en relacion conitgmosiciones del Plan o de los beneficios derivatidsPlan y por lo tanto, el Participa
otorga el més amplio finiquito que en derecho pidace Fortinet, Inc., sus afiliadas, subsidiaridiras de representacion, sus accioni
funcionarios, agentes o representantes legaleslarian con cualquier demanda que pudiera surgir.

Netherlands

Insider Trading Information

Participant should be aware of Dutch insider trgdimes that may impact the sale of Shares acquineigr the Plan. In particular, Particip
may be prohibited from effecting certain transawsid he or she has insider information regardimgy@ompany.

By accepting the grant of the Option and partiéigain the Plan, Participant acknowledges haviragrand understood this Insider Trac
Information and further acknowledges that it istiegrant's responsibility to comply with the follimg Dutch insider trading rules.

Under Article 46 of the Act on the Supervision bktSecurities Trade 1995, anyone who has “insidiarmation” related to an issuit
company is prohibited from effectuating a transactin securities in or from the Netherlands. “Imsidformation”is defined as knowledge
details concerning the issuing company to whichsagurities relate that is not public and whichpublished, would reasonably be expecte
affect the stock price, regardless of the developgnoé the price. The insider could be any emplogé¢he Company or a Subsidiary in
Netherlands who has inside information as descritezdin.

Given the broad scope of the definition of insidfaimation, certain employees of the Company warkiha Subsidiary of the Company in
Netherlands (including a Participant in the Pla@yrhave inside information and, thus, would be oitdd from effectuating a transactior
securities in the Netherlands at a time when Rpatit had such inside information. If Participasmuincertain whether the insider trading r
apply to him or her, Participant should consultwits or her personal legal advisor.
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New Zealand

Securities Law Acknowledgment

Participant acknowledges that he or she will reeé¢he following documents in connection with théepto purchase shares at exercise o
Option:

0] the Award Agreement, including this Appendix, whagts forth the terms and conditions of the Op

(i) a copy of the Company's Form1Swhich includes the most recent financial reploais been made available to Participa
enable Participant to make informed decisions carieg participation in the Plan; and

(iii) a copy of the description of the Plan (thBéscription”) (i.e., the Company's Form &-plan prospectus under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended), and the Coynpélhprovide any attachments or documents incoaped by referen:
into the Description upon written request. The doents incorporated by reference into the Descriptioe update
periodically. Should Participant request copieshef documents incorporated by reference into thecbation, the Compat
will provide Participant with the most recent do@nts incorporated by reference.

Peru
No countn-specific provisions.
Poland

Exchange Control Information

It is no longer necessary to obtain a foreign erglegpermit to participate in the Plan. HoweveRafticipant transfers more thabh5000 out ¢
Poland in connection with the exercise of an OptRarticipant must transfer the funds via a bardoant. Please note that if Participant us
cashless method of exercise, this requirementneillapply because no funds will be transferredaduRoland. If Participant acquires Sh
through participation in the Plan, Participant miilstan annual report with the National Bank oflda declaring ownership of foreign sha
This report is filed on a special form availabletba website of the National Bank of Poland.

Singapore
Securities Law Information

The grant of the Option is being made in relianneSection 273(1)(f) of the Securities and Futures (€ap. 289) (“SFA”)under which it i
exempt from the prospectus and registration remergs under the SFA.

Director Reporting Requirements

If Participant is a director, associate directorstiadow director of a Singapore Subsidiary, Paditi is subject to certain notificat
requirements under the Singapore Companies Aceciiirs must notify the Singapore Subsidiary in imgitof an interest €.g., Options
Shares) in the Company or any related companidsmitvo days of (i) its acquisition or disposal) @ny change in a previously disclo
interest (e.g., when the Option is exercised), or (iii) becomandirector.

South Africa
Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision in the Terms and Qtiods of Stock Option Agreement, due to exchangetrol restrictions in South Afric
when Participant exercises the Option, Participanst use a “cashless sell-al¥kercise pursuant to which he or she delivers dcatal¢
instructions to the broker to sell all Shares tdohParticipant is entitled at exercise and retmé proceeds from sale, less any Relatel
Items and brokerage fees, to Participant in caattidipant will not be permitted to receive anddhahy Shares in connection with the exel
of the Option. The Company reserves the right avigle Participant with additional methods of paythg aggregate Exercise Price depen
upon development of local laws.

Responsibility for Taxes

This section supplements the “Responsibility fordsl section of the Terms and Conditions of Stogki@ Grant:

In accepting the Option, Participant agrees tofpatie Employer of the amount of any gain realizgadn exercise of the Option. If Particip
fails to advise the Employer of the gain realizedm exercise, he or she may be liable for a fimeti€pant will be responsible for paying ¢
difference between the actual tax liability and éineount withheld.

Exchange Control Information

Participant may be required to obtain exchangerobapproval prior to exercising the Option. Pap#mt is solely responsible
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for complying with applicable South African exchangontrol regulations. Since the exchange conggulations change frequently ¢
without notice, the Participant should consultdriser legal advisor prior to the exercise of thai@n or sale of Shares acquired at exerci
ensure compliance with current regulations. NeitherCompany nor the Employer will be liable foydimes or penalties resulting from faill
to comply with applicable laws.

Spain
Labor Law Acknowledgment

This section supplements the “Nature of Grant”isecdf the Terms and Conditions of Stock Optionitra
In accepting the Option, Participant acknowledd@s he or she consents to participation in the Riahhas received a copy of the Plan.

Participant understands that the Company has araldyt, gratuitously, and discretionally decidedgtant options under the Plan to individt
who may be employees of the Company or its Sub#dgidhroughout the world. The decision is a limitkcision that is entered into upon
express assumption and condition that any gramtwtl economically or otherwise bind the Companyny of its Subsidiaries on an ongc
basis. Consequently, Participant understands ltteaOption is granted on the assumption and comditiat the Option or the Shares acqt
upon exercise shall not become a part of any empdoy contract (either with the Company or any ef Subsidiaries) and shall not
considered a mandatory benefit, salary for any @eep (including severance compensation), or angratlyght whatsoever. In additic
Participant understands that this grant would retniade to Participant but for the assumptions amtitons referred to above; th
Participant acknowledges and freely accepts thatldrany or all of the assumptions be mistakerhoukl any of the conditions not be met
any reason, then any grant of options shall beandlvoid.

Exchange Control Information

It is Participant's responsibility to comply witkahange control regulations in Spain. The purclwsghares must be declared by the purcl
for statistical purposes to the Spanizheccion General de Politica Comercial y de Inveres Extranjeragthe “DGPCIE"), of theMinisteric
de Economia If Participant purchases the Shares through sieeofi a Spanish financial institution, that ingtdn will automatically make tt
declaration to the DGPCIE for Participant. OthepyiBarticipant must make the declaration by filimg appropriate form with the DGPCIE
addition, Participant must also file a declaratadrthe ownership of the securities with the Direate of Foreign Transactions each Jan
while the Shares are owned.

When receiving foreign currency payments derivednfthe ownership of Shares.€., as a result of the sale of the Shares), Participarg
inform the financial institution receiving the pagnt of the basis upon which such payment is maalicipant will likely need to provide tl
institution with the following information: (i) Pacipant's name, address, and fiscal identificatiomber; (ii) the name and corporate dom
of the Company; (iii) the amount of the payment) the currency used; (v) the country of origini) fhe reasons for the payment; and (vii)
additional information that may be required.

If Participant wishes to import the ownership titiethe Sharesite., share certificates) into Spain, Participant musiate the importation
such securities to the DGPCIE.

Sweden

No countn-specific provisions.

Switzerland

Method of Payment

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary ire tAward Agreement, due to restrictions in Switzadlawhen Participant exercises
Option, Participant must use a “cashless sell@Ercise pursuant to which he or she delivers atable instructions to the broker to sel
Shares to which Participant is entitled at exeraisé remit the proceeds from sale, less anyRetated Items and brokerage fees, to Partic
in cash. The Company reserves the right to profdeicipant with additional methods of paying theektise Price depending upon
development of local laws.

Taiwan

Securities Law Information

This offer of the Option and the Shares to be idquesuant to the Plan is available only for empésy/of the Company and its Subsidiarie
is not a public offer of securities by a Taiwanesmpany; therefore, it is exempt from registrafioaiwan.

Exchange Control Information

Participant may acquire foreign currency and rehgt same out of Taiwan, up to US$5 million per yeéhout justification. When remittir
funds for the purchase of Shares pursuant to the, Buch remittances should be made through aorizeh
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foreign exchange bank. In addition, if Participaemits TWD$500,000 or more in a single transacti®articipant must submit a Fore
Exchange Transaction Form to the remitting bankhéftransaction amount is US$500,000 or moresimgle transaction, Participant must
provide supporting documentation to the satisfactibthe remitting bank.

Thailand

Exchange Control Information

It is Participant's responsibility to comply witti axchange control regulations in Thailand. If fRapant exercises the Option with ce
Participant may apply directly to a commercial bamRhailand for approval to remit up to US$1,0@@er year for the purchase of Share
Participant exercises the Option by way of a cashlmethod of exercise, no application to a comraktmank is required. In additic
Participant is required to immediately repatridie proceeds from the sale of the Shares acquireshigt to the exercise of the Optiot
Thailand. Within the next 360 days after the reptitm date, Participant must deposit the salegeds into a foreign currency deposit acc
or convert them to local currency. If the amounsoth sale proceeds is equal to or greater thar2@Q8%0, Participant must specifically rej
the inward remittance to the Bank of Thailand oRameign Exchange Transaction Form through the kankhich Participant deposits
converts the sale proceeds.

Turkey
Exchange Control Information

Exchange control regulations require Turkish resisi¢o purchase Shares through intermediary firhitstitutions that are approved under
Capital Market Law (.e., banks licensed in Turkey). Therefore, if Partizgipuses cash to exercise the Option, the funds$ beusemitte
through a bank or other financial institution lised in Turkey. A wire transfer of funds by a Turkisank will satisfy this requirement. T
requirement does not apply to cashless exercises) &unds leave Turkey.

United Arab Emirates

Securities Law Information

The Plan is only being offered to eligible Serir@viders and is in the nature of providing equigentives to eligible Service Providers of
Company's Subsidiary in the United Arab Emirates.

United Kingdom
Joint Election

As a condition of participation in the Plan and éxercise of the Option, Participant agrees to @icany liability for secondary Class 1 natic
insurance contributions that may be payable byGbmpany and/or the Employer in connection with @@ion and any event giving rise
Tax-Related Iltems (the “Employer NICst)ithout prejudice to the foregoing, Participantesg to execute a joint election with the Comg
the form of such joint election being formally apped by Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs (“HMRCHe(t'Joint Election”),and any othe
required consent or election. Participant furthgreas to execute such other joint elections as Ineayequired between him or her and
successor to the Company and/or the Employer.diaatit further agrees that the Company and/or t@l&er may collect the Employ
NICs from him or her by any of the means set fant“Responsibility for Taxes” section of the Terms abahditions of Stock Option Grant.

If Participant does not enter into a Joint Electior to exercise of the Option, he or she wilt be entitled to exercise the Option unless
until he or she enters into a Joint Election an&hares will be issued to Participant under the,Riathout any liability to the Company anc
the Employer.

Tax Obligations/Withholding Authorization

This section supplements the “Responsibility ford& section of the Terms and Conditions of Stogki@ Grant.

If payment or withholding of the TaRelated Items (including the Employer NICs) is n@de within ninety (90) days of the event givings
to the TaxRelated Items or such other period specified inti&e@22(1)(c) of the U.K. Income Tax (Earnings densions) Act 2003 (t
“Due Date”), the amount of any uncollected TR&lated Items shall constitute a loan owed by Eipgint to the Employer, effective as of
Due Date. Participant agrees that the loan will i@rest at the theadrrent official rate of HMRC, it shall be immedist due and repayab
and the Company or the Employer may recover ingitteme thereafter by any of the means referreid the “Responsibility for TaxesSectior
of the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grawdtwithstanding the foregoing, if Participant isdaector or executive officer of t
Company (within the meaning of Section 13(k) of th&. Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as as@dndie or she shall not be eligible
a loan from the Company to cover the Tax-Relatethét In the event that Participant is a directoexacutive officer and TaRelated Iterr
are not collected from or paid by him or her by thee Date, the amount of any uncollected Related Items will constitute a benefit
Participant on which additional income tax and NI@sluding the Employer NICs) will be payable. #zpant will be responsible f
reporting any income tax and NICs (including thefoger NICs) due on this additional benefit dirgdtb HMRC under the selissessme
regime.
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In addition, the Participant agrees that the Comard/or the Employer may calculate the Redated Items to be withheld and accounte
by reference to the maximum applicable rates, witlprejudice to any right the Participant may h&weecover any overpayment from
relevant tax authorities.
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==RTINET
EXHIBIT C

FORTINET, INC.
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

EXERCISE NOTICE
Fortinet, Inc.
1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 94086
Attention: Stock Administration

Exercise of Option. Effective as of today, , he, undersigned (“Purchasertiereby elects to purche

shares (1“Shares”) of the Common Stock of Fortinet, Ince(fiCtompany”)under and pursuant to the 2009 Equity Ince!

Plan (the “Plan”) and the Stock Option Award Agrestndated (the “Award Agreementfe purchase price for the Shares wil
$ , as required by the Award Agreement.

Delivery of Payment Purchaser herewith delivers to the Company thepfuchase price of the Shares and any requiredRelate:
Items to be paid in connection with the exercisthefOption.

Representations of PurchasePurchaser acknowledges that Purchaser has rdcer@d and understood the Plan and the A
Agreement and agrees to abide by and be boundefiyténms and conditions.

Rights as StockholderUntil the issuance (as evidenced by the apprtgpsatry on the books of the Company or of a dultharizec
transfer agent of the Company) of the Shares, gt tb vote or receive dividends or any other 8gig a stockholder will exist with respec
the Shares subject to the Option, notwithstandivegdxercise of the Option. The Shares so acquiitdevissued to Purchaser as soo
practicable after exercise of the Option. No adigsit will be made for a dividend or other right f@hich the record date is prior to the dat
issuance, except as provided in Section 13 of tae. P

No Advice Regarding GrantPurchaser understands that Purchaser may sufferse tax or financial consequences as a res
Purchaser's purchase or disposition of the Sharether, the Company is not providing any tax, legafinancial advice, nor is the Comp:
making any recommendations regarding Purchaserticipation in the Plan or Purchaser's acquisitmmnsale of the underlying Shat
Purchaser represents that Purchaser has constuttedny tax, legal, or financial consultants Pusgradeems advisable in connection witr
purchase or disposition of the Shares, and thatiaser is not relying on the Company for any sutiice.

Entire Agreement; Governing LawThe Plan and Award Agreement are incorporatedihdyy reference. This Exercise Notice,
Plan and the Award Agreement constitute the ertijeeement of the parties with respect to the sulojetter hereof and supersede in 1
entirety all prior undertakings and agreementhief€Company and Purchaser with respect to the dubjter hereof, and may not be modi
adversely to the Purchaser's interest except bynsneha writing signed by the Company and PurchaBeis agreement is governed by
internal substantive laws, but not the choice wffales, of the State of California.

Submitted by: Accepted by:
PURCHASER: FORTINET, Inc
Signature By

Print Name Title

Address:

Date Received
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FORTINET, INC.
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT
FOR OPTIONEES IN FRANCE

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms definetie Fortinet, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plahgt'U.S. Plan”)and the Rules
the Fortinet, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan foe tGrant of Stock Options to Optionees in Franke {French Plan,and in conjunction wit
the U.S. Plan, the “Plan”) will have the same defirmeanings in this Stock Option Award AgreementOQptionees in France (théWard
Agreement”). To the extent that any term is defimetioth the U.S. Plan and the French Plan, foppses of this grant of a Frenghalifiec
Option, the definitions in the French Plan shadivail.

II.  NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Optionee Name:

Address:

You have been granted an Option to purchase Con8tawk of Fortinet, Inc. (the “Company’$ubject to the terms and condition:
the Plan and this Award Agreement, as follows:

Grant Number:

Date of Grant:

Vesting Commencement Date:
Exercise Price per share:

Total Number of Shares Granted:
Total Exercise Price:

Stock Option intending to comply with the requirertseto obtain
Type of Option: favorable French tax treatment

Term/Expiration Date:

Sale Restriction

The Shares issued upon exercise of this Option nmybe sold or otherwise transferred until the flou#th) anniversary of tl
Effective Grant Date (with a maximum restriction sale of three (3) years from the date the Optoexiercised) or such other date as me
required to comply with the applicable holding perifor French-qualified Options, except as setinuthe “Termination Periodprovisior
below or as otherwise permitted under French law.

Vesting Schedule

So long as the Optionee is an Employee or corpaffiteer of the Company or any Parent or Subsid@rythe Company, this Optir
may be exercised, in whole or in part, in accoreanith the following schedule, subject to any aeraion provisions contained in the Pla

set forth below:

Shares Vesting * Vest Type Beqin Vest Date End Vest Date

* Total shares vesting from “Begin Vest Date” totEVest Date.”

Regardless of any provisions to the contrary i thivard Agreement or in the Plan, no Shares subgettte Option shall vest until t
first anniversary date of the Effective Grant D@he “Anniversary Date”), except in the event o&tleof the Optionee.
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Termination Period

(@) This Option may be exercised, to the extent ihéntvested, for up to three months after the Optareases to
an Employee or a corporate officer of the Compangiy Parent or Subsidiary of the Company. Theiotisin on the sale of Shares descri
in Section 6 of this Award Agreement will continte apply even in case of termination of the Opt®nmless the termination is due
dismissal or forced retirement according to theditions of Section 91 ter of the Annex Il of theeRch tax Code and as construed by
applicable guidelines. Notwithstanding the foregpinpon death of the Optionee, this Option mayxsrased in accordance with Section
the French Plan. In the event the Optionee ceades &n Employee or a corporate officer of the Camypor any Parent or Subsidiary by re¢
of Disability (as defined under the French Plah)s tOption may be exercised, to the extent it entlwested, for up to one year after
Optionee ceases to be an Employee or a corporfiterofFurther, should the Optionee cease to b&raployee or a corporate officer of
Company or any Parent or Subsidiary by reason afhder Disability (as defined under the French Rl#me restriction on the sale of Shs
described in Section 6 of the Award Agreement wik apply to the Shares acquired upon exerciseh@fQption, provided all requir
conditions are satisfied. In no event shall thidi@pbe exercised after the Term/Expiration Datpmwvided above, except in the event of
Optionee's death. In the event of death, Optioriests or beneficiaries will have six (6) monthstercise the Option.

By the Optionee's signature and the signature @fGbmpany's representative below, the Optioneet@mdompany agree that t
Option is granted under and governed by the temdscanditions of the Plan, including the FrenchnPknd this Award Agreement, includ
the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant@gmtionees in France attached hereto as ExhibitllAgfavhich are made a part of tl
document. The Optionee has reviewed the Plan asdAtiard Agreement in their entirety, has had apasfunity to obtain the advice
counsel prior to executing this Award Agreement &rly understands all provisions of the Plan anda#d Agreement. The Optionee her
agrees to accept as binding, conclusive, and &ithaecisions or interpretations of the Administraipon any questions relating to the Plan
Award Agreement. The Optionee further agrees tdyntite Company upon any change in the residendeead indicated below.

OPTIONEE: FORTINET, INC.

Date
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EXHIBIT A
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK OPTION GRANT
FOR OPTIONEES IN FRANCE

1. Grant of Option The Company hereby grants to the individual namnethe Notice of Grant attached as Part | of
Award Agreement (the “Optionee”), as of the EffeetiGrant Date, an option (the “Optiortt) purchase the number of Shares, as set fortie
Notice of Grant, at the exercise price per Shatréosth in the Notice of Grant (tF*Exercise Price”)subject to all of the terms and condition
this Award Agreement and the Plan (including therieh Plan), which is incorporated herein by refeeeiSubject to Section 19 of the Plar
the event of a conflict between the terms and d¢@mrdi of the Plan and the terms and conditionshif Award Agreement, the terms
conditions of the Plan will prevail. The Optioneederstands and agrees that the Option is offeriej@ciLio and in accordance with the terrr
the Plan (which includes the U.S. Plan and the ¢irdMan), and the Optionee further agrees to badby the terms of the Plan and the te
of the Option as set forth in this Award Agreement.

This Option is intended to be a Fremghalified Option that qualifies for the favorablextand social security regime
France, as set forth in the French Plan. Certaémtsvmay affect the status of the Option as a rgnalified Option, and the Option may
disqualified in the future. The Company does nokenany undertakings or representation to maintaé dualified status of the French-
qualified Option during the life of the Option, atite Optionee will not be entitled to any damadelse Option no longer qualifies as a French-
qualified Option.

2. Vesting ScheduleExcept as provided in Section 3, the Option aedrdy this Award Agreement will vest in accorde
with the vesting provisions set forth in the NotiokGrant. Shares scheduled to vest on a certdim alaupon the occurrence of a cer
condition will not vest in the Optionee in accordarwith any of the provisions of this Award Agreemeaunless the Optionee will have b
continuously an Employee or a corporate officenfritie Effective Date of Grant until the date suebting occurs.

3. Administrator Discretion The Administrator, in its discretion, may accaterthe vesting of the balance, or some I
portion of the balance, of the unvested Optionrgt time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If soederated, such Option will be considere
having vested as of the date specified by the Advtmator.

4, Exercise of Option.

(@) Right to Exercise This Option may be exercised only within the teset out in the Notice of Grant, and may
exercised during such term only in accordance thighPlan and the terms of this Award Agreement.

(b) _Method of ExerciseThis Option is exercisable by delivery of an notice, in the form attached as Exhibiftz
“Exercise Notice™)or in a manner and pursuant to such procedurdsea&dministrator may determine, which will state #lection to exerci:
the Option, the number of Shares in respect of wthie Option is being exercised (the “Exercisedr&ig, and such other representations
agreements as may be required by the Company pirsughe provisions of the Plan. The Exercise dtvill be completed by the Optior
and delivered to the Company. The Exercise Notiiiebe accompanied by payment of the aggregate disePrice as to all Exercised Shi
together with any applicable tax withholding. TRigtion will be deemed to be exercised upon redaypthe Company of such fully execu
Exercise Notice accompanied by such aggregate EeelPeice.

5. Method of PaymentPayment of the aggregate Exercise Price willyarky of the following, or a combination thereat
the election of the Optionee.
(@) cash;
(b) check;

(c) consideration received by the Company udermal cashless exercise program adopted by dhep@ny in connectic
with the Plan if such exercise occurs after thee S¢striction described in the “Restriction on SafleShares”section below is no long
applicable.

6. Restriction on Sale of Shares

(a) After issuance of the Shares to the Optiarmen exercise of the Option, the Optionee will hetpermitted to sell, transfer,
assign the Shares until the fourth (4th) anniverséithe Effective Grant Date, or such other datesarequired to comply with the applics
compulsory holding period for Frencfualified options set forth by Section 163 bis Ctled French Tax Code. The restriction on the st
Shares described in this “Restriction on Sale Gir&’ section of the Award
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Agreement will continue to apply even in case ofmieation of the Optionee unless the terminatiodus to death or Disability (as defir
under the French Plan) of the Optionee or is dugigmissal or forced retirement according to theditions set forth in Section 91 ter of
Annex Il of the French tax Code and as construethbyapplicable guidelines. In no event will thetrietion on the sale of the Shares exce
period of three (3) years from the date the Opisoexercised. If the holding period applicable taf&s underlying the Frenchualified Optiot
is not met, this Option may not receive favoralae and social security treatment under French lavthis case, the Optionee accepts
agrees that he or she will be responsible for gapi@rsonal income tax and his or her portion ofadaecurity contributions resulting frc
exercise of the Option.

(b) At the Company's discretion, the share fieaties for all Shares subject to the Frenclalified Option may bear a legend set
forth the restriction on sale for the time peri@d sut in this Section 6. In addition, the shardifieates may be held until the expiration of
holding period, at the Company's discretion, eifla@rby the Company, (b) by a transfer agent deseghby the Company, (c) in an accoul
the name of the Optionee with a broker designatedhb Company, or (d) in such manner as the Compaay otherwise determine
compliance with French law.

7. Responsibility for Taxes Regardless of any action the Company and/or thigof@ee's employer (the “Employertake:
with respect to any or all income tax, social imsge, payroll tax, payment on account or otherralated items arising out of the Option
participation in the Plan and legally applicablehe Optionee (“Tax-Related Itemsthe Optionee acknowledges that the ultimate lighfbr
all TaxRelated Items is and remains the Optionee's regplitysand may exceed the amount actually withhbidthe Company and/or 1
Employer. The Optionee further acknowledge thatGbenpany and/or the Employer (i) make no represiemsor undertakings regarding
treatment of any TaRelated Items in connection with any aspect of@ption, including, but not limited to, the grangsting or exercise
the Option, the subsequent sale of Shares acqpiresiant to such exercise, and the receipt of anglathds; and (ii) do not commit and
under no obligation to structure the terms of thengor any aspect of the Option to reduce or elit@ the Optionee's liability for TeRelate:
Items or achieve any particular tax result. Furti@ne, if the Optionee has become subject to tamame than one jurisdiction between
Grant Date and the date of any relevant taxablatetlee Optionee acknowledges that the Companyoaridé Employer (or former employ
as applicable) may be required to withhold or actdor Tax-Related Items in more than one juridditt

Prior to the relevant taxable or tax withholdingeely as applicable, the Optionee shall pay or naakangements satisfact
to the Company and/or the Employer within the lgrset forth by French law to satisfy all TRelated Items. In this regard, the Optic
authorizes the Company and/or the Employer, orr trespective agents, at their discretion, to satibe TaxRelated Items by one ol
combination of the following: (i) withholding frormages or other cash compensation paid to the Ggaidny the Company, the Emplo
and/or any Subsidiary; or (ii) withholding from peeds of the sale of Shares acquired at exercidgeedption either through a voluntary ¢
or through a mandatory sale arranged by the Comfimyhe Optionee's behalf pursuant to this autlatinn); or (iii) withholding in Shares
be issued at exercise of the Option. The Optior@a@vledges and agrees that if TRgtated Items are satisfied by withholding from
proceeds of the sale of the Shares and the amdthtteM is in excess of the amount due, the Compard/or the Employer will refund t
excess amount to the Optionee as soon as admiivislygoracticable and without interest.

To avoid any negative accounting treatment, the @om may withhold or account for T&elated Items by consideri
applicable minimum statutory withholding amountsotiier applicable withholding rates. If the obligatfor TaxRelated Items is satisfied
withholding in Shares, for tax purposes, the Om®is deemed to have been issued the full numb8hafes subject to the exercised Op
notwithstanding that a number of the shares ar @tk solely for the purpose of paying the Redated Items due as a result of any aspe
the Optionee's participation in the Plan.

The Optionee shall pay to the Company or the Engslaypy amount of Tax-Related Items that the CompmartieEmploye
may be required to withhold or account for as altesf Participant's participation in the Plan tieahnot be satisfied by the means previc
described in this section. The Company may refassesue or deliver the Shares or the proceedseosdlte of shares if the Optionee falil
comply with these obligations in connection witle fhax-Related Items.

8. Rights as Stockholdemeither the Optionee nor any person claiming urmaehrough the Optionee will have any of
rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Companrespect of any Shares deliverable hereundesarand until certificates representing ¢
Shares will have been issued, recorded on thedsarfrthe Company or its transfer agents or registrand delivered to the Optionee. A
such issuance, recordation and delivery, the Opdowill have all the rights of a stockholder of tbempany with respect to voting such Sh
and receipt of dividends and distributions on s8bhres.

9. Nature of GrantIn accepting the Option, Participant acknowledgeslerstands and agrees to the following:

(a) the Optionee expressly warrants that theioBpe has received, read, and understood a désaoript the Plan; the Plan
established voluntarily by the Company, it is digimary in nature, and it may be amended, suspkode
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terminated by the Company at any time;

(b) the grant of the Option is voluntary and asional and does not create any contractual or oidpet to receive future grants
options, or benefits in lieu of options, even itiops have been granted repeatedly in the past;

(c) all decisions with respect to future optgmants, if any, will be at the sole discretion lné {Company;
(d) the Optionee is voluntarily participatingtive Plan;

(e) the Optionee's participation in the Planllshat create a right to further employment witte tBmployer and shall not interfi
with the ability of the Employer to terminate thetidnee's employment or relationship as an employeecorporate officer at any time;

() the Option and any Shares subject to theiddpare extraordinary items that do not constittwenpensation of any kind 1
services of any kind rendered to the Company ofEtmployer, and are outside the scope of the Optiereamployment or service contrac
any;

(g) the Option and the Shares subject to théo@pire not intended to replace any pension rightsompensation;

(h) the Option and the Shares subject to theo®mre not part of normal or expected compensatiosalary for any purpos
including, but not limited to, calculating any sesece, resignation, termination, redundancy, disaljsend of service payments, bonuses, long
service awards, pension or retirement or welfamefits or similar payments, and in no event shdaddconsidered as compensation fo
relating in any way to, past services for the Emetpthe Company or any Parent or Subsidiary ofXbmpany;

(i) the Option and the Optionee's participationhe Plan will not be interpreted to form an eayphent contract or relationship w
the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Gomp

() the future value of the Shares underlying @ption is unknown and cannot be predicted wittaaety;

(k) no claim or entitlement to compensation améges shall arise from forfeiture of the Optiosuteng from termination «
Participant's service by the Company or the Empldfe@ any reason whatsoever and whether or ndirgach of local labor laws) and,
consideration for the grant of the Option, to whiRdrticipant is not otherwise entitled, Participiargvocably agrees never to institute any ¢
against the Company or the Employer, waives hisesrability, if any, to bring any such claim, areeases the Company and the Empl
from any such claim; if, notwithstanding the foregpn any such claim is allowed by a court of corepétjurisdiction, then, by signing t
Notice of Grant, Participant shall be deemed iroaody to have agreed not to pursue such claim gnekea to execute any and all docum
necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal ofi sl&ims;

() in the event of termination of the Optiorgeservice with the Company or the Employer, theidge's right to exercise 1
Option, if any, will terminate effective as of tidate that the Optionee is no longer actively emgdogind will not be extended by any nc
period mandated under local law.@., active employment would not include a period gdrden leavebr similar period pursuant to local la'
the Administrator shall have the exclusive disaretio determine when the Optionee is no longewrealstiemployed for purposes of the Opt
grant; and

(m) the Option and the benefits under the Plaany, will not automatically transfer to anothesmpany in the case of a mer
take-over, or transfer of liability.

10. No Advice Regarding GranThe Company is not providing any tax, legal,inafcial advice, nor is the Company mal
any recommendations regarding the Optionee's pation in the Plan or the Optionee's acquisitionsale of the underlying Shares. -
Optionee is hereby advised to consult with hiserdwn tax, legal, and financial consultants reggydhe Optionee's participation in the F
before taking any action related to the Plan.

11. Data Privacy. The Optionee hereby explicitly and unambiguouslynsents to the collection, use and transfer,
electronic or other form, of the Optionee's persdrdata as described in this Award Agreement by ardong, as applicable, the Employ
the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary of the Gmany for the exclusive purpose of implementing, adistering and managing th
Optionee's participation in the Plan.
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The Optionee understands that the Company and thendoyer may hold certain personal information aboudbhe Optionee
including, but not limited to, the Optionee's naméiome address and telephone number, date of birslecial insurance or othe
identification number, salary, nationality, job ti¢, any Shares or directorships held in the Compaory any Parent or Subsidiary of tt
Company, details of all options or any other ergithent to Shares awarded, canceled, exercised, @estevested or outstanding in tl
Optionee's favor, for the exclusive purpose of ilpienting, administering and managing the Plan (“Psanal Data”).

The Optionee understands that Personal Data will toensferred to a broker designated by the Compamyto any other third part
assisting in the implementation, administration amdanagement of the Plan. The Optionee understankisttthe recipients of the Persor
Data may be located in the Optionee's country, odésthe European Union, or elsewhere, and that thecipient's country may ha\
different data privacy laws and protections thanettOptionee's country. The Optionee understands ttie Optionee may request a list w
the names and addresses of any potential recipiaritdhe Personal Data by contacting the Optionekdsal human resources representati
The Optionee authorizes the Company, the brokerdamy other recipients of Personal Data that maysis$ the Company (presently or
the future) with implementing, administering and maging the Plan to receive, possess, use, retaid tansfer Personal Data, in electror
or other form, for the purposes of implementing, méhistering and managing the Optionee's participati in the Plan, including an
requisite transfer of Personal Data as may be rema to a broker or other third party with whom th®ptionee may elect to deposit ¢
Shares purchased upon exercise of the Option. Theti@hee understands that Personal Data will be he&ldly as long as is necessary
implement, administer and manage the Optionee's taapation in the Plan. The Optionee understandsaththe Optionee may, at any tin
view Personal Data, request additional informati@bout the storage and processing of Personal Daggjuire any necessary amendment:
Personal Data or refuse or withdraw the consentsrdia, in any case without cost, by contacting in itimg the Optionee's local huma
resources representative. The Optionee understattds refusal or withdrawal of consent may affectéhOptionee's ability to participate
the Plan. For more information on the consequencefrefusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, tléptionee understands that he or ¢
may contact the Optionee's local human resourcepresentative.

12. Address for NoticesAny notice to be given to the Company under #rens of this Award Agreement will be addres
to the Company, in care of Stock AdministrationFattinet, Inc., 1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 9808r at such other address as
Company may hereafter designate in writing.

13. NonTransferability of Option This Option may not be transferred in any marutberwise than by will or by the laws
descent or distribution and may be exercised duhedifetime of the Optionee only by the Optionee.

14. Binding Agreement Subject to the limitation on the transferabilitf/this grant contained herein, this Award Agreet
will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of teirs, legatees, legal representatives, sucseandrassigns of the parties hereto.

15. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Stadk at any time the Company will determine, in discretion, that the listin
registration or qualification of the Shares upog aecurities exchange or under any U.S. statedmr& law, or the consent or approval of
governmental regulatory authority is necessaryeasirdble as a condition to the issuance of Sharéiset Optionee (or his or her estate), :
issuance will not occur unless and until suchrigtiregistration, qualification, consent or apptovdl have been effected or obtained fret
any conditions not acceptable to the Company. Agsgisuch compliance, for income tax purposes therésed Shares will be conside
transferred to the Optionee on the date the Opgi@xercised with respect to such Exercised Shares.

16. Plan GovernsThis Award Agreement is subject to all terms analvjgions of the Plan, including the French Planthie
event of a conflict between one or more provisiohthis Award Agreement and one or more provisiohthe Plan, the provisions of the F
will govern. Capitalized terms used and not defimethis Award Agreement will have the meaningfseth in the Plan.

17. Administrator Authority. The Administrator will have the power to interptiee Plan and this Award Agreement an
adopt such rules for the administration, intergireteand application of the Plan as are considtesrewith and to interpret or revoke any ¢
rules (including, but not limited to, the deterntioa of whether or not any Shares subject to thédbphave vested). All actions taken anc
interpretations and determinations made by the Adtiator in good faith will be final and bindingpon the Optionee, the Company, anc
other interested persons. No member of the Admatiat will be personally liable for any action, dehination, or interpretation made in g
faith with respect to the Plan or this Award Agresm

18. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decwlel¢liver any documents related to the Og
awarded under the Plan or future options that neagvbarded under the Plan by electronic means aestghe Optionee's

26

GESDMS/6544036.12




consent to participate in the Plan by electronianse The Optionee hereby consents to receive sochintents by electronic delivery ¢
agrees to participate in the Plan through anyirmm-or electronic system established and mainthaione the Company or another third pi
designated by the Company.

19. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience amyg are not to serve as a basis for interpretat
construction of this Award Agreement.

20. Agreement Severahblén the event that any provision in this Award Agment will be held invalid or unenforceable, ¢
provision will be severable from, and such invalidir unenforceability will not be construed to kaany effect on, the remaining provision
this Award Agreement.

21. Modifications to the Agreementhis Award Agreement constitutes the entire usiderding of the parties on the subj
covered. The Optionee expressly warrants that lsheris not accepting this Award Agreement in nedé@aon any promises, representation
inducements other than those contained herein. fidations to this Award Agreement or the Plan cannilade only in an express writ
contract executed by a duly authorized officethef Company.

22. Governing Law and VenueThis Award Agreement will be governed by, andjsobto, the laws of the State
California, without giving effect to the conflict éaw principles thereof. For purposes of litigatiany dispute that arises under the Optic
this Award Agreement, the parties hereby submértd consent to the jurisdiction of the State ofifGalia, and agree that such litigation \
be conducted in the courts of Santa Clara Courgjifd@nia, or the federal courts for the United t8&afor the Northern District of Californ
and no other courts, where this grant is made anad/foe performed.

23. Language If the Optionee has received this Award Agreentergny other document related to the Option anitiePlal
translated into French, and if the meaning of tten€h version is different from the English versitire English version will control.

24, Imposition of Other RequirementsThe Company reserves the right to impose othguirements on the Optione
participation in the Plan, on the Option, and oy &hares acquired under the Plan, to the exten€Ctimapany determines it is necessar
advisable in order to comply with local laws orifié&te the administration of the Plan, and to rieguhe Optionee to sign any additic
agreements or undertakings that may be necessaoctmnplish the foregoing.

25. Language ConsenBy signing and returning or by otherwise acceptims Award Agreement, the Optionee confirms hgvieac
and understood the documents relating to this @gtice. , the U.S. Plan, the French Plan, and this AwarceAgent) which were provided
the English language. The Optionee accordingly atscthe terms of those documents.

Consentement a La LanguEn signant et renvoyant cette 'Accord, ou par atm@pautrement I'Accord, le Titulaire de I'Opt
confirme ainsi avoir lu et compris les documenttits a I'Option de Souscription, (c'esteire, Le Plan, Le Plan pour la France et c
Accord) qui ont été fournis en langue anglaiseTltalaire de I'Option en accepte les termes dedmiments en connaissance de ce.
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==RTINET

EXHIBIT B
FORTINET, INC.
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
EXERCISE NOTICE

FOR OPTIONEES IN FRANCE
Fortinet, Inc.
1090 Kifer Road, Sunnyvale, CA 94086
Attention: Stock Administration

Exercise of Option. Effective as of today, , he, undersigned (“Purchasertiereby elects to purchi
shares (*Shares”) of the Common Stock of Fortinet, Ince(tiCompany”)under and pursuant to the 2009 Equity Incel
Plan (the “U.S. Plan”)the Rules of the Fortinet, Inc. 2009 Equity InceatPlan for the Grant of Stock Options to Optionge&rance (th
“French Plan,” and in conjunction with the U.S. i®Rlahe “Plan”), and the Stock Option Award Agreemndated (theAWward
Agreement”). The purchase price for the Sharesheil$ , as required by the Award Agesem

Delivery of Payment Purchaser herewith delivers to the Company thepfuchase price of the Shares and any requiredRelate:
Items to be paid in connection with the exercisthefOption.

Representations of PurchasePurchaser acknowledges that Purchaser has rdcer@d, and understood the Plan and the A
Agreement and agrees to abide by and be boundefiyténms and conditions.

Rights as StockholderUntil the issuance (as evidenced by the apprtgpsatry on the books of the Company or of a dultharizec
transfer agent of the Company) of the Shares, gt td vote or receive dividends or any other sgls a stockholder will exist with respec
the Shares subject to the Option, notwithstandivggexercise of the Option. The Shares so acquiitde& issued to Purchaser as soo
practicable after exercise of the Option. No aajgsit will be made for a dividend or other right $eich the record date is prior to the dat
issuance, except as provided in Section 13 of khe. P

No Advice Regarding GrantPurchaser understands that Purchaser may sufferse tax or financial consequences as a res
Purchaser's purchase or disposition of the Shatether, the Company is not providing any tax, legafinancial advice, nor is the Comp:
making any recommendations regarding Purchaserticipation in the Plan or Purchaser's acquisitamsale of the underlying Shat
Purchaser represents that Purchaser has conslttedny tax, legal, or financial consultants Pusdradeems advisable in connection witr
purchase or disposition of the Shares, and thath@ser is not relying on the Company for any sublice.

Entire Agreement; Governing LawThe Plan and Award Agreement are incorporatedihdyy reference. This Exercise Notice,
Plan and the Award Agreement constitute the emtip@ement of the parties with respect to the subjextter hereof and supersede in 1
entirety all prior undertakings and agreementdief@ompany and Purchaser with respect to the dubijgtter hereof, and may not be modi
adversely to the Purchaser's interest except byngneha writing signed by the Company and PurchaBes agreement is governed by
internal substantive laws, but not the choice wffales, of the State of California.
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Submitted by: Accepted by:

PURCHASER: FORTINET, Inc
Signature By

Print Name Title

Address.

Date Received
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRedion Statement Nos. 333-163367, 333-172458,383-175985 on Form &of
our reports dated February 27, 2012, relating eécctinsolidated financial statements and consolidiencial statement schedule of Fortinet,
Inc. and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Companwhich report expresses an unqualified opinioniactlides an explanatory paragraph
relating to the change in the Company's methodegongnizing revenue for multiple element arrangesieand the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reportiagpearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-Khef Company for the year ended
December 31, 2011 .

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California
February 27, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Ken Xie, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Fortinet, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nietadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtf@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(sdrare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procegdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision to ensure that material informatiomtial to the registrant, including its consolidasedsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this annual report ésng prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataece with generally accepted accounting princjples

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralisslosure controls and procedures and presentttsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period covgyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thestegint's internal control over financial reportihgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant’'s other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that inedumanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial rejoagt

Date: February 27, 2012

/s/ Ken Xie
Ken Xie

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)







Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Ken Goldman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Fortinet, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nietadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtf@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(sdrare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procegdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision to ensure that material informatiomtial to the registrant, including its consolidasedsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this annual report ésng prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataece with generally accepted accounting princjples

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registralisslosure controls and procedures and presentttsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintbprocedures, as of the end of the period covgyehis report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thestegint's internal control over financial reportihgt occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant’'s other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that inedumanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant's internal control over financial rejoagt

Date: February 27, 2012

/s/ Ken Goldman
Ken Goldman

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ken Xie, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®B60, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report on Form 1B-of Fortinet, Inc. for the fiscal year ended Ded®mn31, 2011 fully complies with the requiremenit$ection 13(a
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 thvad information contained in this Annual Repartfeorm 10-K fairly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and rtssofl operations of Fortinet, Inc.

By: /sl Ken Xie

Date: February 27, 2012 Name: Ken Xie
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Title:  (Principal Executive Officer)

I, Ken Goldman, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. #rcil350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 dbérbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fortinet, Inc:. floe fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 fully giees with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934 and that information contained in thizndal Report on Form 1R-fairly present

in all material respects the financial conditior aasults of operations of Fortinet, Inc.

By: s/ Ken Goldman
Ken Goldman

Chief Financial Officer
Title:  (Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 27, 2012 Name:



